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Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report

Company:Profile
NEIE LT

Digital China Holdings Limited ("DC Holdings") was founded in 2000 and
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(Stock Code: 00861.HK) in 2001.

DC Holdings adheres to the mission of "Digitised China" and keeps in pace
with the market development. It makes persistent efforts to drive
innovation and development through business transformation and
upgrading. Established 17 years ago, the Group completed the
transformation from a leading IT products distributor in China to a leading
integrated IT services provider, an informatization expert and the most
influential Sm@rt City expert in China. Since then, it has implemented the
transformation towards a leading "Cloud + Big Data" services provider in
China.

The Group leverages Cloud Computing, Big Data and Al technology to serve
outstanding domestic enterprises in different sectors. DC Holdings has been
well prepared for the development in various core industries and sectors,
including Sm@rt City, Sm@rt Healthcare, Sm@rt Agriculture, Sm@rt
Manufacturing, Sm @rt Finance, New Logistics and so on.
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Financial Highlights
B 15 4 2

2017 2016
—E—t —ZFT—R
HK$m HK$m
BEEETR BEEET
For the Year REER
Revenue LN 13,247 12,251+
Profit from Operating Activities 5 A 72 260*
Profit/(loss) Attributable to Equity Holders FARRRESLER,(EE) (413) 389
Earnings per Share (HK cents) FRRAEF GBI (29.21) 34.74
Dividends per Share (HK cents) RS GBI - -
At Year-end REER
Total Assets BEE 27,916 23,716
Shareholders’ Funds R RE & 9,110 7,169
Financial Ratio B 7% b =&
Return on Equity (%) [RRESERER(FOL) (4.53) 5.43
Interest Cover (times) FIEBELLR(E) 0.79 4.45
Current Ratio (times) BN K (%) 1.11 1.24
Total Interest Bearing Debts MEEEMRRE S E(E)
to Shareholders' Funds Ratio (times) 0.87 1.07

Revenue Profit from Profit/(loss) Attributable
TN Operating Activities to Equity Holders
BERA BATIREEGGH (EE)
HK$m HK$m HK$m
BEEBT BEEET BEEET
13,400 13247 300 800
13,200 260
250
13,000 400 389
12,800 200
12,600 .
150 0
12,400 12,251
12,200 100 7
12,000 o 400 (413)
11,800
11,600 0 -800
2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Due to the completion of the disposal of the traditional distribution business, the

#

revenue and profit from operating activities include continuing operations only
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2017
FEB

15-FEB

23-FEB

27-FEB

APR

1-APR

26-APR

27-APR

MAY

8-MAY

17-MAY

25-MAY

Signing ceremony of strategic cooperation agreement between
Digital China Holdings and Panzhihua People's Government for
the joint development of the Mango Big Data Centre.

Successful signing ceremony for Digital China Holdings'
investment in MapABC signifying vigorous commencement of
Digital China Holdings' venture fund operations to drive
developments in smart transportation.

The “Zhuminsheng (22 R &) Platform" jointly developed by
Guiyang Municipal Government and Digital China Holdings
came online in a successful launch.

In April, Board Chairman Guo Wei and officers in charge of
segments covering the "12 New Strategies" attended China
(Shenzhen) IT Summit 2017.

Digital China Holdings announced completion of the
acquisition of FORD STAR PACIFIC LIMITED.

Signing ceremony for the preparation of the establishment of
China Healthcare Big Data Technology Development Group Ltd.
(R B2 BT B R R BB B R B R &2 B 2 F]) was held at

of the State Council Guesthouse No. 2 in Beijing.

In May, DCITS announced its participation in the investment
and development of the Tianjin Quantum Communication
Industrial Park and a range of important projects, which
would involve close cooperation with Binhai New District to
expedite the industrialization of quantum communication
technologies.

The "Shuchuangyi (2{&l %) Platform", a venture business-
friendly project jointly developed by Digital China Holdings
and Guiyang Municipal Government officially came online.

Strategic cooperation agreement signed with Guizhou
Provincial People's Government at the opening ceremony of
the International Big Data Industry Expo 2017 held in China.

Significant Events
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Significant-Events

N = [oFRR

JUN

6-JUN

8-JUN

JUL

10-JUL

29-JUL

AUG

15-AUG

22-AUG

29-AUG

In June, a strategic cooperation framework agreement with
Chinese Supply and Marketing Group Limited was signed,
whereby the two parties would enter into full cooperation in
areas such as agricultural land rights trading, socialization
services for agricultural village, agricultural finance,
agricultural e-commerce and Big Data for three agricultural
aspects.

“Chuangkongjian” (£l %2 fd), a three-tier incubation platform
built by our Innovation Centre, was launched in Digital China
Tower, Suzhou Street, Beijing.

In July, Premier Li Kegiang visited "Three Agriculturals Big Data
Company" under Digital China Holdings during his inspection
Hi-tech
Demonstration Zone in Shanxi and gave strong commendation

trip to the Yangling Agricultural Industrial

to key reports delivered by Board Chairman Guo Wei.

The Healthcare Big Data Oncology Specialist Committee and
Steering Committee of the Alliance for the Prevention of
Chinese Health
Association were officially established.

Chronic Diseases under Information

In August, an official strategic cooperation agreement was
entered into with Yunnan Provincial People's Government.

A strategic cooperation agreement was signed with
Qinhuangdao Economic and Technological Development Zone
Administration Committee to confirm Digital China Holdings
as the principal of implementation for the "Qinhuangdao
Information Security Township" project.

The "Smart Integrated Software Inter-operational Platform
Featuring Mature Smart Technologies" submitted by DCITS was
approved for 2017 project funding under the key national
R&D initiative of "Key Redirection to Cloud Computing and
Big Data" of the Ministry of Science and Technology.
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SEPT

12-SEPT

15-SEPT

20-SEPT

OCT

12-0CT

NOV

7-NOV

10-NOV

26-NOV

In September, the Mango Big Data Platform, the first Big Data
platform for a single agricultural product, was officially
launched.

A commissioning ceremony was held for the "International
Collaboration Project on Smart Innovations in City Services", a
three-sided cooperation with MIT Connection Science and
Human Dynamics Laboratory and the Economic and Resource
Management Academy of Beijing Normal University.

Digital China Holdings held a company strategy presentation
at Digital China Technology Plaza following the successful
completion of its rights issue, which were significantly
oversubscribed in an indication of market confidence in the
strategic transformation of Digital China Holdings.

DCITS's branch company in the agricultural segment entered
into agreements with Luochuan County People's Government
and Mei County People's Government, respectively, in respect
of the joint development of China (Shaanxi) Apple Big Data
Centre and China (Shaanxi) Actinidia Big Data Centre

Digital China Sm@rt City participated in the editing and
formulation of 3 important national standards of the
Standardization Administration of China.

iSESOL launched i50S at the 19th China International Industry
Fair and received enthusiastic response from participants.

Vice Premier Wang Yang inspected DCITS's pavilion featuring
smart agriculture at the first edition of the New Agricultural
Venture and New Technological Innovation Expo.

Digital China Holdings entered into a strategic cooperation
framework agreement with Fushun Municipal People's
Government in relation to novel smart city development.
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Significant Events
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Significant-Events

N = [oFRR

DEC

19-DEC

27-DEC

In December, a signing ceremony was held in connection with
the joint venture project with Tianjin Zhongxin Ecological City
Administration Committee, during which cooperation
agreements relating to the investment in and construction of
a Big Data Industry Park (comprising the Healthcare Big Data
Centre, Three Agriculturals Big Data Centre and a showcase
zone for novel smart city operation) at a selected site in

Zhongxin Tianjin Ecological City Park were signed.

Mr. Yu Ziping (R#F 55 4) and Mr. Peng Jing (B2 & %t &)
were appointed as non-executive directors of the Company
upon the nomination of Guangzhou City Infrastructure
Investment Group Limited (BN MMM ERITEEE B
[R X A]) ("GZ Infrastructure"), the largest shareholder of
Digital China Holdings.
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2018
JAN

11-JAN

At the first launch of Guangzhou Tower Forum on the Future
City entitled "Digital China and the Future City" held in
Guangzhou, Digital China Holdings announced the founding of
Guangzhou Sm@rt City Planning and Research Institute in
association with Guangzhou City Infrastructure Investment
Group Limited and relevant entities. As a top-level "think-
tank" in smart city research, the institute will provide
authoritative support to the implementation of the national
Big Data industry strategy and the planning of paths for
future city development in accordance with the development
strategies for Guangzhou's IAB industry, leveraging the
enabling effect and driving force of smart technologies and
novel smart industry chain.

Digital China Holdings has entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with GZ Infrastructure and GRG
Banking Equipment Co., Ltd* (BN EBEBR T RME FRKR
5 B BR A B]), whereby members of the management of GZ
Infrastructure have joined the board of directors of Digital
China Holdings, bringing together resources derived from
industry players, academia, research institutes and users and
linking up fragmented projects in the city to create an
integrated Sm@rt City development module across different
industries and sectors.

Significant Events
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Awards

#8298

Business Group: Holding Company

AHBEW - EZRE@

Date of award
(year/month)

BREH(F/R)

2017/4

2017/8

2017/12

2017/12

Name of award

Top 100 HK Listed
Companies

Top 50 Big Data Corporations
in China

Leading Government Big Data
Service Providers in China
2017

Top 10 Software and
Information Service Enterprises
in China 2017

REEW
EBLMARAR

B ARBIE D 08

2017 B A 80z
BELE

017 BEIEHNE R
REETREBELE

Awarding authority

qq.com, FINET.HK

Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology ("MIIT")
Big Data Research Institute

MIIT, China Center of
Information Industry
Development

MIIT, China Center of Information
Industry Development
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Business Group: DCITS
ABER BMNBEBEERE

Date of award
(year/month)

EREH(E/R)

20176

2017/8

Name of award

Top Level Certificate of ITSS
Cloud Computing Servicing
Ability Assessment (Class 11)

Top 50 Big Data Corporations
in China

Business Group: Sm@rt City Service Group
ABEW EB2HD

Date of award
(year/month)

EREB(E/R)

2017/12

2017/12

Name of award

Best Big Data Service Providers

Exemplary Cases in Big Data
Application: "Platform for
Operational Monitoring and
Coordinated Modulation of City
Services — Langfang Plant" and
"Zhuminsheng — Guiyang Big
Data People's Livelihood
Project” were named among
the "Top 100 Big Data Cases
2017"

Business Group: Supply Chain Management
REERE  HEE

Date of award
(year/month)

BREH(E/R)

2017/12

Name of award

Exemplary Entity in Smart
Logistics Services in China
2017 Award
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TSSE& H IRFAEN
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REAM
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Awarding authority

Chinese Electronics
Standardization Association
Information Technology Service
Standards Sub-Association

MIIT Big Data Research Institute

Awarding authority

Xinhuanet, Chinese Academy for
ICT, Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences (“CASS") Center for
Informatization Study

Xinhuanet, Chinese Academy for
ICT, CASS Center for
Informatization Study

Awarding authority

China Electronic Commerce
Logistics Industry Alliance
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Chairman's Statement
T EARE

THE WORLD IS ENTERING INTO A NEW ERA OF
SMART APPLICATIONS BUILT AROUND BIG DATA
TECHNOLOGIES. DIGITAL CHINA HOLDINGS IS, ON
THE BACK OF ITS CAPABILITIES IN CLOUD
COMPUTING, BIG DATA AND ARTIFICIAL
INTELLIGENCE ("Al"), MAKING TREMENDOUS
PROGRESS IN IMPORTANT SECTORS SUCH AS
SM@RT HEALTHCARE, SM@RT AGRICULTURE,
SMART MANUFACTURING, SM@RT FINANCE. WE ARE
WELL-POSITIONED TO BUILD APPLICATION
SCENARIOS FOR THE FUTURE SMART ERA AND
REALISE THE DREAM OF "DIGITAL CHINA",
LEVERAGING OUR ADVANCED POSITION IN
CONCEPT, STRATEGY AND TECHNOLOGY, EXPERIENCE
IN INDUSTRY INFORMATISATION BUILT OVER
DECADES AND UNIQUE COMPETITIVE EDGE IN BIG
DATA TECHNOLOGIES.

Dear Shareholders of Digital China Holdings,

Year 2017 has been a year of full implementation of the new strategy and
innovative businesses of Digital China Holdings. Developments in new
technologies such as Cloud Computing, Big Data and Internet of Things
("I0T") are pointing towards unprecedented explosive growth, as virtually all
technological innovations currently seen in the market are based on Cloud
Computing, while Big Data is driving integration and innovation in
different industries. The latest onrush of rapid development and
applications of IT technologies has created further demand and market
opportunities for innovation, ushering in a stage of speedy development
for the IT industry. In a steadfast effort to transform into a Cloud and Big
Data service provider, Digital China Holdings has been increasing its
investment in new businesses built on innovative models with aid of
financial resources, in order to make vigorous advances and stay ahead of
the game in market development. Since the disposal of its Distribution and
Systems Business and transformation into an Internet-focused company
two years ago, Digital China Holdings has forged a solid foundation in the
Internet business, providing enabling services to facilitate empowerment for
sectors such as Government, Modern Agriculture, Smart Manufacturing,
Sm@rt City Management and Healthcare on the back of its core
capabilities in Cloud Computing and Big Data. For the year under review,
we have achieved breakthroughs in various degrees across all business
segments. On every front and in every battleground, we have lived up to
our corporate culture of responsibility, passion and innovation, in a
consistent effort to fulfill the mission of building a "Digital China".
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Mr. GUO Wei

el

Chairman's Statement

U R s

The most valuable products in the future society would be the cloud
platform that integrates all kinds of services, and the massive data generated
through such services. On the back of its technological strengths in Cloud
Computing, Big Data and quantum communication, Digital China Holdings
will continue to lead in and drive China's informatisation process in support
of the "Digital China" mission by resorting to business models which are
product-oriented, platform-based and driven by smart applications.

As the building of cloud computing infrastructure continues to gain pace in the
financial, telecommunications, government and corporation and agricultural
sectors, there has been a general need for industry clients to optimise and
upgrade their data centres. In this connection, our Systems Integration Business
has reported positive business development, having seized market opportunities
presented by national information and cyber security developments on the back
of enhanced planning for the "adaptable” architecture of the industry data
centre and improved abilities to deliver system integration and facilitate cloud
deployment for distributed and centralised business architectures.

Data resources have become increasingly important. In the future, whoever in
possession of data resources will be in the driving seat in the next cycle of
competition. And that is exactly what we have: Big Data resources across
different industries developed over years of providing services to large sectors,
such as those in relation to, among others, agriculture, taxation, industry and
commerce, customs and finance, giving us a solid background in historical and
technical resources. As a Big Data service provider, what Digital China Holdings
does is to identify data and put them to sophisticated applications, and to
facilitate empowerment in sectors such as Sm@rt City, Precision Medicine,
Modern Agriculture and Smart Manufacturing and in-depth application of Cloud
and Big Data technologies in all sectors, leveraging Big Data and the Internet on
the back of its unique strengths forged through traditional businesses.
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Chairman'’s Statement
e e

In line with the national Big Data strategy, Digital China Holdings has
further enhanced innovative applications of deep-web data in the finance,
telecommunications, taxation and agriculture sectors and implemented Big
Data business ideas such as software-defined, data-driven approach,
platform support, value-added services, and smart application-based
operation. Big Data products such as data integration platform and Big
Data infrastructure platform have been launched to facilitate integration of
industry chains and service innovation. In the financial sector, we have
offered support to cross-sector innovation and intelligentisation of banks
and other financial institutions. In the taxation sector, we have supported
the collation and analysis of national taxation and upgrade of visualised
management, sharing taxation related data with a number of ministries
and commissions. In the communications sector, the Company's Big Data
services have supported operators to make vigorous use of data assets and
provided extensive Big Data solutions to users in key sectors such as public
security, government and judiciary and tourism. In the agriculture sector,
the Company has built an agricultural data chain through agricultural
village management service, agricultural production service and agricultural
trade service, using data analysis and forecasts to assist in predictions of
natural conditions and rendering powerful support for the development of
precision agriculture and agricultural modernisation.

The Company has been making strong efforts to drive the development of
quantum communication as one of its important strategic businesses,
underpinned by its full participation in the construction of the national
quantum communication truck route and provision of related services in
support of the nation's strategic requirements and sustainable
development. In this connection, the "Beijing-Shanghai Communication
Route" project, a quantum encrypted communication network constructed
with the support of the Company, has successfully passed the national
inspection and acceptance procedures. In the future, we will look into the
possibility of developing peripheral products relating to the application of
quantum communication.

Our Sm@rt City Business has realised intelligentisation of Big Data at the
deep-web level thanks to our technological advances, resulting new
opportunities as well as challenges for the development of Sm@rt City.
Digital China Holdings will explore a cross-sector ecosphere featuring a
high level of integration of technology, finance, urban infrastructure
construction, culture and trade through the building of a module for smart
construction of urban infrastructure facilities, as it grows from a provider
of Sm@rt City construction capabilities into a developer of Sm@rt City
ecospheres.
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The Sm@rt City Business of Digital China Holdings has been focused on
deploying cloud-based open city data platforms on top of its existing
model of city services. Aided by Yanyun (3% 22) DaaS, an exclusive deep-
web data extraction technology, our Sm@rt City Business has effectively
ended the isolated information islands and orchestrated inter-connection
and communication of information. By now we have developed business
models for the operation of resources, scenarios and platforms on the basis
of Big Data services and the APl platform to provide government and
corporate clients with products for the integration and convergence of API
government information resources, micro-service solutions and platform
construction and operation. Currently, data service products for industrial
operation, economic operation, defined poverty aid, citizen credit,
transportation and education have been developed in a move to
commercialise our technological achievements in multiple sectors through
different approaches.

Digital China Holdings has enhanced its strategic cooperation with
Guangzhou City Infrastructure Investment Group Limited (J& N 71 3% T 22
RIEE LB AR AT ("GZ Infrastructure”), which is set to drive the
development of the Sm@rt City and Big Data sectors with positive
synergies generated through more effective combination of the advanced
technologies of Digital China Holdings and the city construction operations
of GZ Infrastructure. Guangzhou Sm@rt City Planning and Research
Institute, a research facility jointly established by Digital China Holdings
and GZ Infrastructure in Guangzhou, will focus on methodologies and
tactics for the development of new-generation IT, Al and bio-medicine,
leveraging fully the enabling effect and driving force of smart technologies
and novel smart industry chain. The two companies will also work together
to launch an online rental platform and smart water supply solution
designed for affordable housing under relevant government policies.

Chairman's Statement
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Chairman'’s Statement
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Our Supply Chain Business has reported rapid growth under the smart
logistics development model of "Warehouse + Technology + Data" Big Data
forecast as a crucial factor for the success of a logistics system, we have
completed the in-house development of Xdata logistics Big Data products
and a visualisation platform and incorporated such technologies and Big
Data smart applications into our principal operations. During the year, we
adopted the "Human + Robot" model for the first time and advanced the
consolidation of a number of complicated orders through the application
of Big Data technologies, achieving maximum synergy between the efficient
labour of robots and flexibility of manual input to "reduce physical input,
optimise product selection and minimise errors" by assigning tasks to
robots via the cloud-based server. Supported by Big Data technologies,
cloud-based servers and robots, our Supply Chain Business have reported
stellar results for the November 11th marketing campaign and received the
"Golden Eagle Award" in the "Cainiao Outstanding Partners Award 2017"
While achieving progress for the long term in e-Commerce logistics, we
have also made a breakthrough in cooperation on the manufacturers' end
in connection with B2B logistics, teaming up with Huawei and Honor in the
e-Commerce retail business to pursue mutual success. The opening of our
warehouse in Mandalay, Myanmar, meanwhile, represents an investigative
attempt of our Logistics Business at overseas expansion in tandem with the
national "Belt and Road" strategy.

In connection with Precision Medicine, we have completed our deployment
in Healthcare Big Data after years of build-up efforts, including
preparations for the establishment of China Healthcare Big Data
Technology Development Group Ltd. (P EIfEREBEABEREER
£ [E /A 7)) and Digital China Health, and transformed a technology R&D
project into a business model. After two years of development, we
introduce our first world-leading product in Precision Medicine which has
been deployed at Fudan Children's Hospital. This means that the idea of
empowering the healthcare industry with Big Data is no longer a dream,
but has been put to realistic implementation. Today, we have not only
assembled a young, international team comprising top-notch experts from
China, Israel and the United States for our Healthcare Big Data operations,
but have also won approval among industry players to position ourselves as
pioneers in the development of Healthy China as we carry on with our
incessant effort to help China reach advanced world standards in cancer
survival rate. Through Digital China Health and China Healthcare Big Data
Technology Development Group Ltd. (P EIfEREBEABEREER
£ B 2 |]), we hope to serve China and all Chinese people in connection
with healthcare, medical treatment and insurance through the development
of "One Network, One Database”.
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In Modern Agriculture, we have built a platform based on Big Data, where
we consolidate and analyse fragmented agricultural resources, made
available through the transactions of agricultural land, with the aid of
information technologies such as Cloud Computing and Big Data. By
standardising agricultural trading services with regulated and more
efficient processes, we have contributed to the aim of adding to value to
these agricultural resources. We has developed a complete Big Data chain
for the “Three Agricultural Aspects (Business, Land and Farmers)" targeted
at the agricultural village market, forming a consolidated business
ecosphere and strategic position for the “Three Agricultural Aspects"
underpinned by "One Network, One Database and Three Services" By
providing agricultural village management service, agricultural production
service and agricultural trade service, we have facilitated connections
between people and administrators, between people and production means,
and between people and services for agricultural villages. In July 2017,
Premier Li Kegiang commended the foresight of our development of Big
Data for the three agricultural aspects following a visit to "Three
Agriculturals Big Data Company" under Digital China Holdings during his
inspection trip to the Yangling Agricultural Hi-tech Industrial
Demonstration Zone in Shaanxi. Digital China Agriculture has emerged as a
stronghold in the agricultural informatisation of China, bringing benefits to
growers and consumers alike and empowering the modernisation of
agriculture in China.

"Digital China" is a name by which our Company is identified and our
mission expressed. Over 18 years since its incorporation, Digital China
Holdings has consistently lived up to its mission, venturing from product
distribution to software service and from software service to Big Data and
Cloud. At a study session organised by the CPC Central Politburo in
December 2017, General Secretary Xi Jinping stressed the importance of
"stepping up with the building of the digital China to better serve the
nation's economic and social development and improvements to people's
life by: driving and implementation the national Big Data strategy,
accelerating the upgrade of data infrastructure, promoting the
consolidation and open sharing of data, and ensuring data security” The
monumental call has reaffirmed our faith and determination, for we are
none other than the implementers of "Digital China"

Chairman's Statement
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In 2018, "Digital China" will remain a beacon that lights up our way
forward, as we continue to carry out our mission in answer to the great
call of President Xi. We will be engaged in unequivocal implementation of
our strategic goals, namely, to facilitate empowerment for sm@rt city
management, manufacturing, agriculture, healthcare, finance and industrial
and commercial enterprises through digitalisation. In adherence to our
original aspiration and objective, we will strive for competitive edge in
Cloud Computing and Big Data and enhance our own technologies
consistently, so as to grab opportunities presented by the Big Data
industrialisation that worth thousands of billions, following the
development of a digital China.

On behalf of the board of directors, | would like to express gratitude to our
investors for their support of the Company's transformation, and to our
staff for their relentless effort to achieve the goals of the Company.
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'Management Discussion and Analysis
B IR BT B D AT

Digital China Holdings continued the transition from a traditional IT service
provider to an innovative Big Data service provider in 2017 in accordance
with its "Cloud Computing + Big Data" strategy. On the back of massive
data depositories built up over the years, Digital China Holdings achieved
strategic breakthroughs in selected business segments and swift
improvements in operational efficiency following ongoing optimisation in
operational management and business processes. We continued to provide
enabling services to sectors such as government, modern agriculture,
sm@rt manufacturing, Sm@rt City management and healthcare through
our capital- and technology-driven operations underpinned by "Cloud
Computing + Big Data".

1.1 SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION OF RIGHTS ISSUE
EXPEDITING DEVELOPMENT OF HEALTHCARE BIG
DATA; FULL COOPERATION WITH GZ
INFRASTRUCTURE DRIVING SM@RT CITY
BUSINESS

In September 2017, the Company completed a rights issue and raised
funds of approximately HK$1.34 billion. Underpinning market
confidence in the strategic transformation of Digital China Holdings,
the successful completion of the rights issue with substantial
oversubscription has strengthened the Group's resolve to advance
the development of new businesses such as Precision Medicine and
Sm@rt City. Approximately 59% of the net proceeds from the rights
issue will be applied to fund investment in China Healthcare Big
Data Technology Development Group Ltd. (FF B fi 5% B8 /& K 2k
TH4% 2% & &= [ /2 F]) ("Healthcare Big Data Group"). As the primary
directions in the development of China's medical sector under
national policies, Precision Medicine and Healthcare Big Data will
become the Group's core business segments in the future. The rights
issue exercise has provided Digital China Holdings with financial
resources to step up with developments in the Healthcare Big Data
sector. The proposed Healthcare Big Data Group, to be formed as a
joint venture by a host of well-known Central Government-owned
Enterprises, state-owned enterprises listed companies and the
Chinese Academy of Sciences, is set to become one of the national
leagues in the Healthcare Big Data sector.
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Digital China Holdings, as the first company in China to embark on
the Sm@rt City business, has been enhancing its cooperation with
strategic partner Guangzhou City Infrastructure Investment Group
Limted BM T T ERREEBAER QA (62
Infrastructure”), a major player in the Guangzhou's infrastructure
and Sm@rt City construction. Cooperation between the two
companies will facilitate more effective combination of the advanced
technologies of Digital China Holdings and the city construction
operations of GZ Infrastructure will provide a genuine model of
technology assisting city development, and the partnership is
expected to generate positive synergies to drive the development of
the Sm@rt City and Big Data sectors. Digital China Holdings will
continue to implement strategic transformation and innovative
development in a vigorous manner and step up with strategic
transformation through multilateral cooperation, so as to develop
new niches for profit growth and drive sustainable, healthy business
development for more lucrative shareholders' return.

For the year of 2017, the Continuing Operations reported revenue of
HK$13.247 billion, representing year-on-year growth of HK$996
million or 8.12%, compared to HK$12.251 billion for the
corresponding period of last financial year, reflecting all-rounded
revenue growth for IT Services, Supply Chain and New Business.
Gross profit increased to HK$2,665 million by HK$161 million or
6.45%, as compared to HK$2,504 million for the corresponding
period of last financial year. Gross profit margin was 20.12%, down
0.32% from 20.44% last financial year. Loss from Continuing
Operations attributable to the shareholders of the parent company
amounted to HK$413 million, down 142.5% or increase HK$243
million, from HK$170 million for the corresponding period of last
financial year. The results were affected by one-off, non-cash
expenses, including the expenses arising from the grant of share
options and restricted share units and the impairment of wealth
management financial products. Excluding the above-mentioned
one-off expenses, the recurring profit from Continuing Operations
attributable to the shareholders of the parent company amounted to
HK$122 million, up 196.68% from last financial year.
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1.2 FIRM FOOTHOLDS IN CLOUD COMPUTING AND

BIG DATA EMPOWERING GOVERNMENT,
MODERN AGRICULTURE, SM@RT
MANUFACTURING, SM@RT CITY MANAGEMENT
AND HEALTHCARE SECTORS

With the advancement of our new strategy, we have leaped forward
from an industry IT service provider to an industry operator through
innovations in business model developed on the back of Cloud
Computing and Big Data technologies, in relation to the core sectors
where we claim a competitive edge.

The concept of Sm@rt City was first introduced in China by Digital
China Holdings in 2010. Today, our Sm@rt City solutions cover more
than 120 Chinese cities, while our city service platforms have been
signed up by more than 40 cities/districts and in operation in more
than 30 cities covering over more than 100 million residents. As the
first mover in Sm@rt City, Digital China Holdings has grown into an
undisputable leader of the sector. In 2017, our Sm@rt City was
focused on deploying cloud-based open city data platforms on top
of its existing model of city services. In cooperation with Peking
University, we have developed and invested in Yanfeng (/&) DaaS
and Yanyun (3 ZE) laaS, exclusive deep-web data extraction
technologies by Beijing Internetware Corporation Limited* (1t 5 &
15 2 # A R 2 A)). The application of the new technologies has
significantly accelerated the progress of various data sharing
processes, including those in relation to government data, effectively
breaking the isolation of individual information systems and
orchestrating a substantial leap forward in our ability to extract and
analyze data. On this basis, we have launched respective business
models for the operation of resources, scenarios and platforms,
providing government and corporate clients with products for the
integration and convergence of APl government information
resources, micro-service solutions and platform construction and
operation. Currently, data service products for industrial operation,
economic operation, defined poverty aid, citizen credit,
transportation and education have been developed in a move to
commercialise our technological achievements in multiple sectors
through different approaches. We have also propositioned a model
for the empowerment of Chinese manufacturers through Big Data
applications. In November 2017, we worked with Shenyang Machine
Tools to launch the i5 new-generation smart machine tool operating
system, which gave rise to the iSESOL industrial cloud platform. By
facilitating production capacity trade, customised manufacturing and
regional coordination, iSESOL has contributed to the creation of a
brand new, socialised business ecosphere for the manufacturing
sector.

Management Discussion andsAnalysis
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With the rapid penetration of new technologies and service models,
such as mobile Internet, Big Data and Cloud Computing, into various
segments of the medical sector, the development and application of
Healthcare Big Data as an important, fundamental form of strategic
resources of the nation will promise enormous commercial and
social value. On the back of its unrivaled ability in cancer data
analysis in the domestic market, Digital China Health is developing
China's largest oncologic data centre and oncology Big Data
platform in cooperation with the Chinese Academy of Sciences, on
the basis of which comprehensive tumor data services will be
provided. In future, the new Healthcare Big Data Group is expected
to consolidate the strengths of its member companies to drive
collective innovation through capital investments. It has plans to
build experimental national medical care Big Data centers and
industrial parks in major cities, eventually forming a Healthcare Big
Data service regime that will drive the development of elementary
Healthcare Big Data for the nation.

The Group has been making strong efforts to drive the development
of quantum communication as one of its important strategic
businesses, underpinned by its full participation in the construction
of the national quantum communication route and provision of
related services in support of the nation's strategic requirements
and sustainable development. In 2017, the Group entered into a
series of strategic cooperation in active involvement in the
construction of the quantum communication industrial park in
Tianjin, as well as standard formulation and operating services in
relation to quantum communication networks. The "Beijing-Shanghai
Communication Route" project, a quantum encrypted
communication network constructed with the support of the
Company, has fulfilled the national inspection and acceptance
procedures and completed connection with the ground station of the
"Mozi" experimental quantum satellite, signifying initial success for a
Space-Earth wide-area quantum communication network. Towards
the end of the year, the Company made further progress in driving
the industrialisation of quantum encrypted communication
technologies in China, as it secured a tender for the "Wuhan-Hefei
Communication Route" project, the second quantum encrypted
communication network to be constructed by the nation as a key
project, following the "Beijing-Shanghai Communication Route"
project.
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2.1

IT SERVICE BUSINESS (DCITS): LEADING IT
SERVICE PROVIDER IN CHINA'S IT INDUSTRY
SPECIALISED IN PROPRIETARY SOFTWARE
SERVICES, CLOUD COMPUTING AND BIG DATA
ANALYSIS, WITH EMPHASIS ON CUSTOMISED
CLOUD PLATFORM SERVICES FOR THE
AGRICULTURAL, FINANCIAL AND TAXATION
SECTORS ON THE BACK OF ITS STRENGTHS IN
THESE INDUSTRIES

DCITS (IT Services Business) continued to enhance its business value
in 2017, making strong efforts in the development of strategic
businesses such as sm@rt maintenance, sm@rt agriculture,
quantum communication and financial technology as it provided
solid support for the sustainable development of the Company.
DCITS reported turnover of HK$9.415 billion for the vyear,
representing an increase of HK$206 million or 2.24%, compared to
HK$9.209 billion for the corresponding period of last financial year.
Gross profit margin increased by 1.50 percentage points to 20.60%,
as compared to 19.10% for the corresponding period of last
financial vyear, reflecting the increase in revenue from Technical
Services coupled with the decrease in revenue from the Systems
Integration Business and Financial Specialised Equipment Business,
which commanded lower gross profit margins, as a percentage of
the total revenue of DCITS. Profit of DCITS attributable to
shareholders of the parent company for the year rose HK$85 million
or 31.23%, on a year-on-year basis, to HK$359 million, up from
HK$274 million for the corresponding period of last financial year.
Excluding the one-off, non-cash expenses arising from the grant of
share options and restricted share units, profit of DCITS attributable
to shareholders of the parent company for the year amounted to
HK$376 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 32.68%.

Management Discussion andsAnalysis
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2.1.1 Technical Services and Application Software

Development (including Cloud services)

In 2017, our Technical Services Business reported rapid
development towards cloudification, platform-based operation
and intelligentisation with the formation of an integrated
smart maintenance service platform — "§{7T32 & ", which
was capable of providing a full range of IT smart
management services comprising centralised maintenance
APP, maintenance Big Data analysis, maintenance automation
management, service process management, network and
business performance analysis, IT infrastructure control and
asset allocation management. During the reporting period, the
Group's Technical Services Business reported revenue of
HK$3.021 billion for the financial year under review,
representing a robust growth of 17.38% on a year-on-year
basis. Gross profit margin increased by 2.33 percentage points
to 24.75%. Our smart maintenance platform provided services
to over 1,000 large-scale industry clients, while acquiring
1,528 new smart maintenance projects in 2017. Having been
widely applied in banking, securities, telecommunications and
government and corporate services, the automated
maintenance platform of DCITS further tapped the military
industry and aerospace sectors in 2017. DCITS have signed up
Xiamen International Bank, Anhui Mobile, Zhejiang Mobile and
Shanxi Mobile for its automated testing services and China
Electric Power Research Institute for its smart data centre
SDC and cloud maintenance service. In the communication
network service sector, DCITS has identified further values in
communication data with its Deeplan Big Data platform and
formed examples for application in the public security,
government and judiciary sectors supporting risk
management functions such as warning and preventive
control.
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Application Software Development (including Cloud services)
reported revenue of HK$1.019 billion, down 1.85% on a year-
on-year basis. Gross profit margin expanded 4.06 percentage
points to 37.51%, benefitting primarily from the product
technology upgrades and extended competitive edge of DCITS
since recent years. During the reporting period, DCITS signed
up 11 banks in the financial sector after winning tenders to
provide core banking business systems, of which new-
generation distributed core banking systems accounted for
60%. Elsewhere, DCITS continued to lead in the innovation of
financial technologies as it signed up 18 financial institutions
for corporate service bus systems, 8 banks for smart network
outlet systems and 3 banks for Internet finance platforms
after winning the relevant tenders. On the back of strengths
afforded by its "Financial and Taxation Administration
Information System Phase III" administration and decision-
making platform, DCITS was assigned a number of projects in
the taxation sector in support of China's tax collection
reforms and data-sharing service, involving, among others,
decision support, external information exchange, horizontal
integration of the financial, taxation, treasury and banking
networks, and electronic tax payment.
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2.1.2 Agricultural Informatisation

During the reporting period, the Agricultural Informisation
Business of DCITS reported revenue of HK$275 million,
representing a 15.25% decline on a year-on-year basis. Gross
profit margin declined 4.01 percentage points to 52.75%.
DCITS made vigorous efforts to drive the implementation of
the "One Network, One Data Base and Three Services" model
in sm@rt agriculture, leveraging its strengths in IT
technology support, industrial integration and value-added
services to assist in China's latest reform and revitalisation
strategy for the agriculture sector and agricultural villages.
Regarding agricultural Big Data, DCITS has undertaken the
construction of a national-level farmland rights registration
data integration and database, while the "Big Data Command
Module for Agricultural Sector, Agricultural Villages and
Agricultural Workers" developed by DCITS has commenced
operation in Yangling Agricultural Hi-tech Industrial
Demonstration Zone in Shaanxi. We have enhanced the
marketing of agricultural technologies and standalone Big
Data applications, which has been commended by visiting
Central Government leaders. In connection with the
agricultural 10T business, the application and promotion of
sm@rt irrigation and integrated irrigation and fertilisation
products in sm@rt industrial parks has been enhanced to
drive large-scale implementation, while Sichuan Provincial
Agricultural Science Academy and Luoning County, Henan
have been signed up for joint venture projects.
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2.1.3 Systems Integration Business

Our Systems Integration Business enhanced planning for the
"adaptable” architecture of the industry data centre and
improved its ability to deliver system integration and
facilitate cloud deployment for distributed and centralised
business architecture to seize market opportunities presented
by national information and cyber security developments. The
Group's systems integration business reported revenue of
HK$4.741 billion for the financial year under review,
representing a year-on-year decline of 1.77%. Overall gross
profit margin expanded by 1.13 percentage points to 10.68%.
DCITS played a full part in driving the progress of the
industrialisation quantum communication technologies, as it
further undertook the construction of the "Wuhan-Hefei
Communication Route”, the second quantum encrypted
communication trunk route in China, following the
completion and delivery of the "Beijing-Shanghai
Communication Route", to support cyber security
development in the government and finance sectors.
Moreover, DCITS has also successfully signed up large projects
such as the data centre of the Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China and the China online payment and clearing
platform while providing specialised services to Alibaba and
Ching Export and Import Bank, in a further testimony to our
competitive edge in experience and expertise.
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2.2

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT BUSINESS:
LEADING SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT BRAND
IN CHINA WITH EXTENSIVE LOGISTIC NETWORK
AND COMPREHENSIVE AFTER-SALE
MAINTENANCE CAPABILITY. DEVELOPMENT OF
B2C SERVICES AND INTERNET-BASED 020
SELF-BRANDED MAINTENANCE SERVICES ON
THE BACK OF THE SAAS-BASED
“INTERMEDIARY PLATFORM" INTEGRATED
E-COMMERCE SERVICE MODEL

Year 2017 was a crucial year for the strategic deployment of our
Supply Chain Management Business, as it continued to focus on
developing major customers in various sectors in order to swiftly
expand its sales and market shares. Against the backdrop of a
rapidly developing third-party logistics industry, positive growth
momentum was sustained as we reported continuous business
expansion as a whole. For the financial year under review, the
Supply Chain Management Business recorded overall turnover of
approximately HK$2.885 billion for current financial year under
review, an increased by HK$633 million or 28.11% as compared to
the overall turnover of HK$2.252 billion for the corresponding period
of last financial year. The three principal branches of the Supply
Chain Management Business, namely, e-Commerce Supply Chain
services, Logistics and Maintenance, accounted for 45.85%, 47.87%
and 6.28%, respectively, of the revenue from this business segment.
The gross profit margin is approximately 12.90% for the period,
dropping by 3.03 percentage points from 15.93% for the
corresponding period of last financial year. This is attributable
primarily to the rapid expansion in scale of the lower margin
e-Commerce Supply Chain Service business. During the year under
review, the Supply Chain Management Business reported stellar
results in its strategic cooperation with Cainiao Network following
enhanced efforts on all fronts. On a year-on-year basis, B2C daily
handling volume and the handling volume on November 11th
marketing campaign rose 83% and 93%, respectively. The full-year
target of the supply chain management business has been achieved.
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During the financial year under review, the Supply Chain
Management Business increased its strategic investment in the B2C
business, in a bid to enhance business value through rapid
deployment. Segment results declined to a loss of HK$54.85 million
from HK$37.85 million profit in the last financial year, representing
a profit reduction of HK$92.70 million. Excluding the one-off, non-
cash expenses arising from the grant of share options and restricted
share units, segment results declined by HK$68.03 million or
149.88% from the last financial year. This was attributable mainly to
rapid growth in the scale of our e-Commerce Supply Chain Service
following strategic investments. In the future, our Supply Chain
Management Business will pursue a model for healthy, sustainable
development, seeking to enhance market shares and business value
by accelerating market expansion and business deployment with the
aid of capital derived from industrial and financial sources.

2.2.1 e-Commerce Supply Chain Business

Riding on strong market and customer approval for the
"intermediary platform" business model, our e-Commerce
Supply Chain Business continued to enhance business
cooperation with three major manufacturers, namely, Huawei,
Honor and Dell and reported turnover year-on-year growth of
47.8%, on a year-on-year basis, as it actively explored
servicing opportunities in categories such as luxury glasses,
luggage bags and handset accessories.

2.2.2 Logistics Services
In view of the rapid development of third-party logistics, the
Company proposed the "Warehouse + Technology + Data"
model for smart logistics development to create a new
logistics business ecosphere under the new era for retail, as it
stepped up with the development of a nationwide
e-commerce warehouse network to build warehouses in Wuxi,
Chengdu, Huizhou, Dongguan, Tianjin, Shijiazhuang, Haining,
Hefei, Luoyang and Yichang, in addition to its existing
warehouses in Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen and
Wuhan. Sectors covered have expanded to include baby care,
cosmetics, homeware, small domestic appliances, 3C, Tmall
supermarket, cross-border purchases and Ist.1688.com. We
have signed up the first batch of logistics service mega-
market strategic partners in Alibaba Cainiao Network, as well
as renowned brand names including Three Squirrels, Bestore,
Li-Ning and Darlie as new customers. As a core strategic
partner in Alibaba Cainiao Network, we have reported stellar
results for the November 11th marketing campaign and
received the "Golden Eagle Award" in the "Cainiao
Outstanding Partners Award 2017" In the meantime, we have
provided WMS warehouse management system, TMS
transportation and distribution management system, OMS
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2.2.3

order management system and Big Data application services
to customers in persistent adherence to the principle of
staying atop in technology. In accordance with customers'
requirements, we have developed a customised visualization
big screen to facilitate visibility,
in the
Leveraging Al technologies, we pioneered in the application of

manageability and
controllability of all stages logistics business.
the "Human + Robot" smart logistics solution developed by
our in-house team and realised a "Human + Robot" work
mode at the warehouse during major marketing and
promotion seasons to facilitate efficiency improvements in
warehouse operation. Industry-wise, we have been named for
the "Exemplary Entity in Smart Logistics Services in China
2017 Award" by China e-Commerce Industrial Alliance. In the
logistics B2B sector, we have cemented our leading position
in handset logistics with vigorous business developments in
the handset,
undertaking logistics services for multiple destinations and

auto accessories and IT sectors, while

categories within the Xiaomi ecosphere in ongoing
cooperation with the three leading telecommunications
carriers. We have also signed up Smartisan, BYD and Epson

for B2B logistics services.

Maintenance Services
As a
provider, our Maintenance Services Business has continued to

leading original manufacturer maintenance service
enhance its capability to service multiple manufacturers and
signed up Huawei to serve as the latter's PC after-sales
maintenance provider in China, while introducing authorised
maintenance services for new product types such as robots
and smart equipment. The allocation of our nationwide
service network has been enhanced with the establishment of
a number of new service stations in Kunming, Quanzhou and
Xining. Meanwhile, new customers in the hotel sector have
been developed on the back of our nationwide network of
service stations with a strong focus on meeting the
equipment maintenance requirements of corporations with
nationwide business chains, signing up Marriott Hotel Group,
Kempinski and Shangri-La for equipment maintenance
services. On top of developing shop services at the service
stations, we have also optimised the management of our on-
site services to enhance customer experience and service
quality.
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2.3 NEW BUSINESS: EXPLORING OPPORTUNITIES IN
“INTERNET+" SECTORS SUCH AS SM@RT CITY,
PRECISION MEDICINE AND SM@RT
MANUFACTURING TO FOSTER STRATEGIC NEW
BUSINESS GROWTH NICHE ON THE BASIS OF
CORE CLOUD COMPUTING AND BIG DATA
TECHNOLOGIES

Revenue from the Group's New Business rose to HK$947 million
from HK$791 million for the corresponding period of last financial
year, representing an increase of HK$156 million or 19.77% on a
year-on-year basis. Gross profit margin dropped 11.38 percentage
points to 37.39% as compared to 48.77% for the corresponding
period of last financial year. The sustained revenue growth reflects
ongoing stable development of the Sm@rt City business of "Internet
+ citizen services"

2.3.1 Sm@rt City Business

From the year 2010 to year 2016, Digital China Holdings
completed the first-stage development of Sm@rt City. Under
the "Cloud + Big Data" strategic deployment, the Sm@rt City
Business of Digital China Holdings has begun a new stage of
development, whereby we have been growing from a provider
of Sm@rt City construction capabilities into a developer of
Sm@rt City ecospheres. Digital China Holdings held core
editorships for three of the four national Sm@rt City
standards announced by the Government in 2017, while
several others in which we have leading roles are expected to
be announced next year, as we continue to stay atop as an
industry expert. On top of Digital China Holdings our existing
"Smart Government+" comprising "Internet + Government”
and "Big Data + Government’, Yanyun (%2E) Daas has come
into operation and a ‘city operating system” has been
designed based on Big Data, APl technologies and novel
business models, whereby a cross-sector ecosphere featuring
a high level of integration of technology, finance, urban
infrastructure construction, culture and trade has been
developed through the building of a module for smart
construction of urban infrastructure facilities.
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Digital China Holdings has entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with GZ Infrastructure and GRG
Banking Equipment Co., Ltd* (BN EBEB LR E FIK
7 B BR /A &]), whereby members of the management of GZ
Infrastructure have joined the board of directors of Digital
China Holdings. This alliance of forces for the joint
development of Sm@rt City in Guangzhou will provide a
genuine model of technology assisting city development.
Digital China Holdings and GZ Infrastructure have jointly
established the Guangzhou Sm@rt City Planning and
Research Institute, bringing together resources derived from
industry players, academia, research institutes and users and
linking up fragmented projects in the city to create an
integrated Sm@rt City development module across different
industries and sectors. In connection with the large-scale
public housing rental operation in Guangzhou undertaken by
GZ Infrastructure, and Digital China Holdings plans to
introduce advanced technologies such as face recognition,
artificial intelligence, geographic information, 3D technologies
to the project so that tenants can experience housing with
more security, precision and convenience.

Digital China Holdings will drive the development of Sm@rt
City in Hong Kong in active response to the "Hong Kong
Smart City Blueprint" published by the Hong Kong
Government. During the vyear, Digital China Holdings
continued to work with the Hong Kong Government and The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, facilitating
Sm@rt City research projects in relation to environment,
transportation, finance and other aspects.
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2.3.2 Financial Services Business

As an important segment underpinning Digital China
Holdings' strategy, our Financial Services Business provides a
broad range of financial services, such as micro-credit,
commercial factoring and financial leasing, to corporate
customers of the Company's various business segments with
a persistent emphasis on risk control, in a full effort to drive
the implementation of the new strategy. In 2017, the
Company enhanced risk control with a special focus on risk
evaluation and collection of repayments in connection with
existing loans, taking the initiative to scale down outstanding
loans. In further elucidation of its strategy, the Financial
Services Business has affirmed the new strategy of developing
into a smart financial service provider by fostering new
dynamics underpinned by core capabilities in resource
integration, product design platform operation and risk
control. In the future, we will continue to build a new
business profile comprising the four segments of credit
business, finance management, asset management and wealth
management, in a move to serve the macro business
ecosphere of Digital China Holdings with an integrated micro
ecosphere of smart financial businesses.

Apart from the financial institution business, we are also
engaged in the business of wealth management financial
product investments. As stated by Ernst & Young in the
section headed "Basis for Qualified Opinion”, the Group had
due but were not recovered the investment products with an
aggregate principal amounts of approximately
HK$2,603,057,000 (before impairment) and their related
interest receivables of approximately HK$123,391,000. Such
investment products have been purchased from an affiliate to
a state-owned large-scale financial institution. The Group is
currently negotiating with the issuer of the wealth
management financial products in respect of the recovery of
the amount receivables. We have out of prudence made an
impairment provision of approximately HK$227,941,000 about
the wealth management financial products. The Company has
also conducted an analysis on the impact of the investment
on the Group's financial conditions, and concluded that the
Group has sufficient liquidity and solvency. Coupled with the
fact that approximately 54% (or approximately 70% excluding
the ratio of secured loans of DCITS as an independently listed
A share company in China) of the Group's borrowings as at
31 December 2017 were secured borrowings, there is
considerable assurance for the solvency of the Group as a
borrower. Hence, the investment will not have a material
impact on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
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2.3.3 Self-incubating Business

In the sector of Precision Medicine, Digital China Health, an
innovative enterprise founded by Digital China Holdings
through more than 10 years of incubation, has built an
unrivaled ability in cancer data analysis in the domestic
market on the back of its strong R&D team, technologies
developed over the years and cooperation with reputable
international as well as domestic academia and research
institutions. Digital China Health is currently engaged in a
comprehensive cooperation with the National Cancer Center
to construct the largest nationwide oncologic data centre and
oncology Big Data platform in China. The oncologic data
centre has been connected to 17 provincial oncology
hospitals collecting more than 4 million sets of clinical,
imaging and genetic oncology data, and has entered into
comprehensive strategic cooperation agreements with a
number of well-known pharmaceutical manufacturer, medical
equipment supplier and insurance institutions. Digital China
Health has entered into a consensus for cooperation with
Congenica, an international renowned international genomic
research and diagnostic company to engage in cooperation at
a sophisticated level in connection with effective and
accurate analyses of clinical and genomic data. In the future,
Digital China Health will continue to seek innovation in the
R&D and clinical applications of frontier technologies in three
core segments, namely, Healthcare Big Data, medical cloud
services and healthcare informatisation, in a bid to contribute
to the implementation of the "Healthy China" strategy.

2.4 MANAGEMENT OUTLOOK

Year 2017 has been a year of full implementation of new strategies
and businesses Digital China Holdings. In retrospect, Digital China
Holdings has always pursued reform and innovation in significant
proportions and with utmost determination calling for courageous
sacrifices. From the channel business comprising mainly IT products
distribution at the time of our IPO, we had shifted to the software
services business featuring mainly IT solutions, before taking on the
Big Data and Cloud Computing service businesses built upon the
Sm@rt City. We have steered through every new turn on the back
of the vigorous involvement of our staff, the diligent
implementation of our management team and the understanding
and support of the market and the investors, which have allowed us
to swiftly move ahead of others and expand our new businesses
with increased financial resources derived from the capital market.
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Global economic recovery in general coupled with new opportunities
presented by the economic transformation and upgrade of China
have given rise to robust, technology-driven innovations across the
board, where new business formats and models are emerging in
quick succession, presenting us with challenges as well as
opportunities. We firmly believe that Digital China Holdings will
continue to advance against all odds on the way of its
transformation to a Cloud and Big Data service provider and deliver
lucrative rewards to the shareholders, given the depth of its
technological strengths, its extensive presence in different sectors
and its solid network of Sm@rt City operations.

QUALIFIED OPINION ON THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The independent auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young (the "Auditor”)
provided a qualified opinion (the "Qualified Opinion") on the recoverable
amounts in respect of certain wealth management financial products (the
“Investment”), with an aggregate principal amount of approximately
HK$2,603,057,000 (before impairment) and related interest receivables of
approximately HK$123,391,000 (together, the "Receivables”) recorded in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017 as available-for-sale investments (non-current) and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables (non-current), respectively. The Receivables
were due for repayment during the year ended 31 December 2017 but have
not been settled. The Group has performed an assessment on the
recoverability of the Receivables and has made an impairment provision of
approximately HK$227,941,000 (the “Impairment Provision") against the
Receivables, which was recorded as "other expenses" in the Group's
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2017.

The Investment is managed by its investment manager (the “Investment
Manager") with underlying investments in projects, debts and equity in
private entities (the “Underlying Assets"), for which land and properties
(the "Pledged Properties”) are pledged to secure certain of debts and equity
under the Underlying Assets. In determining the recoverable amounts of the
Receivables (the "Recoverable Amounts") and the Impairment Provision, the
Group made references to (a) the principal amount of the Investment as at
31 December 2017; (b) a market value valuation report of the Pledged
Properties carried out by an independent valuer engaged by the Investment
Manager providing that the market value of the Pledged Properties covers
a substantial part of the principal amount of the Investment; and (c) a
legal opinion by a PRC counsel engaged by the Group stating that, from
the PRC laws perspectives, there are no material obstacles in realising the
Pledged Properties based on the pre-requisites and assumptions in such
legal opinion; and (d) the ongoing progress of the Group's discussions with
the Investment Manager on the settlement plan in relation to the
Receivables (the "Settlement Plan"). The Group then assessed the risks and
uncertainty associated with recovering the Receivables and believes that it
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would reach a Settlement Plan with the Investment Manager. On such basis
and the information currently available to the Group, the Group formed the
view that the Impairment Provision amount of approximately 9% to the
principal amount of the Investment (or approximately HK$227.9 million),
and the corresponding estimated Recoverable Amounts, are considered to
be appropriate for the 2017 financial year of the Group.

The Auditor is of the view that it has not been able to obtain sufficient
audit evidence that it considered necessary to assess the Recoverable
Amounts and the Impairment Provision, despite the Company has taken
steps to provide the Auditor with the relevant information that are
currently available to the Group. The Group understands that given (a) no
agreement has been entered between the Group and the Investment
Manager in relation to the Settlement Plan; and (b) no information is
currently available to analyze and assess the liquidated value of the
Underlying Assets of the Investment (the “Liquidated Value") and the
possible Recoverable Amounts from liquidating the Underlying Assets, the
Auditor was unable to analyze and assess the Liquidated Value for the
purpose of concluding on the appropriateness of the Recoverable Amounts
and the Impairment Provision. However, the Group is not in position to
provide the Liquidated Value because (i) the Group is not in control of the
liquidation process of the Investment in the PRC, and the Group has only
been able to obtain such related information from the Investment
Manager; and (ii) the Group understands that the Liquidated Value would
only be assessed and available after all the relevant creditors have filed a
declaration of their rights, but the liquidation process of the Investment
has not reached such stage yet.

Given the Auditor does not have a specific position or definite view as to
the appropriateness of the Recoverable Amounts and the Impairment
Provision due to insufficient audit evidence, the Group understands that
the Auditor would maintain the same view on insufficiency of audit
evidence regardless of the specific amount of the Impairment Provision as
assessed by the Group. Therefore, the Group's position on the amount of
the Impairment Provision does not conflict with the Auditor's position as to
the insufficiency of audit evidence.

The Company has taken the following steps in parallel towards the purpose
of removing the Qualified Opinion in its future financial reports:

a) the Group has been in active discussion with the Investment Manager
on the Settlement Plan, and both parties have devised certain
preliminary resolutions that are subject to internal approval of the
Investment Manager. The Group and the Investment Manager have
also exchanged successive drafts of the settlement agreement in
relation to the Settlement Plan and are progressively reaching
consensus on certain essential terms and conditions. Once such
settlement agreement is reached, the Company would then be in
position to provide further audit evidences to the Auditor to
facilitate its assessment of the Recoverable Amounts and the
Impairment Provision; and
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b) the Group has been liaising with the Investment Manager to consider
options to expedite the realisation of the Underlying Assets or, if
necessary, the Pledged Properties to facilitate the recovery of the
Receivables and ascertain the Recoverable Amounts.

The Group has continued to explore other solutions to resolve the Qualified
Opinion, but has yet to enter into any definitive arrangement to address
the issue. Given (i) the finalisation and entry into of the Settlement Plan
are dependent on the considerations and approval by the management and
board of directors of the Investment Manager over which the Group has
not control; and (i) the Underlying Assets are under the control of the
Investment Manager, so that the Group has no direct control over the
timing and process on the realisation of the Underlying Assets or, if
necessary, the Pledged Properties in connection with the Settlement Plan,
so the Company will timely publish further announcements to update the
Shareholders and potential investors on the progress of reaching the
Settlement Plan or recovering the Receivables by other means.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2017 as set out in this annual report, which includes the
Qualified Opinion, have been carefully reviewed and approved by the audit
committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee"). The aforementioned
Group's position concerning the Recoverable Amounts and the Impairment
Provision as well as the proposed actions to be taken by the Group to
address the Qualified Opinion have been reviewed and agreed by all the
members of the Audit Committee. All members of the Audit Committee
understood the Qualified Opinion (including its basis) and that the Auditor
is unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to assess the Recoverable
Amounts and the Impairment Provision.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

Except for the rights issue raised during the year ended 31 December
2017, the Group mainly finances its operations with internally generated
cash flows, bank borrowings and banking facilities.

The Group had total assets of HK$27,916 million at 31 December 2017
which were financed by total liabilities of HK$15,121 million, non-
controlling interests of HK$3,685 million and equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent of HK$9,110 million. The Group's current ratio at
31 December 2017 was 1.11 as compared to 1.24 at 31 December 2016.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, capital expenditure of HK$975
million was mainly incurred for the acquisition of properties, office
equipment and IT infrastructure facilities.
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As at 31 December 2017, the Group's continuing operations had cash and
bank balances of HK$3,892 million, of which about HK$3,252 million of
cash and cash equivalents were denominated in Renminbi.

The aggregate borrowings from continuing operations of the Group as a
ratio of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent was 0.87 at
31 December 2017 as compared to 1.07 at 31 December 2016. The
computation of the said ratio was based on the total interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings of HK$7,881 million (31 December 2016: HK$7,665
million) and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent of
HK$9,110 million (31 December 2016: HK$7,169 million).

At 31 December 2017, the denomination of the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of the Group was shown as follows:
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Denominated

in United Denominated
States Denominated in Hong
38 dollars in Renminbi Kong dollars Total
LERXT HRARY® WUEER
- i HE HE A
2 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
: BETR BMTR AMTR AMTR
z
§ Current B
- Interest-bearing bank borrowings, M 2R 7T E 5k + MK IF
}é unsecured 439,508 2,061,908 247,525 2,748,941
g Interest-bearing bank borrowings, i B R{TE X - K IF
% secured 2,311,398 - 2,311,398
g Corporate bond DA E % 236,642 - 236,642
5
% 439,508 4,609,948 247,525 5,296,981
a
Non-current IE T B
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, [ B8R 17 & FX - MK I
unsecured 76,909 - 76,909
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, i B ER1TE X - HEIF
secured 1,911,650 - 1,911,650
Corporate bond UNEIREESS 595,390 - 595,390
2,583,949 - 2,583,949
Total it 439,508 7,193,897 247,525 7,880,930




Certain of the Group's bank borrowings of:

1. HK$2,147 million extended by financial institutions to certain
subsidiaries of the Group were secured by mortgages over the
Group's buildings, investment properties, land use right and
properties under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$4,181 million at 31 December 2017;

2. HK$2,070 million extended by financial institutions to certain
subsidiaries of the Group were secured by pledge of 229,820,000
issued shares of Digital China Information Service Company Ltd. (fe8
MBS (5 B AR 7 I (9 B BR 2 B1) ("DCITS"), a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, directly held by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$3,195 million at 31 December 2017; and

3. HK$6 million extended by financial institutions to a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group were secured by mortgages over a
building of a non-controlling shareholder at 31 December 2017.

Included in the Group's current and non-current bank borrowings of
HK$499 million and HK$1,989 million respectively represented the long
term loans which are repayable from the year 2018 to year 2027. All of the
Group's bank borrowings were charged at floating interest rates except for
the loan balances with an aggregate amount of HK$2,136 million which
were charged at fixed interest rates as at 31 December 2017.

In May 2016, Digital China Software Limited* (% /| 2055 & (4 A R A 7))
("DC Software"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, obtained the
relevant approval for issuing the medium-term notes in the national inter-
bank market in the PRC with a maximum principal amount of RMB700
million. In September 2016, DC Software issued the first tranche of the
medium-term notes of 2016 with a total principle amount of RMB500
million (equivalent to approximately HK$591 million) with a maturity
period of 5 years (with the investors' option to sell back the notes after
the end of the third year from the issuance date) and at an interest rate
of 4.9% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used for repaying the
bank loans of the Group.
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In January 2017, DC Software, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
obtained the relevant approval for issuing the short-term notes in the
national inter-bank market in the PRC with a maximum principal amount
of RMB1,500 million. In July 2017, DC Software issued the second tranche
of the short-term notes of 2017 with a total principle amount of RMB200
million (equivalent to approximately HK$237 million) with a maturity
period of 270 days and at an interest rate of 57% per annum. The
proceeds thereof were to be used for repaying the bank loans of the
Group.

Pursuant to the "Capital Contribution and Shareholders' Agreement of
Shenzhou Lingyun (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.", upon fulfillment of the
condition pertaining to an undertaking regarding business results, investors
subscribing for shares with new capital contributions shall provide,
according to their capital contribution ratios, loans with a total amount of
RMB33 million in the form of convertible bonds to Shenzhou Lingyun
(Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd* (@M EZEER)BIEBRAF) (a
subsidiary of DCITS, which is in turn a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) (“Shenzhou Lingyun”). In the year 2017, the investors provided
the first tranche of convertible bond loans in the amount of RMB16
million, comprising RMB12.80 million provided by DCITS and RMB3.20
million (equivalent to approximately HK$4 million) provided by the
remaining investors. Subject to the fulfillment of the undertaking regarding
Shenzhou Lingyun's the business results for the years 2016 to 2020 in full,
the investors have agreed to convert the full amount of the convertible
bond loans into investments in Shenzhou Lingyun, which shall be credited,
upon conversion, to Shenzhou Lingyun's capital reserve. In the event that
the business result undertaking is not fulfilled, Shenzhou Lingyun shall
repay the aforesaid convertible bond loans within 30 days upon receipt of
notices from the investors.

The total bank available credit facilities from the Group at 31 December
2017 amounted to HK$12,771 million, of which HK$3,982 million were in
long term loan facilities, HK$3,182 million were in trade lines and
HK$5,607 million were in short-term and revolving money market facilities.
At 31 December 2017, the facility drawn down from Group was HK$2,931
million in long term loan facilities, HK$1,180 million in trade lines and
HK$2,409 million in short-term and revolving money market facilities.

Under the normal course of business, the Group has issued performance
bonds to some customers for potential claims of non-performance in order
to satisfy the specific requirements of these customers. As no material
claims had been made by the customers under such performance bonds in
the past, the management considers that the possibility of realisation of
any actual material liabilities arising from such performance bonds is
remote.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(@) The Group provided guarantee in favour of one financial institution
for certain asset-backed securities issued by a joint venture,
Chongqing Digital China HC Microfinance Co. Ltd.* (22 B 14 /N K15
B/NE B 5B R A A, with an aggregate amount of
appro><|mate|y HK$205,878,000 as at 31 December 2017.

(o)  On 14 November 2017, AR+ E#EA% 5 B PR A ) filed a lawsuit
with Haidian District People's Court in Beijing to demand for the
payment of an aggregate amount of RMB5,548,000, comprising
RMB4,627,000 in settlement for overdue fees, RMB761,000 in default
penalty relating to equipment payments and RMB160,000 in default
penalty relating to construction work payments, together with
litigation costs by Digital China Rongxin Software Limited* (18 /1 £§
15 @R = 0 B PR /A B]) (one of the subsidiaries of DCITS, a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“DC Rongxin"), on the
grounds that the contracting amounts payable by DC Rongxin had
been partially overdue and outstanding.

(@ On 14 July 2017, KE BT 5D B R A A filed a lawsuit
with the Shangdi Court of Haidian District People's Court in Beijing
to demand for the payment of an aggregate amount of
RMB3,105,000, comprising RMB2,349,000 in procurement costs
relating to purchase orders, RMB204,000 in compensation for loss of
profit otherwise available and RMB552,000 in compensation for loss
arising from fund appropriation, together with litigation costs by
Digital China Systems Integration Services Limited* (8 /)1 15 &
FERK RS A PR /A B]) (one of the subsidiaries of DCITS, a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“DCSIS"), on the grounds
that DCSIS had failed to honour payment of contract amounts as
stipulated.

While the outcomes of such litigations or other legal procedures have yet
to be determined, the management believes that, any responsibility arising
on the part of the Group as a defendant in the aforesaid cases (b) and (c)
will not have any material adverse impact on the financial conditions or
operating results of the Group.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENT

At 31 December 2017, the Group had the following capital commitments:

B AR EE
R-ZBE—+F+-A=+—H K&£HE
TEH AT & AR RIE

HK$'000

BETTT

Land and buildings T REF 192,807
Capital contributions payable to joint ventures mMEEEERETE 41,412
Capital contribution payable to an associate m— g AREE 6,232
Capital contributions payable to available-for-sale investments [A] 2% il A] it (H & 2 1§ & )T & 181,031
421,482

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2017, the Group had approximately 12,000 (31 December
2016: approximately 10,500) full-time employees. The majority of these
employees work in the PRC. The Group's continuing operations offers
remuneration packages in line with industry practice. Employees'
remuneration includes basic salaries and bonuses. With the increase in the
total number of staff to cope with its business requirements, the Group's
continuing operations has recorded a 31% increase in staff costs to
approximately HK$2,615 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 as
compared to approximately HK$1,997 million for the corresponding period
of the last financial year. In order to attract and retain a high caliber of
capable and motivated workforce, the Company offers share-based
incentive schemes to staff based on the individual performance and the
achievements of the Company's targets. The Group's continuing operations
is committed to providing its staff with various in-house and external
training and development programs.

*

For identification purpose only
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Mr. GUO Wei
b
&
3
g
Mr. GUO Wei, aged 55, is the Chairman and an Executive Director of the XEEE A+ER: AAEBZER %
Group and is responsible for the strategic development and management of RUTES BEASEZEBEER %
the Group. Mr. Guo had been the Vice Chairman, the President and the ER BT -—F A PELED o
Chief Executive Officer of the Group since February 2001 and was EXAEBEEERLHELERAT %
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company in December BCHEBER _ZEELF+_AEEZTA =
2007. He is also a Director of certain subsidiaries and associates of the RKRBZEEEXF BANAEARAET Z
Company. Mr. Guo obtained a Master's Degree from the Graduate School of MEBAR R E AR ZESE - BEER
the Chinese Academy of Science (formerly known as Graduate School of the — NN\ F &S R BRI A BT (AT
University of Science and Technology of China) in 1988. He joined the T BRI E2R M KB ER) 2 B RIE
Legend group in 1988 and was once an Executive Director and Senior Vice TEA R — UNJ\VEF I B RS
President. Mr. Guo was awarded such major prizes included China's Top Ten B TEAHEESERTEER R
Outstanding Youths (2002), K2 & H & F K Rk 22 (Practical and WE AR R ERRH+ RERETF
Outstanding Youth of Achievement) (2002) by the China Association for B (—EZE—FE) D ERHR k24
Science and Technology, China's Top Ten Qutstanding Youths in Technology PEFRREBER|(ZFEZT_FEF) A
Innovation (1998), Future Economic Leader of China (2003), and the First Bl + ARG HSFERBBIFE(—ANNE
Annual China Young Entrepreneurs Creative Management Golden Honour B) HBERREEEM(ZZEZE=ZFF)
(2005). He was also selected as the 50 Most Powerful Businesspeople in FERETEESFLCERERAN SR (=
China by Fortune Magazine (Chinese version) in 2011 and 2012. EERFE)EEERA - HINEEIE)
RXRFRA T ——FR_F——FF
B&EAgE IMmATUmREMRZ—-
Mr. Guo is currently the Chairman of Digital China Information Service FEERBBMNEIEEERBIRGBR
Company Ltd. and the Chairman and Acting President of Digital China RAZEEREBPMNEBIEEERNDBR
Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen Shenxin Taifeng Group Co., AR (AIEBARINTRERE (RE) ki
Ltd) (all listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange). In addition, he is a BRAB)(ZHRFINFEZ ST L)
Director of Kosalaki Investments Limited which is a substantial shareholder ZEERENRIBAEH - N - % BKosalaki
of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Investments Limited (3% 7% % N B & &5 58
Futures Ordinance and is also a director of Value Global Investments XVERFTLEB AR AW EERR)MES
Limited. Mr. Guo was a Non-executive Director of HC International, Inc. LA X AValue Global Investments Limited < &

(listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), an FoEDITERERBAR AR (BIHE
Independent Director of Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd. ZHEBERLR REEMERIME
(listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange), a Director of DigiWin Software BAFIERET) ZIFATESE - LBH
Co., Ltd. (listed on the ChiNext of The Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and an RERBIROMERAR(RLEESR
MMEIEE  RETFR

~— AN\
Al

=

il P

Independent Non-executive Director of China Southern Airlines Company SR L) 8 7
Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong RAF(RERINEHEZZITAIZER EH)
Limited, The Shanghai Stock Exchange and The New York Stock Exchange). ZEE URFEEIFMEBRMDBERA
Besides, Mr. Guo is currently a member of the 4th Advisory Committee for AI(RNEBBAERZGFIAERA AR ER -
State Informatization. He was a Standing Committee Member of the 12th BEZR G RANBLFR G ET) 2
National Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative BN FEHITES o b PR ARE
Conference, the Chairman of Beijing Informatization Association and the HREECERFRNLZEGFNELZE
Chairman of the 6th Council of China Non-Governmental Science EZE -BNERETTFREARBAHD
Technology Entrepreneurs Association. He has over 30 years of experience gEFEFT_E2HNZEEZE - tRE
in business strategy development and business management. BltmeeRkPRAREBREEERK
SFENEEEEEER HAEEBERE
%E&%%%ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ@i‘f’i%ﬁ
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Mr. LIN Yang

Mr. LIN Yang, aged 51, is the Chief Executive Officer and an Executive
Director of the Group and is responsible for the overall business
management of the Group. He is also a Director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Lin graduated in 1988 with a Bachelor's Degree in
Computing Communications from the Xidian University and in 2005 with a
Master's Degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business. Mr. Lin is currently the Vice Chairman of Digital China
Information Service Company Ltd. (listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange).
He was previously the Executive Vice President and the President of the
Group and was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group in
April 2011. He joined the Legend group in 1990 and has over 27 years of
management experience in distribution business. Mr. Lin was awarded the
Lifetime Achievement Award by the IT Channel Elite Panel in 2001 and
recognised as the Most Influential Figure in IT Distribution of 20 Years in
2005. In 2013, he was also selected as one of the Leaders of the Year 2012
of the China Information Industry and Top-10 Annual Icons of the Year
2012 of Zhongguancun. Besides, Mr. Lin was the Director of IT Channel
Profession Council, under the MIIT (Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology).
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Mr. YU Ziping, aged 46, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the RBELEE N+H R_T—tF T
Company with effect from 27 December 2017. Mr. Yu currently serves as TZAZTEREZEARARA ZIEH %
the General Manager of Guangzhou Environment Energy CCl Capital Ltd. TEEZ -REEBRBEIMNMMIZIRIE L PP
("GEE"), the Chairman of Guangzhou Wisdom City Science and Technology FRIRETEBRAA ([WREREREIR] &
Development Co., Ltd. (a joint venture of the Company and GEE), a director REl EMNMPEEEENTREERAR 7

of Guangzhou Chengtou Runze Technology Co. Ltd. and Guangzhou
Chengtou Information Technology Co., Ltd., and the Legal Representative
and General Manager of Guangzhou Wisdom Shipping Marketing Data
Services Ltd., and is also a member of the Investment Committee of GZ
Investment Group. Mr. YU graduated from Northeastern University in 1994
with a Bachelor's Degree in Engineering and graduated from lJinan
University in 2003 with MBA Degree. He obtained architect qualification in
2000.

Mr. Yu had worked at several large state-owned enterprises and
multinational joint ventures. During the period, he was responsible for the
formation of companies, port shipping, urban infrastructure construction
and investment operation and management, as well as the development of
new industries and other business. In recent years, mainly focused on the
wisdom city and big data business. He was the Commercial Manager of
Business Development Department at Guangzhou Container Terminal Co.,
Ltd. from 2001 to 2003. He was the Manager of Investment Management
Department, Plan Purchasing and Contract Management Department and
Business Management Department at Guangzhou University City
Investment & Management Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2010.
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Mr. PENG Jing

Mr. PENG lJing, aged 31, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect form 27 December 2017. Mr. Peng serves as the
general manager assistant of Guangzhou City Investment Co., Ltd., the
chairman and general manager of Guangzhou City Investment Micro Loan
Co., Ltd., and the supervisor of Guangzhou City Jiapeng Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd.. Mr. Peng received a Bachelor's Degree in literature
from Guangzhou University in 2008 and received a Master's Degree in
business administration from Guangdong University of Finance and
Economics in 2017.

Mr. Peng has served several large listed financial institutions and state-
owned conglomerates, and has had nearly 10 years' experience on financial
investment and financing experience since 2008. During the period, he was
responsible for bank credit, trade finance, international business and
corporate financial investment. He has established several companies to
invest in funds, finance lease, small loans, urban infrastructure
construction and investment operation management, as well as the
development of emerging industries. In recent years, he has focused on
financial investment and financing, participated in the establishment of big
data funds and construction funds, and participated in the relevant
investment projects of the group's smart cities.
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Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis
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Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, aged 53, is an Independent Non- BEYREE A+=m5 BARAZHE %

executive Director of the Company. He holds a Master's Degree in VIERTES - FRATFEHEMNEEAK S

Management conferred by Guangzhou Jinan University, the People's BEPEIE LB - mAL A AR &

Republic of China. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Association of ARBHMAEEFEE A5 3

Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong NEEFHESE ERELERDE @

Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Institute of Chartered et gnlgdzsEASHMASE e

Accountants in England and Wales and The Society of Chinese Accountants ABENUNREENBEEG X MBRG

and Auditors, and a Certified Tax Advisor of the Taxation Institute of Hong Mo B —ZERAESHA  NE

Kong. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) and has over 30 oW ARIAEEERES  ER

years of experience in auditing, taxation, corporate internal control and MRBERE CEBARFE Rk

governance, acquisition and financial advisory, corporate restructuring and U EEEAEERA = 5K

liquidation, family trust and wealth management. Mr. Wong joined the BoBAER_ZEZENFNAMNARRD

Company in August 2006. Previously, Mr. Wong worked for KPMG, an Ale 2R EAEEREFTH (—H

international accounting firm, for 6 years and the Hong Kong Securities Bl MRt B4 AT) TIE@SF - Wit

Clearing Company Limited for 2 years. Mr. Wong has the appropriate EBPREEER AR TIEMTE - F %

professional qualifications, accounting and related financial management TEEEEBERSMARRAES L

expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of MARAEEMEK A HEEHEE

Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. B g kEEVHERER -

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent Non-executive Director, the ERAERATRARFEEERER AR

Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee as well (RBEABERIMABR AR ER L)

as a member of the Nomination Committee of China Oriental Group ZREUFNTES EREZE T RN

Company Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong ZESTXIRURRZZEEKE AR

Kong Limited); an Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the REBEERAF HGERREEERLD

Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and the ARGLEBAERAG (RN EBESE

Remuneration Committee of Wai Kee Holdings Limited, Integrated Waste ZTHFERRBEREM) 2 B IERTT

Solutions Group Holdings Limited and Greenheart Group Limited (all listed B ERZECXIFEUNRKREZES

on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited); an REMEESKE  ARABERLEIRE

Independent Non-executive Director and a member of the Strategy and BERAR (REBHAER AR AA

Investment Committee of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited (listed on the ERLET) 2B FEITEE MR IR

Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited); an Independent BELZEGXE : BEBRIZERERAR (R

Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a ERBAERIMBERARERLEM) 258

member of the Remuneration Committee of Hilong Holding Limited (listed VIERTESE BEZZESERENEM

on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited): ZEe@NE: BEBREMWKERDER

Independent Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit RAI(REBEBBERSGFABR AR ER L

Committee of Kunming Dianchi Water Treatment Co., Ltd. (listed on the MZBYEPTESTRERZTES T

Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited); and AR RPEFSHEBREGR QA (R

Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee ERBMERGMERDAER EH) 2%

and a member of the Nomination Committee of China New Higher VERNTES BERZESTIRELRSA

Education Group Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange ZEgKB -B-_ZT-/\FHWA=H

of Hong Kong Limited). With effect from 3 April 2018, Mr. Wong was re- B EBELERATRIESTMEBRME

designated as a Non-executive Chairman and Non-executive Director of RBAR(AIFEFELE) RPEDARS

Union Alpha C.PA. Limited (who was the Managing Director) and Union & (B8 @t ESAMER AR (FITE

Alpha CAAP Certified Public Accountants Limited (who was a Director), both F)ZERITERKEIERITEE - UEE

being professional accounting firms, in order to devote more time on his ABRZERELMARBIYIENITES

role of independent non-executive directors of listed companies and charity HEBSrREREIE-aXERAE

works. Mr. Wong is a Founding Director and member of Francis M C Wong NRESEESCHRARZANESE KK

Charitable Foundation Limited, a charitable institution. 8.
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Ms. NI Hong (Hope), aged 45, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company. Ms. Ni received her J.D. Degree from the University of
Pennsylvania Law School and her Bachelor's Degree in Applied Economics
and Business Management from Cornell University. Ms. Ni joined the
Company in September 2010. Currently, Ms. Ni is an Executive Director and
the Chief Investment Officer of Cogobuy Group (listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Ms. Ni has been the
Chairman of Inspire Capital since 2009. From August 2004 to January
2008, Ms. Ni served as the Chief Financial Officer and Director for Viewtran
Group, Inc. ("Viewtran"), and subsequently served as its Vice Chairman until
early 2009. Prior to joining Viewtran, Ms. Ni spent six years as a Practicing
Attorney at Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP in New York and
Hong Kong, specializing in corporate finance. Prior to that, Ms. Ni worked
at Merrill Lynch's investment banking division in New York.

Ms. Ni is currently serving as an Independent Director and acting as the
Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as a member of the
Compensation and Nomination Committee at JA Solar Holdings, Co. Ltd., a
NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: JASO) and an Independent Director, the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Compensation
Committee of ATA Inc,, a NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: ATAI). Ms. Ni
is a Director of ATA Online (Beijing) Education Technology Co., Ltd. (delisted
from the National Equities Exchange and Quotations System of China (also
known as the New Third Board) on 11 October 2017). Ms. Ni was an
Independent Director at KongZhong Corporation, a formerly NASDAQ-listed
company (NASDAQ: KZ).
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Dr. LIU Yun, John, aged 54, has been an Independent Non-executive FArBtr At+HEE B2 —NFE= T
Director of the Company since 25 March 2014. Dr. Liu currently is the Vice A-+HBRBETLARD _J,_Z?%_L?Fﬁﬁ B
President and Chief Operating Officer of Wanda Internet Technology Group. EX B LIR A ENGHESEER fﬁ
He was an Independent Non-Executive Director of ARM Holdings Ple. (listed BEFRETEZE - {BZ EA —E—NF &
on the London Stock Exchange) from December 2014 to September 2016. +TZREZF — XF 1A EEARM =

He was also a Senior Vice President of Greater China Field Division of
Conservation International from June 2016 to September 2016. He was the
Chief Business Officer of Qihoo 360 Technology Co. Ltd. from January 2014
to August 2015. Prior to that, he held senior positions in various renowned
companies in the communication or networking or software arena as
follows: Corporate Vice President and Head of Greater China of Google Inc.
from 2008 to 2013; Chief Executive Officer, China Operations of SK
Telecom Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2007; General Manager, Greater China of
FreeMarkets Inc. from 2000 to 2002; Chief Executive Officer, China
Operations of SITA Communication from 1999 to 2000; General Manager,
Telecommunication Group of The Lion Group from 1997 to 1999 and
Country Director, Greater China of Singapore Telecommunications Limited
from 1994 to 1997.

Dr. Liu graduated from Beijing Normal University with a Bachelor's Degree
in Mathematics in 1983 and obtained his Ph.D in Telecommunications
Network Management from Technical University of Denmark in 1997. In
2011, Dr. Liu undertook a Senior Executive Program of Harvard Business
School.
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Ms. YAN Xiaoyan, aged 66, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 27 May 2014. Ms. Yan
has served in the financial sector for about 40 years. She has taken up
senior positions at The People's Bank of China and Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China and served as a Director and a Vice President of
Bank of Beijing (listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange) since 1996 and
appointed as the President and the Vice Chairperson since 2002 and 2010
respectively. Ms. Yan was also the President of the 6th Executive
Committee of Beijing Banking Association. She was also the Chairperson of
Bank of Beijing Consumer Finance Company, an Advisor to The People's
Government of Beijing Municipality, the Vice President of the Listed
Companies Association of Beijing, the Assistant Secretary General of the
China Volunteer Service Federation and the Vice Director General and
Secretary General of the China Volunteer Service Foundation. Ms. Yan is a
female financial entrepreneur with outstanding acumen and leadership
rarely seen in the banking sector.

Ms. Yan is a senior economist, holding a Master's Degree in Economics
from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics and a Master's
Degree in Management from Xiamen University. She is a tutor to graduate
students and visiting professor at the Central University of Finance and
Economics, a school-level part-time professor at Xi'an Jiaotong University
and an instructor at the post-doctorate research station of Bank of Beijing.
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Mr. LAl Daniel, 88s, Jp, aged 71, was appointed as an Independent Non- FERBRE s T+ RZE %
executive Director of the Company with effect from 15 October 2015. He is —hETATHBEZERERARE L %
a seasoned Information Technology professional with over 40 years' FERTEZT - B NUEREANAREHE PP
experience in Hong Kong, Mainland, and Australia. He is a graduate of The FoEES RN EBNEREANTF @
Hong Kong Polytechnic University ("PolyU") and Griffith University with a BB ELR BREEREAREIKRE =
Master's Degree in Technology Management. He is a Distinguished Fellow of (TR - WA BIEH KENME R X
Hong Kong Computer Society, a Fellow of The Hong Kong Institution of EEBETEN HEEEAEHESHD o

Engineers, and a Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Lai is a Director of Digital Technology and Consultancy Company
Limited, Pearl River Delta IT Cooperation and Exchange Centre, Hong Kong
Quality Assurance Agency and Hong Kong Computer Society Foundation
Limited. He is a Visiting Lecturer at PolyU and was the Professor of
Practice (Computing) in the Department of Computing, PolyU from
19 September 2015 to 18 September 2017. He was also the Interim Vice
President (Administration) of PolyU from 19 March 2015 until
18 September 2015. Mr. Lai was the Government Chief Information Officer
of the Hong Kong SAR Government (the "Government") from January 2012
to January 2015. Prior to joining the Government, Mr. Lai was the Head of
IT at MTR Corporation Limited from 1999 to 2011 and held senior
managerial positions in IT field at The Hong Kong Jockey Club in Hong
Kong and Australia between 1978 and 1999.
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Mr. Lai was an Independent Non-executive Director of Tradelink Electronic
Commerce Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited) from 20 May 2011 to 1 January 2012. He was also a
Director and an Alternate Director of Hong Kong Cyberport Management
Company Limited (wholly-owned by the Government) respectively, and a
Director of Hong Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited, Hong
Kong Domain Name Registration Company Limited, E-Business Solutions
Limited, Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency, MTR Information Solutions
Company Limited, PolyU Research Limited, PolyU Enterprise Plus Limited,
PolyU Enterprise Limited, and PolyU Technology and Consultancy Company
Limited.

Mr. Lai contributed significantly in promoting the application of IT in Hong
Kong and the region. He has held many positions in public services and
higher education institutions including President of Hong Kong Computer
Society, President of Asian Pacific Information and Communications
Technology Confederation, Chairman of PolyU's Department of Computing
Advisory Committee, Chairman of Computer Science Departmental Advisory
Committee of City University of Hong Kong, and also Adjunct Professor of
the Graduate University of Chinese Academy of Sciences and the
Zhongshan Institute of the University of Electronic Science and Technology
of China.

In recognition of his contribution to the development and promotion of IT,
Mr. Lai was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2004. He was appointed a
Justice of Peace in 2001. He has received numerous local, regional and
international awards for his achievements.

RZE——FRAZF+HEZZ—Z=F
—A—BHE BILEETEZARS

BHBERAT(REBHEXSHBRA
BIEREM ZBUIRNTES  HHY
DREEEESHEEEEGRE A (B
[NeEHB)ICEERETES  UKSE
BHBMEFMERERAR  FEEA
AMERAR ZHEEERAF &
BEHEBERER BEEEEAZARA
A CEBEARMAERAR HEALES
RAR - BRECEARARREANEE
FEMBRABZES -

FEELHHERERRANE AR
AEELHERER - RERREREH
BRSSHERRECZERYE &
B EEEMBEER TAEMEA
AMEBBEIRE BAEFHEERE
REZEE@TF BERTAREKRME
ZEMZESERE URHEBZRAKX
BRAEGMETHEAZHLUERE
B -

BEER-_ZSENFEBERENEES
(BBS)  MEXRFHEEANMKEER RIEE
FEZEE R T —FEZTA
KFah0p)  REEZBEARM - B &
B R 421 o



Directors and

Company Secretary
SEERARIME

Company Secretary
REAME

Mr. WONG Chi Keung
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Mr. WONG Chi Keung, aged 51, is the Company Secretary of the FEREE AT ARAIZAA T
Company. Mr. Wong is mainly responsible for the financial reporting and WME - TEAEBERBEAEEZHHH %
listing issues of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated from The University of WMIERLETMEB - FTRERERE D PP
Hong Kong with a Bachelor's Degree in Social Sciences and is a fellow RE - BFEAGREBEELE2M W AR @
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an BEFHTFARESHMASEFEENRES e

associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Wong is currently a Non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of HC International, Inc. (listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Previously, Mr. Wong
worked for Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm, for 6 years.
Mr. Wong has over 28 years of experience in financial management and
corporate administration.
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The Group is committed to promote the highest standards of corporate
governance so as to enhance its transparency, accountability and corporate
value to the shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles,
code provisions and certain recommended best practices set out in the
"Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report” (the
"Code") and contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the "Listing Rules”).

During the year ended 31 December 2017 (the "Reporting Period”), the
Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the Code
throughout the Reporting Period, except the following deviations from
certain code provisions with considered reasons as given below:

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

All of the Non-executive Directors of the Company were not appointed for
any specific term. Since all Directors (save for the Chairman of the Board
or the Managing Director) are subject to retirement by rotation at each
annual general meeting in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company
(the "Bye-Laws") and shall be eligible for re-election. The Board considers
that the retirement of Directors by rotation at each annual general meeting
in accordance with the Bye-Laws has given the shareholders of the
Company the right to approve the continuation of the service of the
Directors.

Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Under the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, the number nearest to one-third shall retire from office, the
Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director shall not, whilst holding
such office, be subject to retirement by rotation. Therefore, Mr. GUO Wei,
the Chairman of the Board, shall not be subject to retirement by rotation.
Given the existing number of Directors of the Company, not less than one-
third of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at each annual
general meeting, by which each Director (other than the Chairman of the
Board) will retire by rotation once every three years at the minimum.
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Code Provision A.5.1 stipulates that company should establish a
nomination committee which is chaired by the chairman of the board or an
independent non-executive director and comprises a majority of
independent non-executive directors.

The Company does not establish a Nomination Committee at present. The
Company considers that the setting up of a Nomination Committee may
not be necessary as the Board has the power from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or
as addition to the Board according to the Bye-Laws, therefore, the Board
has been able to assume the responsibilities of a Nomination Committee.
The Board will identify and assess whether the candidate has the balanced
composition of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of
the businesses of the Company and suitably qualified to become board
members.

Code Provision D.1.4 stipulates that directors should clearly understand
delegation arrangements in place. Company should have formal letters of
appointment for directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment.

The Company has not entered into any written letters of appointment with
its Non-executive Director or any Independent Non-executive Directors.
However, the Board recognizes that (i) the relevant Directors have already
been subject to the laws and regulations applicable to directors of a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, including the Listing Rules as well
as the fiduciary duties to act in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders; (i) all of them are well established in their professions and
have held directorships in other listed companies; and (iii) the current
arrangement has been adopted by the Company for years and has proved
to be effective. Therefore, the Board considers that the relevant Directors
are able to carry out their duties in a responsible and effective manner
under the current arrangement.

Corporate Governange Report
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the "Model Code") as its code of conduct for Directors' securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry with the Directors, all of the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as
set out in the Model Code throughout the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two Executive Directors, two Non-executive Directors and five
Independent Non-executive Directors. During the Reporting Period, two
Executive Directors were resigned and two additional Non-executive
Directors were appointed. To the best knowledge of the Company, the
Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out under the heading
"Directors and Company Secretary” on pages 43 to 53 of this annual
report.

Role and Function

The Board takes responsibility for the formulation of the overall strategy
and the leadership and control of the Group such as the Group's long term
objectives and strategies, the approval of the Group's corporate and capital
structure, financial reporting and controls, internal controls and risk
management, material contracts, communication with the shareholders, the
Board membership and other appointments, remuneration of Directors and
other key senior management, delegation of authority to Board committees
and corporate governance matters.

During the Reporting Period, two general meetings were held, the Board
held four regular Board meetings at approximately quarterly intervals and
three ad hoc Board meetings where the Directors attended the Board
meetings either in person or by means of electronic communication.
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Appointments and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the Bye-Laws to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Only
the qualified candidates will be proposed to the Board for consideration
and the selection criteria are mainly based on the assessment of their
professional qualifications, experience and their possible contribution to the
Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed five Independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company is of the view that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers that they are independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group are
segregated, which are held by Mr. GUO Wei and Mr. LIN Yang respectively.
Mr. GUO is responsible for the strategic development and management of
the Group whereas Mr. LIN is responsible for the overall business
management of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2001 with specific written terms of
reference. The Audit Committee comprises three members and all of them
are Independent Non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is currently
chaired by Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis (who possesses the appropriate
professional qualification or accounting or related financial management
expertise), with Ms. NI Hong (Hope) and Mr. LAl Daniel, 88s, Jp as members.

The latest Terms of Reference for Audit Committee is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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The Audit Committee is responsible for, among others, the following:

monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Group;

reviewing the Group's financial controls, risk management and
internal control systems;

reviewing the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices;
reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the Group's internal
audit function and ensuring coordination between the internal and

external auditor; and

performing the Group's corporate governance function delegated by
the Board.

Corporate Governance Function

Under the Terms of Reference for Audit Committee now in place, the Audit
Committee has been delegated by the Board to perform the following
corporate governance function:

to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

to review the Company's compliance with the Code and the disclosure
in this Report as set out under Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two regular

meetings and one ad hoc meeting where the members attended either in

person or by means of electronic communication.
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For the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed with senior
management and the Auditor of the Company their respective audit
findings, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
legal and regulatory compliance, and discussed auditing, internal control,
risk management and financial reporting matters. The Board has, through
the Audit Committee, conducted regular reviews on the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group and discussed matters related to
corporate governance function during the Reporting Period.

The Audit Committee has no disagreement with the Board on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Auditor of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 31 August 2006 with
specific written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee comprises
three members and all of them are Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Remuneration Committee is currently chaired by Dr. LIU Yun, John,
with Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis and Mr. LAl Daniel, 885, Jp as members.

The latest Terms of Reference for Remuneration Committee is available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among others, the
following:

making recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure for all directors’ and senior management's remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; and

ii. making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management, which
includes benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments
and on the remuneration of Non-executive Director.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings where the members attended either in person or by means of
electronic communication to review and recommend the remuneration of
executive directors.

Details of the Directors' emoluments for the Reporting Period are set out in
note 8 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTOR'S ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

The attendance of each Director at the following meetings during the

Reporting Period is set out below:

Board members

Committee members

EEHFEERELHE
RBESHN SESHEUTEHZRL
BRETIIN T

Number of meetings attended/held

Ezens ZEERE LR/ BREERY
Annual Special
Audit  Remuneration Audit  Remuneration General General
Committee Committee Board Meeting Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
ERZBE FHzEE Ezg ERZEEE FHZEE RRBFEAE RRBAAE
Regular Ad Hoc
EH WA
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman) IREE(ER) - - 34 33 NJA NJA i il
TEA TEA
Mr. LIN Yang (Chief Brecutive Officer) M5 R4 (BEHTE) - - 34 33 NJA NJA o/ 1
TEA TEA
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. YU Ziping (appointed as Director on -~ RELRE(R=F—+F - - 0/ 0l NJA NJA 0jo 0jo
27 December 2017) FoAZFHtARZEE (Note 1) (Note 1) TERA TERA (Note 1) (Note 1)
EZ) (Brit)  (Witn) (1) (1)
Mr. PENG Jing (appointed as Director on -~ &% (RZF—+ 4 - - 0/0 0/ N/A N/A 0/0 0/
27 December 2017) FZAZt+tHEZFE (Note 1) (Note 1) THEA TEA (Note 1) (Note 1)
EF) (Hat1) (W) (Hat1) (Hst1)
Independent Non-executive Directors ~BYFHTEE
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis ENFEE Chairman Member 44 203 33 22 11 111
£ K&
Ms. NI Hong (Hope) RO /MA Member - 34 33 33 N/A o1 i
& TEA
Dr. LIU Yun, John Bnt - Chairman 44 03 NJA 0 i on
£ TEA
Ms. YAN Xiaoyan BERLT - - 44 203 NJA NJA o/t o1
TEA TEA
Mr. LAl Daniel, 885, JP WBHE 4k 8BS P Member Member 44 33 33 202 i il
K& K&
Notes: bt
1. As Mr. YU Ziping and Mr. PENG Jing were appointed as Non-executive Directors of the 1. HRAEFEEREREER_T—LtF

Company with effect from the conclusion of the special general meeting of the
Company held on 27 December 2017, their attendance were stated by reference to the
number of the Board Meeting and general meetings held during their tenure.

Mr. WANG Xinhui resigned as an Executive Director and President of the Company on
21 July 2017. Mr. WANG's attendance at the respective meetings during the Reporting
Period and by reference to the number of the relevant meetings held during his tenure
were as follows: Regular Board Meeting (2/2), Ad hoc Board Meeting (1/2) and Annual
General Meeting (0/1).

Mr. Denis Shing Fai YIP resigned as an Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and
President of the Company on 16 November 2017. Mr. YIP's attendance at the respective
meetings during the Reporting Period and by reference to the number of the relevant
meetings held during his tenure were as follows: Regular Board Meeting (2/2).
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DIRECTOR INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Newly appointed Directors will receive comprehensive induction on
appointment to ensure understanding of the directors' responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company also organizes and arranges seminars for andfor provides relevant
reading materials to Directors to help ensure they are apprised of the roles,
functions and duties of being a director of a listed company and the
development of their knowledge on the requlatory updates whenever
necessary or appropriate.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has provided training materials for all the then Directors to keep
them abreast of the latest development of legal, regulatory and corporate
governance. The Company has received the records of training from all
those Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company is committed to promoting diversity among the Board and
has adopted a board diversity policy (the "Board Diversity Policy") effective
on 20 August 2013. The Board Diversity Policy outlines the Board's
commitment to fostering a corporate culture that embraces diversity and,
in particular, focuses on its composition.

The Company recognising and embracing the benefits of having a diverse
Board values increasing diversity at Board level which is perceived to be an
essential element in achieving a sustainable and balanced development of
the Company. In determining the Board composition that best suits the
Company, a wide spectrum of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, ethnicity and cultural background, skills, regional and industry
experience, professional experience, length of service and other qualities of
directors will be considered. All Board appointments shall be made on the
basis of meritocracy and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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As at the end of the Reporting Period, the diversity of the Board is shown
in the following graphic illustrations. Out of the nine Directors comprising
the Board, two of them are women. Two of the nine Directors are Non-
executive Directors and five of them are Independent Non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the management
process. The Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of age, cultural and educational background,
professional expertise and skills. The Board endeavours to steer forward and
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
aspects appropriate to the requirements of the Company's business.

Diversity of the Board as at the end of the Reporting Period

Gender T 5I

77.78%

Role At

55.56%
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REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR

For the Reporting Period, remuneration to Auditor of the Company was
approximately HK$4,405,000 for audit services and approximately
HK$1,490,000 for non-audit services (HK$150,000 on agreed-upon
procedures on interim results, HK$178,000 on review relating to the
financial statements of offering and issuance of Taiwan Depositary Receipts,
HK$1,162,000 on agreed-upon procedures relating to the rights issue).

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

1.

Risk Management and Internal Control Notions

An effective and adequate risk management and internal control
system is important for ensuring the realisation of the Group's
strategic objectives. The risk management and internal control
system should uphold the effective conduct of business activities,
guarantee the truthfulness and fairness of accounting records,
ensure the Group's compliance with relevant laws, regulations and
policies, and safeguard the assets and interests of the shareholders
of the Company.

Features and Effectiveness of Risk Management and
Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish and maintain
the Group's risk management and internal control systems and to
review their effectiveness, for the purpose of safeguarding the
investments of shareholders and the assets of the Group. Such
systems are designed to manage, but not to remove, the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, provide reasonable (but not
absolute) assurance for freedom from material misstatements or
losses, and manage, but not eliminate, risks associated with the
operating systems and the risk of material errors in the objectives of
the Group. Such responsibility is primarily performed by the Audit
Committee, which conducts at least once annually, on behalf of the
Board, reviews on whether the Group's risk management and
internal control systems in respect of risk handling, financial
accounting and reporting are effective on an ongoing basis, whether
its operations are effective and efficient, and whether pertinent laws
and regulations have been complied with and risk management
functions have been fulfilled. The Audit Committee also monitors
risks associated with the Group's accounting, internal audit, finance,
staff qualifications and experience, operations and compliance. The
Board also understands its overall responsibility for internal control,
financial control and risk management, and reviews from time to
time its effectiveness in this regard.
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On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee continuously reviews
the risk management and internal control system. The review
procedures include, but are not limited to, listening to the reports
delivered by, among others, the business management teams, the
Internal Audit Department, the Legal Department and the external
auditors, reviewing the various work reports and key indicator
information, as well as discussing material risks with the senior
management team.

For the year 2017, the Board is of the opinion that the Group's risk
management and internal control system was both effective and
adequate. Besides, the Board believes that the Group's accounting
and financial reporting functions were performed by sufficient staff
who were suitably qualified and experienced and who had received
proper training and been adequately developed. The Board also
believes that sufficient resources were allocated to the Group's
internal audit function, which was performed by sufficiently
qualified and experienced staff and for which the training
programmes and budget were sufficient.

RISK MANAGEMENT

1.

Three-tier protection for risk management

In order to ensure the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system, the Group has adopted a three-tier
protection model and, under the supervision and guidance of the
Board, established the organisational structure for risk management
and internal control. The Company's actual circumstances are also
taken into account regarding the annual optimisation and
refinement of the structure.

o First line of protection — operations and management: Mainly
composed of the Group's functional and business
departments at various levels, it is responsible for the day-to-
day operations and management, and for the design and
execution of the relevant control measures for countering
risks.

ERZBERREFSHERTA
BB NN B RS - A A2
FFEfE (ETRR) BEEK S E
B - MEBE AT ED - SRS IA R SN ES
REMENRE  EHSEITIER
SHNERERER URESRE
BB wmEARR -

R_TE—LFEMS EFERR
AEEMREREE N ARREE R R
BRmMzER =4 EEEMEE
AEEMGT R BEREBED A
RHENBEBBEEERERERNE
IR B%BEIERXAEMR
DHEIIRER - EESTMEE
AEENAMBEZBEDERHN
BR G HBITEENER Bl
EIDSSEICEY) P2l Py

[ B i 32

1>

[ B 3R B = 3B PR AR

RIRIEE B T2 K N B B R AT Y
BRI AEERAT Bl RER
B oAEEFEMNEEMEET &2
N7 R B B Ko A BD BR 1R AE AR
B UYEFEAARANERBR
EITBIERTE -

e FoBhKg-EEREE:
TERAKEZERBE
XKEMER AERFE
EMEE XA B RN
1T HE BRI B LA FE T LR o



° Second line of protection — risk management: Mainly
composed of the respective risk management departments of
the Business Groups, it is responsible for planning and
carrying out the construction of the risk management and
internal control system and, in accordance with the
requirements of the risk management system, for organising,
directing, coordinating and implementing the collection of
risk-related information, risk identification, risk assessment
and measures countering material risks at the respective
Business Groups. As such, the second line of protection
assists the first line of protection in establishing and refining
the risk management and internal control system.

° Third line of protection — independent protection: Mainly
composed of the Group's Internal Audit Department, it is
responsible for supervising and assessing the risk
management tasks of the Group, thereby ensuring the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system.

Procedures for Identifying, Assessing and Managing
Material Risks

Below is an outline of the procedures employed by the Group for
identifying, assessing and managing its material risks:

o Risk identification and assessment: Risks that may have a
potential impact on the business and operations of the
Group's various Business Units are identified, and a risk
database is established and continuously updated; the
assessment criteria that have been reviewed and approved by
the management are used in the assessment of identified
risks, during which the likelihood of their occurrence and
their impact on the business are taken into account;

o Risk-countering: Through the comparison of risk assessment
outcomes, risks are ranked by priority, and risk management
strategies and internal control procedures are determined for
preventing, avoiding or reducing risks;
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° Risk monitoring and reporting: Relevant risks are monitored
on an ongoing and regular basis, and appropriate internal
control procedures are guaranteed to be in place; in the
event of any material change, the risk management policies
and internal control procedures would be amended; and the
risk monitoring results are reported to the Audit Committee
and the management on a regular basis.

Material Risks of the Group and Response Measures
During the year of 2017, the Group identified and assessed its
material risks by means of the aforesaid risk management processes.

With the constant changes in the scale, scope of operations and
complexity of its businesses as well as in the external environment,
the Group's risk profile may be subject to change. A brief account is
given below of the material risks that are currently faced by the
Group, of the changes in the material risks compared with the
previous year and the reasons for such changes, and of the risk-
countering measures that have been implemented.

The following table shows the top three material risks of the Group
in 2017:

Rank Risk

1 Risk of loss of talent

2 Remuneration and benefit package risk
3 Risk of reserve of talents
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Compared with the year 2016, each of these 3 risks became more
significant for the Group in 2017. Due to the effect of such factors
as external market competition and internal strategic adjustments, in
the year of 2017, the Group made adjustments to its organisational
structure and businesses while taking into account its actual
business needs, and the optimisation of some of its personnel led to
an increased workforce mobility. In addition, since the investments
and mergers or acquisitions conducted by the Group involved new
business areas, its reserve of talents and remuneration and incentive
regime had yet to be improved. All these factors mean that talent-
related risks have occupied a more significant position among the
Group's operational risks.

In order to counter, prevent and control these risks, in addition to
continuously refining the talent-related systems and processes
relating to staff selection, engagement, development and retention in
the course of its day-to-day management, the Group based upon its
strategic choices, established a dynamic talent resources database
that was realised through a sound supportive strategy, paid great
attention to the identification, development and retention of its
strategic key personnel, and enhanced the core competitive
advantages of the talent within the organisation. Besides, the Group
stepped up its efforts in relation to the active rotation of duties,
thereby allowing its management cadres to develop a comprehensive
skill set and expanding the room for talent development.

Besides, the Group has strengthened the risk control according to
the choices of wealth management financial products. In the past,
when choosing those wealth management financial products without
risk-ranking by financial institutions, the Group will require for
insurances or guarantees. In the year of 2017, when identifying a
guarantor, the Group has further straightened the assessment
requirements for the guarantee ability of the guarantor, and has also
improved the procedures of signing various important document
letters in person.

The Audit Committee assisted the Board in monitoring the Group's
overall risk profile, and reviewed the changes in the nature and
severity of the Group's material risks. The Audit Committee is of the
opinion that the management took suitable measures for countering
and managing the key risks such that they were maintained at levels
acceptable to the Board.
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Based on the findings of the review described above, the Board
confirms, and the management has also confirmed to the Board,
that the risk management and internal control system of the Group
(in all material aspects including financial control, operational
control and compliance control) is efficient and adequate, and has
been in compliance with the provisions on risk management and
internal control contained in the "Corporate Governance Code"
through the year and as at the date of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

1.

Internal Control System

The Group has consistently focused on the construction of its
internal control system. The management of the Group is responsible
for designing, implementing, and maintaining the effectiveness of,
its internal control system. The Board and the Audit Committee are
responsible for exercising supervision and regulation over the
appropriateness and effective implementation of the internal control
measures introduced by the management.

The Group's internal control system delineates the parties'
management responsibilities, authorisations and approvals in relation
to key actions, and lays down specific written policies and procedures
regarding material business processes. The communication of such
system to the staff also makes up an important component thereof.
The Group's policies covering its financial, legal and operational
aspects represent the management standards in relation to its
various business processes, and are to be strictly implemented by
each of its staff members.

The Board establishes and maintains a good internal control system
through the following principal procedures:

o Establishing a reasonable and effective organization structure
with clear functions, responsibilities and authority;
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° Laying down stringent procedures for budget preparation and
budget management; formulating business plans and financial
budgets annually; rationally adjusting the organisation
structure based on business planning; ensuring the effective
operation of the organisation; reviewing the implementation
of budgets and making reasonable adjustment based on the
latest conditions;

U The Internal Audit Department — independently assessing the
comprehensibility and effectiveness of the monitoring of
principal business, reporting its principal findings, with
recommendations, to the Audit Committee on a half-yearly
basis; and

U The Auditor — making a "Management Proposal” in its audit
of annual results, recommending ways to address some
internal management areas which are correspondingly weak;
the management making serious reviews, and making and
submitting improvement proposals to the Audit Committee.

Annual assessment of internal control

During the reporting period, the Internal Audit Department adopted
a risk benchmarking approach focused on key processes and controls
and reported the findings of internal audit to the Audit Committee
on a semi-annual basis. Through the Audit Committee, the Board of
Directors reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's internal control
system. The internal control system covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, risk
management functions and the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budgets in
relation to the accounting and financial reporting functions of the
Group. During the year of 2017, the Internal Audit Department did
not identify any significant deficiency in internal control.
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DISCLOSURES OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company's management assesses the likely impact of any unexpected
and significant event that may impact the price of the Shares or their
trading volume and decides whether the relevant information is considered
inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably
practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the
Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO. The Board is
responsible for approving and authorizing the Directors to issue certain
announcements and/or circulars.

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group on a going concern basis
in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The statement of the Auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 111 to 119 of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to maintaining an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and the investment community.

One of the principal channels of communication with the Shareholders
is the annual general meeting and all corporate communications of
the Company, including but not limited to interim reports, annual
reports, notices of meeting, announcements, circulars and other relevant
Company's information are available on the Company's website
www.dcholdings.com.hk.

The Company has adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy to handle
enquiries put to the Board.

The Company believes that communicating with Shareholders through its
website is an efficient way of delivering information in a timely and
convenient manner. Information on the Company's website will be
continuously reviewed and updated to ensure that information is current,
or appropriately dated and archived.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company recognises the rights of Shareholders and encourages
Shareholders to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to
attend the meeting. The general meeting provides an important opportunity
for Shareholders to express their view to the Board and management and
to exercise Shareholders' rights. Under the Bye-Laws, Shareholders have the
rights to convene a special general meeting and put forward agenda items
for consideration by Shareholders. The latest Bye-Laws has been uploaded
onto the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange respectively.

Shareholders are encouraged to use their attendance at meetings to ask
questions about or comment on the results, operations, strategy, corporate
governance andfor management of the Group. The Board members, in
particular, either the Chairmen or members of the Board committees,
appropriate management executives, external auditor and legal advisers
shall be available at general meetings to answer questions from
Shareholders.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of Digital China
Holdings Limited (hereinafter referred to as this “Report"), prepared
in accordance with the "Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide" issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, is aimed at explaining our policies, work and deliverables
achieved during the year in environmental, social and governance
matters to our stakeholders. Digital China Holdings Limited
(hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or “DC Holdings") identifies
relevant key performance indicators and disclosures based on its
strategies and market trends. These mainly include environmental
protection, talent development, quality assurance, protection of
customers' privacy, preservation and protection of intellectual
property rights, anti-corruption, and social charity. Unless otherwise
stated, the details contained in this Report pertain to all subsidiaries
of DC Holdings.

The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the Group's
risks relating to the environment, society and governance, and for
ensuring that the Group has put in place a suitable and effective
risk management and internal control system with regard to these
areas, and for the Group's strategies and reporting in relation to its
environmental, social and governance matters. In 2017, the Group's
risk management and internal control system with regard to
environmental, social and governance matters was functioning
effectively. The environmental, social and governance reporting team
is composed of personnel from various relevant departments of the
Group, and is responsible for the annual collection and organization
of relevant information for the purposes of compiling and
composing this Report.
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Il.  ABOUT DC HOLDINGS ZoBEREmMNER

DC Holdings was incorporated in 2000 by way of a spin-off from the
former Legend Group and listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in 2001 (Stock Code: 00861.HK). At
DC Holdings, we seek technologically-driven innovations in work and
daily life as part of our broader scheme to build a digitalised China,
as well as the provision of advanced and practical IT applications to
users, in tandem with our mission of benefiting the nation with
business achievements. DC Holdings and its subsidiaries had 12,025
employees as at 31 December 2017.

18 122 (% 20004F FR JR B A8 & B 9 I
MAE 2000 F EBBBER S
BRABEREMAR G R
00861.HK) o tHMNIEAE —EH RA[EE
W) 2B AR RS T ER
EVERBIET - HEEH T AR R
BREEPRMELE  BAMNE BN
FER - MNIEREEWB AR &
Z2017F12A31H B 120558 E T

b

H:i,
In the present era characterised by the accelerated integration of the EYETREERT A INERE R §
physical and virtual worlds, DC Holdings is engaged in proactive SR EINZEREBSHEE - LLEF =
innovation and has been realising rapid development centred on - REE AILERARKE & :Eé
such key areas as Sm@rt City, Sm@rt Agriculture, Sm@rt Medical BERT TERE TEEE- T
Care, Sm@rt Manufacturing, financial services and supply chain, EeeriE ok HEESS %
with the support of such technologies as cloud computing, Big Data EHERRRERE RELE P
and artificial intelligence. With its comprehensive leading position in DB BN BELINE@EE @
terms of its notions, strategies, technologies and practices, and % ARITEEB(LE+TFERM =
leveraging on its several decades of experience in industrial AEEEMENBEHRFED  #
informatization and its unique competitive advantages in Big Data BEARAREERANERSZR @R =

technology, DC Holdings has constructed the application setting with
regard to the future smart era, and has become a capital-driven
company that is decidedly engaged in innovation on the basis of
technological advancement.

Over the past 16 years since its listing, in a persistent effort to fulfil
its ambition pertaining to the "Digitalised China", DC Holdings has
first risen as a leader in the distribution of IT products in China and
later evolved into a leading integrated IT services provider and
Sm@rt City expert in China.

As an important promoter of the development of Sm@rt City in
China, as well as a leading enterprise in the IT service sector, we are
well aware of the profound impact that DC Holdings has on the
nation and her people. That's why we always seek long-term value
for the community and the natural environment in the process of
our ongoing innovation. As the employer of some of China's very
best talents in advanced technologies, we must ensure safety, health
and development opportunities for our employees. As a corporate
citizen, we devote our efforts to education for the younger
generation, aid for the underprivileged and the drive for social
progress in our commitment to the cause of charity.
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Going forward, DC Holdings will constantly pursue breakthroughs
and innovations for bridging the digital divide, keeping itself abreast
of the latest developments and in furtherance of our mission of
benefiting the nation with business achievements. Through a
trillion-worth Big Data revolution of industrialisation that is to be
bolstered by its "Digitalised China" conviction, DC Holdings will strive
to become China's leading cloud + Big Data services provider and
contribute to the magnificent realisation of the "Two 100-year
Goals" for the Chinese nation.

INVOLVING STAKEHOLDERS

DC Holdings persists in maintaining sound communications with
stakeholders through different channels to achieve mutual
understanding. The views of stakeholders provide an important
reference that helps us to fulfil our social responsibility diligently
and implement solid corporate governance. Our ability to pursue
sustainable development will be enhanced as a result.

Investors/shareholders

We communicate with our investors and shareholders primarily
through the following to understand their views on the Company's
development and to inform them about the future developments of
the Company:

o Annual general meetings
o Annual reports, financial statements and announcements
o Our company website

Customers and the public
We communicate with our customers primarily through the
following to understand how they view and rate the Company's
products and services and to explain the Company's commitment in
matters such as quality assurance for products and services and
customer information security:

o Customer service hotline
° Customer opinion survey
o WeChat account
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Staff T
We communicate with our employees primarily through the ZMFEERBUTEEMEMNE
following to understand their views on the Company's policies on TH#TAEB  THRUOMEQANE

staff benefits and work environment,
understanding of the Company's developments,
harmony at work:

to give them a better
and to foster

o Staff training

THRAMBE THERBSETENE
R UEMMETRIRNER -
BEME R TEAE :

o BTITE

. Staff recreational and sporting activities e BINEED

. Internal email system o W*Bﬁg%ﬂ S »

. Intranet of the Company o ZNESTIANEE TR i

. Staff performance evaluation o  BIHMTMH 5

3

Community T E «“

We communicate with the communities where we operate primarily BME2BEBUTERECMBEMATE %

through the following to understand their views on our operations Rt EESTIRE - TR M {%

in such communities and to ensure that such operations are able to EHEPELNER  RFRE P

exert positive effects on the communities: FHMELEH /T ERBREEX &
i : &

. Our company website e ARHuh

o WeChat account e WMERAR 75

o Media reports o EEWE

IV. ENVIRONMENT M~ BRIE
We at DC Holdings are clearly aware of the challenges facing the TEBMNIER - B R ANBEME
natural environment to which humanity is subject. In our K B2 B AR N E M ER T [R A B

commitment to protecting the environment and implementing a
stringent policy for environmental protection, we undertake to
reduce the environmental impact of our business operations and
comply strictly with pertinent local laws and requlations, in order to
lead by example in the practice of environmental protection.

In light of DC Holdings' business nature, we are of the opinion that
the Group is not involved with any harmful waste or any large
quantity of harmless waste and does not make any significant use of
water resources or packaging materials, and that accordingly it
would exert no significant impact on the natural environment and
natural resources. We affect the environment primarily through the
consumption of power and fuel, as well as carbon emissions arising
indirectly from the business trips of our staff.
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To fulfil the environmental responsibilities of DC Holdings, we

RTEITHMNERNRRES K

pledge to: PIs -

° Comply strictly with national and relevant local laws and ° BB ETERR R EE RS
regulations; IREEER

° Establish and improve our internal policy for environmental ° BUWTECEANSNIRE

protection and system for environmental supervision and
management;

° Protect natural resources, assess the potential environmental
risk and impact of our commercial activities, and reduce the
negative environmental impact of our operations in a
systematic manner;

o Provide employees with training in legal and other knowledge
pertaining to environmental protection;

o Keep record of and monitor greenhouse gas emissions
generated in our business operations and make plans to
reduce such emissions in relative terms on a year-on-year
basis;

° Sort and separate wastes generated in the production and
operation of the Company, reduce the generation of wastes
and increase the percentage of recycling of materials (such as
consumable materials used in production and packaging);

o Reduce energy consumption at venues of operation through
effective measures.

In 2017, through the refined management of energy consumption
and the effective control of equipment and facilities, the Group
consistently implemented its initiatives for energy conservation and
consumption reduction while ensuring the continuance its
operations. For instance, compared with 2016, the annual aggregate
amount of the energy costs (for water, power and steam) in respect
of Digital China Technology Plaza of Beijing (where the Group's
headquarters office is located) experienced a diminution of
RMB670,000 or approximately 5%, representing its first-ever
negative growth.

Meanwhile, the Company was dedicated to enhancing its at-source
management for energy conservation, and contributed to the
abatement of environmental pollution at the society level. The
Company also encouraged its staff to adopt such IT-based workplace
tools as cloud-powered video conference systems in order to reduce
unnecessary business trips, thereby lessening carbon emissions.
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Below is an account of the Group's consumption profile in 2017 for

power and fuel, i.e. the major forms of energy consumed by it:

REER2017F 2 EEEREE N
PORMEERBRT

()  Power consumption (=) EHEHR

DC Holdings and its subsidiaries own or lease more than 60 BN AR AR 2 B A RIE AR
offices, 97 warehouses and a large-scale data centre in A BBESHME S XEB
Mainland China and Hong Kong, consuming 14,327 MWh of BB ANE - 97E R E -
electricity during the year and involving carbon emissions of UE—ExZ2HEH L F
13,464 tonnes. This represents a year-on-year increase of 68 NBEHEE B143278 8 &

tonnes or 0.5% compared with the 13,396 tonnes for 2016 B BT EE B BR BE BN 13,464 .

and is mainly attributable to the growth in the storage W - [A bb20164F A913,396MR i

business volume, reflected by the fact that the number of F TeslE - _EFZosm o FE §

warehouses in 2017 increased by 17 compared with 2016. REAREREBHE 8L M - -

B IR 1E20174F B & B 2 82016 «

FRM T 718 - .

=

(1) Fuel consumption (=) BmfE A fé

DC Holdings owns a large logistic truck fleet that enables us fINIERRE A R YR @

to provide quality logistics services to our customers. Some B EARRPIEEEED %
offices also own limousines for use by senior management. YIm RS - mEB D A E I

During the year, the vehicle fleet of DC Holdings consumed FEBKHEaEEABLRTL 77

184 kL of petrol and 116 kL of diesel, involving carbon
emissions of 733 tonnes. This represents a year-on-year
decrease of 123 tonnes or 14.37% compared with the 856
tonnes for 2016, and is mainly attributable to the decrease in
the number of transportation trucks on the vehicle fleet,
which translated into a reduction in diesel consumption.

Note:

The data relating to carbon emissions is estimated by reference to the
"Greenhouse Gas Protocol — Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards”
issued by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for
Sustainable Development. The conversion factors for carbon emissions involved
in power consumption are based on the "2016 Baseline Emission Factors for
Regional Power Grids in China (Consultative Draft)" issued by the Division on
Climate Change under the National Development and Reform Commission. The
conversion factors for carbon emissions involved in fuel consumption are based
on applicable coefficients set out in the "2006 IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change) Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories"
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V. EMPLOYMENT -ERE
DC Holdings enters into labour protection contracts with its staff in BN 2R IR B AR K R (5 B R ) TN FE 8
strict compliance with the requirements of the Labour Law and EERERMEREE TE SR

Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report

other pertinent laws and regulations.

Regarding welfare and benefits, the Group makes contributions to
social insurance funds, including pension, medical, unemployment,
work injury and maternity funds, and the housing provident fund for
the benefit of its employees in accordance with the requirements of
the national policies. The Group also maintains life insurance, traffic
accident insurance and supplementary medical insurance for the
benefit of its staff. A free annual medical check-up for employees is
arranged by the Company. In addition, employees with satisfactory
performance are entitled to discretionary annual bonuses subject to
the Company's business results. In addition to such annual leave as
is provided for under the national policies, employees are entitled to
marriage leave, maternity leave and bereavement leave. Male
employees are entitled to 15 days of paternity leave, while female
employees can, during their breastfeeding period, take time off for 2
breastfeeding sessions each day.
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We consider the recruitment, training, promotion, transfer,
remuneration, benefits or termination of an employee strictly
without regard to factors such as age, gender, health status, marital
status, family status, race, colour, nationality, religion, political
affiliation and sexual orientation. To retain high-calibre staff for the
benefit of the Company's ongoing development, we will grant
commendations or rewards based on the contributions, performance
and skills of employees.

FEHRES - 5ol B SR FEA
wBACRIEAEHFTE BATE
XETIMFE - MHh - F8EE-
BN KEMUL- ik B
& B R Boa kB E
MEREZFE- ?%Tﬁmﬁ%}\
T HBRARNBERR AAE
REBMWER - TIERBEMELAE
52 AT AR

With a strong emphasis on the cultural activities of staff, DC WJHT BOFEB T b/EE - 1B ﬁ
Holdings sees the organisation and enhancement of staff R -E2ETNEBEHEASHYA §
recreational and sporting activities as an important component AL EEMEZHEKILD - KL -
contributing to the building of our corporate culture. For this TEIHX-  PEREFELE - ‘é
reason, staff swimming and badminton clubs have been formed, and HERTEIFIREHR -BRER - %
a variety of recreational and sporting activities such as staff family ZEPERE EXE BEZF S
outing day, health week, national badminton and basketball g;%%ﬁ’]ﬁﬁg/ﬁﬁ 5&%/3@”3}] fﬁ.
tournaments as well as festive parties are being held. These FE TEEETEINESRE &
activities have enriched the off-hour time of staff and provided an R %ﬂ‘%gﬁﬁ&E\I%@Ti %

opportunity for employees from different business units to mingle
and interact. They are also a ready cure for the relief of work
pressure.

Company's staff family outing day, 2017
NERIFEIFINRERES

meoNENFE MAERR/ET
BW - BN -BERSEKE-
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Company's national badminton day (Beijing region), 2017

REROTFEEPERBIERERIES

Company's basketball tournament, 2017 Christmas flash mob organised by the Company's
017F R RERBEE cloud choir, 2017
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In addition, to help employees meet pressing financial needs and
support employees suffering from critical illnesses, DC Holdings has
established a "Staff Mutual Aid Foundation". With the strong support
and participation of employees, the foundation registered 6,180
members and received membership fees of RMB742,000 in 2017.
Eight cases of financial compensation and eight cases of staff aid

were completed with the payment of RMB673,000 in compensation.

BN BTUERRAEINREZ
Z MEREQRAUERERET
M FEEE BMNERKS T
[BIEMESE |- FEINAN
STEHEZETN 07FBTEBHE
T AE AH6180A c WEREE AR
74280 FZEBABETIEE
Befl - SEAK I Bh B Teffl - BEE A
R #6738 7T -

Staff headcount ETAH i
As at the end of 2017, DC Holdings had 12,025 employees, analysed 017FEK BINERETAERAE §
by gender, age, profession and academic qualifications as follows: 12025A + MR - Fik - BEME i
FEEHWT - «
o
T
Male Female Total Percentage =
Category BoEXE e z A g %ﬁ
e
By age BRRBRERBEK =
Below 30 3055 A T 5,141 1,654 6,795 56.51%
30-50 30-50%% 3,630 1,471 5,101 42.42%
81
Above 50 505% A 105 24 129 1.07%
Total &t 8,876 3,149 12,025 100.00%
By profession RBEEER
Technical staff R AE 7,072 1,531 8,603 71.54%
Sales staff HEAE 828 309 1,137 9.46%
Finance, administration and B 7§ ~ 1718 -
management staff EEAEB 456 1,094 1,550 12.89%
Other servicing staff HinfR B A B 520 215 735 6.11%
Total &t 8,876 3,149 12,025 100.00%
By academic qualifications 1% F8 28 [ #8 X
Doctorate degree Bx 15 4 19 0.16%
Master's degree [l 412 309 721 6.00%
Bachelor's degree ARFE 5,302 2,053 7,355 61.16%
Tertiary college or below RKERUT 3,147 783 3,930 32.68%
Total &t 8,876 3,149 12,025 100.00%
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Staff turnover rate mk =
The staff turnover rate of DC Holdings for 2017 is indicated as 20174 - FINIERE TRAEMT
follows: PR
Turnover rate
Category BloEE mKE
By profession RBREEBER
Technical staff BT A& 39.02%
Sales staff HEAER 30.78%
Finance, administration and management staff B TH-EEAE 28.210%
Other servicing staff HEMRBAEB 21.98%
Total &t 35.74%
Remark: The staff turnover rate for 2017 increased by approximately 10 percentage #aF © 20179F » B TR R 800165F #925.11%
points from 25.11% for 2016. In particular, the staff turnover rate of Digital EF #1018 B 25 B E e N R R R
China Information Service Company Ltd., a subsidiary of DC Holdings, THI N EISE B ARG R D AR A A
increased by approximately 8 percentage points (mainly attributable to the BT RAREMABEED I (EER
higher attrition rate arising from the strategic, business and efficiency CHTEA AN R AR B K
changes in the new joint venture), while that of other business units WREFTEMNZECEREBRERRS)
accounted for approximately 2 percentage points (mainly attributable to the HMEKELHMEESH(EER
higher "passive" attrition rate arising from Sm@rt City, financial services, BB SRR LA
82 organisational structure adjustments relating to the controlling stake 4 HEEALEMABEBEEROED
function, as well as personnel optimisation). BREZ) -

Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report
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VI. SAFETY AND HEALTH

The day-to-day operations of DC Holdings largely involve computer

applications and desk work conducted in the office. While such
activities do not involve significant risks against occupational safety
and health, we are nevertheless committed to the protection of the
occupational health and safety of employees, and have formulated
an occupational health and safety policy with a high level of
operability, with a view to giving effective protection to staff health
and safety. Only by enhancing and safeguarding the occupational
health and safety of employees can we effectively increase our

ERERMXETERE  LEE
PUBBABEL 2 RERERR
gAML - HADBARFREET
MBEREELE YHEAEE
RIRFEENRBEREAZ 2R
R BRREEINRRELS -
RERSMREE T B2 REMA
REKF  THREMESEES

production efficiency and achieve mutual success for both the HMEINCFHEETHNER - H M «kg
Company and the staff. We comply strictly with the laws and BRIRETEEWEBEENBRERR 5]
regulations pertaining to occupational health and safety at the place HZ2HERERER  ELES =
of business. At our work premises, requisite health and safety guides FTRETRHENENRERZ2IE éi
are provided to all staff, while regulations and measures for the Sl TR ELHERESETR T
administration of contingencies in occupational health and safety &0 Kt - WA B TIRIEE FH {%
have also been formulated. Employees are provided with clean BHERRE KAXK BEHNERD P
washroom facilities, drinking water, clean facilities for food TEETREENMAZEAA - BBEX @
preparation and storage and clean tableware. Through the overall EFRFCRFAERNE BAE =
transformation of the new ventilation and air purification system in HE A% ERT A KPM25E I E10

buildings, the PM2.5 value has been controlled at all times at less AR - B ZEINPMERERR - TR .

than 10 in every corner of our office premises. This means that even
when the prevailing outdoor PM value stands at dangerous levels,
our entire workforce can still enjoy premium air quality, which
represents a strong protection for their physical health. Our
administration department is responsible for organising daytime and
night-time security, maintenance of firefighting equipment and first-
aid kits, and fire drills in relation to Digital China Technology Plaza
of Beijing. No work-related fatal casualty of DC Holdings staff was
reported during the year of 2017, nor was any loss of work days
resulting from workplace accident recorded.
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VIl.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

As an enterprise that always strives for innovation, DC Holdings
ensures that adequate resources are set aside each year for staff
training. Our training pyramid has been designed on a bottom-up
basis to match our employees' career development paths within the
Company. All training courses are aimed at enhancing the
competence of employees for the jobs they undertake at different
stages of their career, as well as facilitating their upward movement.
Different training sessions are provided to staff at different levels.
Induction training for new employees focuses on the current
business status, strategic objectives, history and culture of the
Company, while trainees also learn to appreciate the importance of
team work. The business departments design and organise specific
business training according to their needs. The online learning
centre provides general training that effectively helps employees to
enhance their competence and performance in work and improve
their professional aptitude in general. The Company also sponsors
selected staff to enrol in training for specialised skills, management
skills or examinations for professional qualifications provided by
external training organisations.

Analysed by ranking, the average training hours received by each
employee as recorded in our HR training system are set out as
follows:

President and Vice President 8.45 hours
Senior Manager to General Manager 10.69 hours
Manager 5.99 hours
General staff 7.74 hours

Note:  The figures stated above reflect internal skills and management training
organised by the HR Department only, but exclude external training, specialised
training provided by individual departments and seminars hosted by guest
speakers.
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Analysed by gender, the average training hours received by each
employee are set out as follows:

Male 8.17 hours

Female 7.30 hours

Analysed by training content and business department, the average
training hours received by each employee as recorded in our HR
training system are set out as follows:

RUERE D  BREEFHERE
AT

s 8.17/)N B
Z 730/ B

WEENABMERE S EED - HREZ
RGN E B P19 F 5576
g

Management training 0.77 hour BB 0.77/ )N “E
Corporate culture 4.40 hours ®EX 4,40/ N5 S
General skills 0.33 hour AR 0.33/)\ B -
Specialised skills 2.36 hours =ZEEI 2.36/)N B E
o
VIIl. QUALITY ASSURANCE N-HBREE =
DC Holdings provides customers with integrated IT services, total IR AR PR TE RS E iﬁ
supply chain solutions and services and other services, mainly on the RENEBSITRY - 2585 EERH &
basis of IT solutions. In each of our business segments, we have AR R EMERER - £58— =
formulated a specific system to ensure that our service standards EXEBRR - RMBEEENER
exceed customers' expectations. BRRFEHKFBUESHEE - o

Instant Logistics is a subsidiary through which DC Holdings operates
its supply chain business. Based on our proprietary Digital China
Gold Storage logistics software, Instant Logistics provides clients
with supply chain-related integrated services covering management,
storage and transportation. Clients can track their goods in transit
via the website of Instant Logistics (http://www.itl.cn/) or, through
the 400 service hotline, make enquiries and file complaints with
Instant Logistics personnel on a real-time basis. In the event that a
complaint is received by the hotline staff, it would be resolved
within 48 hours by a supervisory staff member of Instant Logistics
who shall closely track the matter. To ensure the quality of its
services, Instant Logistics provides training to its staff in relation to
the handling of complaints and responses to customer enquiries.
Approximately 80% of Instant Logistics' transportation services are
provided by outsourced truck fleets. To ensure the service quality of
these outsourced fleets, such as safe and timely deliveries, Instant
Logistics maintains close liaison with the fleet operators and
evaluates drivers' performance on a regular basis.
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Regarding the provision of information services, Digital China
Information Service Company Ltd. ("DCITS"), a subsidiary of DC
Holdings, has, in line with its customer-oriented service philosophy,
built a service support regime from the customers' business point of
view and an end-to-end quality management regime on the basis of
the 1SO9001 quality management system and the 1S020000 service
management regime through a combination of the ITSS information
technology service standards and its experience over the years,
utilising the ITIL and PMBOK knowledge regimes.

In line with its objectives of prioritising quality and customer
satisfaction, DCITS places a strong emphasis on the provision of
quality services to its customers and is dedicated to fulfilling its
service pledge to all customers. As such, it has established the
Service Management Department, an independent supervisory body,
to carry out the responsibilities of constructing the quality system,
managing the delivery process, exercising control over the process,
and managing customer satisfaction. It strives to reflect customers'
opinions and expose issues in internal delivery management in a
timely and accurate manner, comprehensively analyse the
deficiencies in the implementation of designed regimes for service
and product delivery, and drive improvements in processes and
capabilities in a vigorous manner, thereby offering support and
protection for the development of core corporate competitiveness.
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Through the exploration of various methods and management
innovation over the years, and by making best use of its own value,
DCITS has gradually refined and strengthened both the breadth and
depth of its quality management, and enhanced its "stickiness" with
regard to businesses and customers. Quality management has also
gradually shifted away from a single, result-oriented reasoning
model, towards the construction of an enquiry-based tracking
mechanism coupled with an issue management approach that
features quantitative benchmarking and professional quality audit.
This represents a shift of focus towards the management of the

BBZFERTEEIME LRI
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delivery process, and the move from defensive quality improvement 12 - B2 N BB AR ET B R AR U - ﬁ
to an aggressive approach centred on service experience. Focused on FEREHBRMIBEREEERE §
benchmark management, satisfaction management, as well as the X ERUELLNEEESE -4
design and continuous improvement of capability management, the TSSEBITHERE NKAE —LFE E
model has evolved into a quality management system at the RGP EREEMBREAIESN %
organisational level and project level that allows for quantifiable HEEEER ZETEHERMH— =
quality measurements. In the Class | compliance evaluation relating BRA o i‘ﬁ“
to the sophistication of ITSS operational maintenance capability, %
experts have unanimously recognised the quality management E
system for its quantitative results and controllable process.
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The TOP payment system, an internally developed integrated support
platform for the support and maintenance service regime and
delivery process management, embodies the practice and experience
of DCITS in the IT service sector over the years as well as various
industry standards and theories. Its functions include providing full-
cycle management over the entire delivery business process and
support process, and translating the pledge to customers into
quantifiable benchmarks for the full cycle of IT services from project
start-up to project completion. Process control points and result
indicators are established to facilitate real-time monitoring of the
operational status and to achieve quality control throughout the
process.

BEMEMNIBEEERBTERENR
NBEREERNRAIETFE - X
NERG &6 78N BETR
BEHEZFERNEBRRLR UK
SIZER AR - WEBERM
EPHEBRENIERENEZ S
AEER  HHEPHARELA
AE/iEE EFNEEREIE
BERMITRE LR £E
BRI MA RIEIZ  EREE
BEMRE BRE2AEBEEEH -



Environmental. Social and

Goverhanece Report
R~ ate Ml ERMm S

Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report

While exercising stringent control over the quality of delivery, DCITS
is even more concerned about customers' level of satisfaction with
services as well as each and every comment and suggestion. The
Service Management Department, a supervisory and executive body
at the organisational level that is independent from the delivery
team, has been formed for conducting customer satisfaction surveys,
through which feedback and relevant data are collected, on the
Department's own initiative, from customers on an objective and
equitable basis in connection with the various parts of the business
process. DCITS communicates with customers through various
channels, such as its service hotline, website and customer-end APP,
which allow it to record every customer enquiry or complaint in a
systematic manner. It has also established a sound benchmarking
system for satisfaction evaluation and a satisfaction management
system, in which tools are employed for the performance of such
functions as satisfaction surveying, results computation, and the
management of underperforming areas requiring improvement. The
assessment results based upon benchmark data and the evaluation
results regarding customer satisfaction are both taken into account
for drawing up an analysis and summary of the relevant issues. This
is then passed on to the delivery department for improving on the
shortcomings, and to the product department for optimising the
design of services in light of customers' needs.
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In order to adapt to the rapid expansion in scale of the services
business and ensure the stable enhancement of service quality, and
in a bid to realise its objectives of "quick response, rational
coordination, commands for decision-making, and effective
protection”, in 2017 DCITS designed and developed the SOC master
command centre platform — a Big Data decision-making platform
with a high level of visibility — with the support of vast data from
the TOP payment system. Integrating various technology tools and
information resources, the SOC command centre is composed of
such functions as service desk, resources deployment, tactical

BT EERSEGBRREERE
RERGSEEEIEA BRI
REE - REFE RKREE-A
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WIEEE R L F & o SOCHE 1 A b
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HIBEWERZIE REKL2EE 4
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command, data collection and presentation, and discussions for BER - AT MEEBIEENT «E
decision-making. The platform can perform highly-visible internal BRAETIEE - HIHINRHZ RIS EHOF §
functions relating to tactical command, while demonstrating R EBAREEG -BBMN -
corporate image in various areas externally for the enhancement of 15 - GPSIENL - BV REEIE D T A& ‘&
brand image. Through such means as WeChat, GPS positioning, BEZH KRRERTEEBEZESFAF %
dynamic data analysis and data mining, and the display of B -EBERTAWREEABEHEBLH S
commands on large screens, front-office implementation personnel RREEMBHEIE  BHEEA éﬁ“
are allowed to make quick responses and perform mobile processing BEEERABNMEGHERNER %
in respect of business matters; whereas back-office management B - HEGOMEARERENE E
staff can dynamically acquaint themselves with the real-time status RRERME - AR EBPEHMEN
of personnel and spare part resources, perform real-time tracking of BB mEEk - RETRKEK

89

event distribution and health status, and intelligently identify and
troubleshoot key business issues, while having access to the
fulfilment status of operational indicators and trend analysis in
respect of different periods. Leveraging on modern information
technology, Internet technology, GPS technology and multimedia
technologies, the platform enables the rational coordination and
deployment of available resources in the vicinity and a quick
connection between the site in question and the command centre,
thereby effectively discontinuing any crisis and responding to
contingencies. This can effectively secure the realisation of SLAs
while quickly restoring customers' business systems.
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DCITS is also committed to the development of China's information
service industry. It is one of the earliest participants in the ITSS
standard formulation project of the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology (“MIT"), contributing the results of its
innovative business ventures to the formulation of industry
standards. On the other hand, we have also leveraged advanced
concepts of the standards to facilitate our internal system
optimisation and capacity development. DCITS has been designated
by the MIT as a corporate member of the highest grade in the
“National IT Service Standard Work Group" and has served as the
first executive president of the branch ITSS association with full
involvement in the formulation, pilot test, and promotion of the
National IT Service Standards. ITSS are being gradually implemented
by IT service enterprises to facilitate comparisons among enterprises
with regard to servicing ability and service quality. In 2017, the
technology service business of DCITS continued to strengthen its
advantages in standardisation and commercialisation, and enhanced
its development in data analysis and smart operational maintenance.
It was also given the "Smart Operational Maintenance Innovation
Award" for 2017 based on the assessments made by experts from
the business and technology departments of the top three
telecommunications operators, scientific research institutions in the
industry, and third-party institutional experts. This came as an
industry-wide recognition of DCITS's persistent focus on smart
operational maintenance services, its continuous R&D dedication to
this field, as well as its noteworthy innovation achievements.

PROTECTION OF CUSTOMER PRIVACY

Private customer information required to be kept confidential is
involved in the course of operation of DC Holdings, including the
private information of both individual customers and corporate
customers.
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As of now, the subsidiaries of DC Holdings have operated Sm@rt
City platforms in numerous cities. Local citizens will provide
personal information such as names, identity card numbers and
social security numbers to our subsidiaries for verification purposes
when they open user accounts. Moreover, Instant Logistics and
e-commerce websites of the supply chain business of DC Holdings
also receive personal information provided by the customers when
they place orders, such as the names, contact methods and delivery
addresses of the recipients.
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At the same time, in the course of its business cooperation with R WIERTEEEEEPAE §
corporate clients, DC Holdings would also request such clients to BED  thgEREFRHEFED -
provide information such as corporate financial information, TCEMBEE EBBREELE R ‘&
information relating to business development, bank account and TERFPER 2XEWNBEE - EXE %
business licence details, and the identifications of legal REAFIERAGHEHSEER - =
representatives or guarantors. i‘ﬁ“

&
The aforesaid private information of customers is only accessible by HRUEEFPRBAES  BMRE E
staff members duly authorized by the Company, who have signed a BHGEERNBEIEE  EL8
confidentiality agreement with DC Holdings obliging them to ITHMBMNIEREZRRE B
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maintain and protect the confidentiality of customer information.
We pledge to all customers of the Company that we will respect and
protect the privacy of customer information. We have adopted
exacting standards for information security and confidentiality to
protect the privacy of customer information, and have taken
measures to ensure strict compliance with such standards by our
employees.

PROTECTION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
RIGHTS

Innovation is one of the underlying values of DC Holdings. All
solutions supplied by us are the results of the hard work of the
sizeable R&D team of DC Holdings and its partners. As at
31 December 2017, DC Holdings owned 508 software authorship
rights and product technology patents with proprietary intellectual
property rights. During the financial year, we refined our
management system for advocating innovation, and constructed a
platform for intellectual property rights management which enables
the online management and maintenance of such rights.

4
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XI.

At the same time, we also hold the results of innovation of third
parties in high regard and have zero tolerance for infringement of
third-party intellectual property rights on the part of our employees
during the R&D process. During the year, no litigation was brought
by other companies against DC Holdings in connection with
intellectual property rights.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

DC Holdings believes that the qualities of fairness, honesty and
integrity represent some of the most important business assets of
the Company. It is our policy that employees are prohibited from
soliciting gains from customers, contractors, suppliers or other
business associates of the Company. All employees receive anti-
corruption training in the form of a lecture held once a year.
Educational materials and case studies are also available on our
intranet.

The Company has incorporated the management of integrity risk into
its business processes, continuously refining its risk prevention and
control mechanism. Through the rationalisation and screening of risk
points, it has strengthened supervisory and control measures to
reduce the chances and possibilities for corruption or malpractice
that may be made available by its systems and processes. Besides, in
the course of routine audits such as those in relation to processes
and business results, the Company's internal audit function identifies
the presence of any malpractice or corruption by examining the
reasonableness and compliance of business processes.

Business associates or employees of the Company may report
corruption of DC Holdings staff via dcaudit@dcholdings.com on a
named or anonymous basis. The Internal Audit Department will
conduct investigations on the reported matters, while the
information of the whistleblower will be kept strictly confidential.
An employee who is confirmed to have received kickbacks or other
gains in any form is subject to summary dismissal.
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XIl. COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

As a member of the community, DC Holdings is closely associated
with social developments. Our sustainable development is only

possible if there is harmony and order in the social environment. In mE-BF  ABFREENTF
this connection, the Digital China Charity Foundation has been set BER BRI LEWHE 2RAK

up by the Company and its staff since the listing of DC Holdings.
Our donations in cash or in kind to post-quake disaster relief,
education funds and poverty aid during the past period of more
than a decade amount to RMB17,719,700, underlining the positive
energy of our corporate culture and our commitment to social

BTIEBRYL THNMNERELES
g +THERENERL - HBE K
BENMKEERSLE AREHHER
%‘ﬁﬂl\%ﬁ%%ﬂfﬂ%éﬁﬁﬁ)x&
177197870 BE AR HEX

responsibility. In 2017, the Digital China Charity Foundation was {EREREEMEHEETHNEES - EZE
mainly involved in the following community welfare campaigns: 20176 - MR E LRSS BT ]
Mt EAREDEISHIE: -
Sy
(1)  Poverty aid through education assistance (=) BEH®KE T
Since 2002, DC Holdings has organised its staff to raise H2002F F 16 - *EMHT'FH {%
donations for the construction of 10 Hope Schools in nine WEEBITHERBEZ N 5% E
provinces including Sichuan, Hubei and Hebei. We have ) B TdEE AN @
continued to monitor the progress of DC Hope Schools for BEMTIMALENE I 7
the past 16 years through a long-term mechanism for the B &*EFJH? % 75 /N 22
operation and maintenance of DC Hope Schools developed H) 2 R B EL N 9
under the leadership of the CPC Branch Committee of DC ¢ ' IEWJHTW Hn’\ﬁiﬁﬁ
Holdings. In 2017, we completed the following tasks BT #ZM TN TR

regarding the maintenance of and visits to Hope Schools:
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DC Holdings Zhengzhou Cigudong Hope School

On 11 June 2017, staff members of DC Holdings, bringing
with them all the love of caring families and the entire
workforce, arrived at DC Holdings Zhengzhou Cigudong Hope
School located in Yiyang County, Luoyang City. A series of
activities were organised, nicely combining the elements of
family day, children's day and caring campaign. These allowed
children from both cities and rural regions to gather special
life experiences, and to gain a deeper understanding as to
how they should feel, share and cherish love. Staff members
of DC Holdings and the principal of the Hope School jointly
presided at the donation ceremony, where the children were
given donations in the form of sporting equipment and an
array of catering and sporting items. It was hoped that they,
while pursuing their studies diligently, would also recognise
the importance of practising sports regularly. Holding the
donations and taking in all the love and care from generous
members of the society, the children were all beaming with
joy and excitement.
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Activities at the Hope School, 2017
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(1) Aid for the underprivileged (=) e ER

The CPC members and staff of DC Holdings have been making
strong endeavours to help underprivileged members of the
society with compassion. Our actions in 2017 included the
following:

Care for Tai Yang Village
Located in Zhaoquanying Town of Shunyi District in Beijing,
Tai Yang Village is a non-profit-making institution officially
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registered with relevant government authorities. Ms. Zhang F9IE = & M &9 3F & A1) M 4 i
Shugin, founder of "Tai Yang Village", has been entrusted by o [ KIS AR A RIR §
prison inmates to take care of their minor children. As the ELLITEXBRMAENE =
free basic childcare services and the protection of basic rights FOEEREMARALS S
offered to these children are supported by public donations, BARKEFL KELEN %
certain CPC members and staff of DC Holdings have been XFE RETRHAERE £ {%
actively involved in this charity initiative since 2008 to FEREREZRE - BEH PP
protect these innocent children and foster social harmony and PEMSEE REEZD @
stability in a proactive move to assume their share of social TE-RELSEELEMN %
responsibility, caring for these children and sending daily HoMMIZERAEHS EEM

items and learning kits to them to improve life at Tai Yang BT B2008F#E - —HEES o

Village. The activities for the care of Tai Yang Village
conducted in 2017 are as follows:
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The "Care for Tai Yang Village" programme of DC Holdings, 2017
2017 F M IZEREE RGHIED)

g Visiting and honouring veteran soldiers HERE

& In 2010, certain employees of DC Holdings set up the E2010F #E - WM IERE D 8
E Taierzhuang Veteran Soldiers' Fund aiming to provide long- IR T AR MEETR
g term financial assistance to 38 veteran soldiers living in MES LEREHE R
§ Taierzhuang for the rest of their lives. The Fund is operated ERBsRimBE R AEKY
- on an annual basis, whereby funds are raised each year. In SoFEBRBERBEN H
’n‘é 2017, through the Fund, the staff of DC Holdings financed B Z AL K EER
B cash and physical donations on a monthly basis to these RESBRY BFEE—#It
= warriors who fought against the Japanese forces. E g o2017F  INIERKE
cIOE ITEALERMBELIEZAN
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The Directors of the Company have pleasure in presenting their report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group") for the year ended
31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's result for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the Group's
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 120 to 313 of this annual report.

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 is
set out in the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis" on
pages 19 to 42 of this annual report. Description of the risks and
uncertainties facing the Company can be found throughout this annual
report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
318 this annual report. The five-year financial summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in
note 14 to the financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements, together with the reasons therefor, in the share
capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set
out in note 34 to the financial statements.

Report of the Directors
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2017, the Company's reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda, amounted to
HK$727,459,000. In addition, the Company's share premium account, in the
amount of HK$4,665,095,000, may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

INCREASE IN AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the authorised share capital of
the Company was increased from HK$200,000,000 divided into
2,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each to HK$250,000,000 divided into
2,500,000,000 shares by the creation of an additional 500,000,000 new
shares of HK$0.10 each.

Details of the increase in authorised share capital were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 4 December 2017 and the announcement of
the Company dated 27 December 2017.

RIGHTS ISSUE ON THE BASIS OF ONE RIGHTS SHARE

FOR EVERY FOUR SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company had raised an
approximately HK$1.34 billion, before expenses, by way of a rights issue of
335,452,395 rights shares to the qualifying shareholders at the subscription
price of HK$4 per rights share on the basis of one rights share for every
four shares. The net proceeds of the rights issue were intended to be used
for (i) financing an investment in an entity in China relating to the
development and application of big data analysis in the healthcare industry
or any other potential investments and acquisition as and when any
suitable opportunity is identified; (ii) repayment of debt and interest
expenses; and (i) general working capital for the Group.

Details of the rights issue were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 21 July 2017 and 15 September 2017 respectively and the
prospectus dated 23 August 2017.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the
laws of Bermuda although there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws of Bermuda.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

As permitted by the Bye-laws of the Company, every Director shall be
indemnified out of the Company's assets against any liability incurred by
the Director, to the extent permitted by Bermuda law. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the financial year and is
currently in force at the time of approval of this report. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors' and officers' liability coverage for the
directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2017
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman)

Mr. LIN Yang (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. WANG Xinhui (President) (Note 1)

Mr. Denis Shing Fai YIP (Chief Executive Officer and
President) (Note 2)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. YU Ziping (Note 3)
Mr. PENG Jing (Note 3)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis

Ms. NI Hong (Hope)

Dr. LIU Yun, John

Ms. YAN Xiaoyan

Mr. LAl Daniel, 8BS, JP

Notes:

1. Mr. WANG Xinhui was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company with effect
from 12 January 2017. On 21 July 2017, Mr. WANG resigned as an Executive Director
and the President of the Company due to other work allocation by the Group.

2. Mr. Denis Shing Fai YIP was appointed as a Chief Executive Officer of the Company since
1 May 2017 and was also appointed as an Executive Director and President of the
Company with effect from 21 July 2017. On 16 November 2017, Mr. YIP resigned as an
Executive Director, the Chief Executive Officer and the President of the Company due to
his other personal engagements.

3. Mr. YU Ziping and Mr. PENG Jing were appointed as Non-executive Directors of the
Company with effect from the conclusion of the special general meeting of the
Company held on 27 December 2017.
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In accordance with Bye-Law 99 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. LIN Yang, Dr. LIU Yun,
John and Mr. LAl Daniel, 88s, sp will retire from office by rotation. In
accordance with Bye-law 102(A) of the Bye-lLaws, Mr. YU Ziping and
Mr. PENG Jing who were appointed as a director with effect from the
conclusion of the special general meeting of the Company held on
27 December 2017 will hold office until the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. Mr. LAl Daniel, 88s, ¢ has informed the Company
that he will not offer himself for re-election and accordingly will retire as
director after the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. Saved for Mr. LAl Daniel, 88s, Jp, the other retiring directors,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS' INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING
RULES

Changes in the information of Directors required to be disclosed under

RIBEQ BRI Foofk - MiGEE - BlniE
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FEERARBEERRBTKe LEE
EAT e

BEETRAE13.51B(1)KZ
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RHE ERAIE1351B)IRRER T HE

Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below: EFERZEFNT
Name of Director Details of Changes EERE BEFEE
Mr. GUO Wei . Retired as an Independent Non-executive s AEE o BREFEEHIMZE

Director of China Southern Airlines
Company Limited (listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, The Shanghai Stock Exchange and
The New York Stock Exchange)
. Ceased to be a Standing Committee Member
of the 12th National Committee of the
Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference
Mr. YU Ziping o Appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company with effect from the
conclusion of the special general meeting
of the Company held on 27 December
2017
o Appointed as a Director of Guangzhou
Chengtou Information Technology Co., Ltd.
Mr. PENG Jing o Appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company with effect from the
conclusion of the special general meeting
of the Company held on 27 December
2017
Mr. Denis Shing o Resigned as an Executive Director, the Chief
Fai YIP Executive Officer and the President of the
Company
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Name of Director Details of Changes

Report of the Directors
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ExflE 2 BFEFF

Mr. WONG Man Chung, e Re-designated as a Non-Executive Chairman
Francis and Non-executive Director of Union Alpha
CPA Limited (who was the Managing
Director) and Union Alpha CAAP CPA

Limited (who was a Director)

Ms. NI Hong o Resigned as an Independent Director
(Hope) of KongZhong Corporation, formerly a
Nasdag-listed company

Mr. Daniel LAI, o Ceased to be the Professor of Practice
BBS, JP (Computing) in the Department of
Computing of The Hong Kong Polytechnic

University
o Became a Visiting Lecturer of The Hong

Kong Polytechnic University

o Appointed as a Director of Hong Kong
Quality Assurance Agency and Hong Kong
Computer Society Foundation Limited

DIRECTORS' SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the Executive Directors of the Company entered into a service
agreement with the Company which shall continue in force unless and
until terminated by (i) either the Company or the Director serving on each
other of not less than three months' notice; or (ii) his retirement as a
Director without being re-elected as a Director by the Shareholders of the
Company in an annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye- Laws;
or (i) in the event of the Director's default under the terms of the said
service agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors of the Company proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
has a service agreement with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than the statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or subsisted during the year.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as disclosed under the section headed "Connected Transaction" of this
report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
of the Company or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 31 December 2017 or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2017.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company operates two share option schemes. One of the share option
schemes was adopted on 18 July 2002 (the “2002 Share Option Scheme")
and the other share option scheme was adopted on 15 August 2011 (the
2011 Share Option Scheme"), each with life span of ten years. The 2002
Share Option Scheme was expired on 18 July 2012. Following 18 July 2012,
no further share options can be granted under the 2002 Share Option
Scheme and the share options granted under the 2002 Share Option
Scheme are exercisable pursuant to the terms of the 2002 Share Option
Scheme.

On 27 December 2017, the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme was approved by the shareholders of the
Company at a special general meeting of the Company by way of an
ordinary resolution. Based on 1,677,261,976 shares in issue of the Company
as at the date of passing the ordinary resolution, the Company is allowed
to grant further options under the 2011 Share Option Scheme for
subscription of up to a maximum of 167,726,197 shares, representing 10%
of the shares in issue of the Company as at the date of passing the
ordinary resolution.

Details of the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the 2011 Share Option
Scheme as well as movements in the share options during the year ended
31 December 2017 are set out in note 35(a) to the financial statements.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the “RSA Scheme”)
on 28 March 2011 for the purpose of rewarding and motivating, among
others, Directors (including executive and non-executive) and employees of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Participants”) with the shares of the
Company. Details of the RSA Scheme are set out in note 35(b) to the
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed "Share Option Schemes" and
"Restricted Share Award Scheme" of this report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed "Share Option Schemes" and
"Restricted Share Award Scheme" of this report, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or chief executives or any of their spouse or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of each Director
and chief executive of the Company and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")) which were required to be notified to
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange") pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive were
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required to be and are recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
adopted by the Company (the "Model Code") were as follows:
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of aggregate
Corporate outstanding share Total interests (%)
Name of Directors Capacity Personal interests interests options (Note 1) (Note 5)
HERERZ
HARTEZ BY BHBEILW®)
EEEH 5% BAES NEER BREHE (Kyat1) (Hi#ts)
GUQ Wei Beneficial owner and 94,328,707 86,767,857 13,116,974 194,213,538 11.58
interests of a controlled Note 2) (fifi#2)  (Note 3) (H1523)
corporation
F5E ERBAARREEE
R
LIN Yang Beneficial owner 3,571,734 - 13,116,974 16,688,708 099
"5 ExBEAA (Note 4) (1 iF4)
LAl Daniel, 885, Jp Beneficial owner 5,028 - - 5,028 0.00
WY - ses ExBEAA
Notes: b aF
1. All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the shares of the Company. 1. ANFEBz 2R 2RARRAKRN Z
WA .
2. These 86,767,857 shares of the Company were beneficially held by Kosalaki Investments 2. 7% 586,767,857 /% A% A B f% 17 F Kosalaki Investments

Limited ("KIL"), of which Mr. GUO Wei is the controlling shareholder and also a director
of KIL, therefore, Mr. GUO Wei was deemed to be interested in such shares in which KIL
was interested.

Limited ([ KIL)) B2 FF B - 1M 3673 5 4 BKILEY
TRBRRRES AP ATERRIERS
ZEBRKLTEE 2RO B -



3. On 25 January 2017, 12,500,000 share options were granted to Mr. GUO Wei. These share
options are exercisable from 25 January 2017 to 24 January 2025 at an exercise price of
HK$6.71 per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the Company. With effect
from 28 December 2017, upon the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit under the
share option scheme adopted by the company on 15 August 2011 which was approved
by the shareholders at the special general meeting held on 27 December 2017, the
share options granted to Mr. GUO has been adjusted from 12,500,000 to 13,116,974
and the exercise price of each share option has been adjusted from HK$6.710 to
HK$6.394 as a result of rights issue.

4. On 25 January 2017, 12,500,000 share options were granted to Mr. LIN Yang. These share
options are exercisable from 25 January 2017 to 24 January 2025 at an exercise price of
HK$6.71 per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the Company. With effect
from 28 December 2017, upon the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit under the
share option scheme adopted by the company on 15 August 2011 which was approved
by the shareholders at the special general meeting held on 27 December 2017, the
share options granted to Mr. LIN has been adjusted from 12,500,000 to 13,116,974 and
the exercise price of each share option has been adjusted from HK$6.710 to HK$6.394
as a result of rights issue.

5. The approximate percentage of interests is based on the aggregate nominal value of the
shares/underlying shares comprising the interests held as a percentage of the aggregate
nominal value of all the issued share capital of the Company of the same class
immediately after the relevant event and as recorded in the register maintained under
Section 352 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company or their associates had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which the directors and chief
executive were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

At 31 December 2017, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons, not being a Director or chief executive of the Company,
had the following interests and short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to
the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of Part XV of the SFO:

FERRRRORAEBR®D 2
BERAXA
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Approximate percentage
Number of shares of aggregate interests (%)

Name Capacity (Note 1) (Note 7)
(=Y $:9
RPEE BABRSE (%)
a1 54 (Hrzt1) (H5t7)
Kosalaki Investments Limited Beneficial owner 86,767,857 5.17
(Note 2) (F1it2) ExBEAA
Dragon City International Investment Limited Beneficial owner 150,070,000 11.18
EGHEA (Note 3) (i 7#3)
YIP Chi Yu (Note 3) Interests of a controlled 150,070,000/1,860 11.18
EHm(h23) corporation/Interest of
spouse
REEEEn/ REER
HUANG Shaokang (Note 3) Beneficial owner/Interest of 1,860/150,070,000 11.18
BLR(MH3) spouse
Enhe N/ BEER
Guangzhou City Infrastructure Investment Group Limited®  Interests of a controlled 407,813,928 2431
("GZ Infrastructure”) (EM WM ERLEE corporation (Note 4) (1 i#4)
BREAR) ([EMEHER]) RErEER
Guangzhou City Investment Co., Ltd.* ("GZ Investment') Interests of a controlled 407,813,928 2431
(BMHHEEREERAR) (EMNRE]) corporation (Note 4) (H7iF4)
RErEER
Guangzhou City Investment Jiapeng Industry Investment  Interests of a controlled 375,284,000 22.37
Fund Management Co., Ltd.* ("GZ Jiapeng") corporation (Note 4) (1 5F4)

BEMEREREXREESERARAR) REAEZ#S
(TRMEER))

* For identifications purpose only

* EHEE



Report of the Directors
EEg®mE

Approximate percentage
Number of shares of aggregate interests (%)

Name Capacity (Note 1) (Note 7)
hEtER
R 8 E BRI ()
L 54 (Hrit1) (Htit7)
Guangzhou City Investment Jiazi Investment Partnership  Beneficial owner 375,284,000 22.37
(Limited Partnership)* ("GZ Jiazi") EREEA (Note 4) (ff i#4)
(EMNARFFREARCEX(ARER))
([ENEF))
GRG Banking Equipment Co., Ltd.* Beneficial owner 197,888,000 15.58
ENEEEREREFRNERAA) ERBEAA (Note 5) (Hits)
Guangzhou Radio Group Co., Ltd.* Interests of a controlled 197,888,000 15.58
BEMNESEEBEERAF) corporation (Note 5) (f1 i#5)
REEBzER
Allianz SE Interests of controlled 90,628,000 6.75
corporations (Note 6) (1 i#6)

RErE R

All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the shares of the Company.

KIL is controlled by Mr. GUO Wei who is a director of the Company and KIL.

Out of the 150,071,860 shares of the Company in aggregate, 150,070,000 shares were
held by Dragon City International Investment Limited, which is controlled by Ms. YIP Chi
Yu, and 1,860 shares were held by Mr. HUANG Shaokang, a spouse of Ms. YIP Chi Yu.

Out of these 407,813,928 shares of the Company in aggregate, 375,284,000 shares were
held by GZ Jiazi and 32,529,928 shares were held by Suitong Hong Kong Company
Limited* (7238 (F78) AR 2Q 7)) ("Suitong HK"). GZ Jiazi is owned as to 99.96% by
GZ Investment and 0.04% by GZ Jiapeng, which GZ Jiapeng is in turn wholly-owned by
GZ Investment, which in turn, is owned as to 80.00% by GZ Infrastructure. Suitong HK
is wholly-owned by GZ Investment. GZ Infrastructure is deemed to be interested in
407,813,928 shares of the Company.

These 197,888,000 shares of the Company were beneficially held by GRG Banking
Equipment Co., Ltd* (BMNEEBEBEHMEFRH AR AR (isted on The
Shenzhen Stock Exchange), in which Guangzhou Radio Group Co., Ltd.* (B M & 4R E
£ BB BRAA]) is a 52.52% controlling shareholder.

* For identifications purpose only
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6. Out of these 90,628,000 shares of the Company in aggregate, 1,447,000 shares were held
by Allianz Global Investors Taiwan Ltd. and 89,181,000 shares were held by Allianz
Global Investors Asia Pacific Limited. All of the aforementioned companies were
indirectly controlled by Allianz SE.

7. The approximate percentage of interests is based on the aggregate nominal value of the
shares/underlying shares comprising the interests held as a percentage of the aggregate
nominal value of all the issued share capital of the Company of the same class
immediately after the relevant event and as recorded in the register maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2017, the Company had not been
notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in shares or
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to
the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group made donation of
HK$56,000 (for the year ended 31 December 2016: HK$2,368,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate percentage of revenue attributable to the Group's five
largest customers was less than 30% (for the year ended 31 December
2016: less than 30%) of the Group's total revenue for the year ended
31 December 2017.

The aggregate percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers was approximately 37% (for the year ended 31 December
2016: approximately 26%) of the Group's total purchases and the
percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier was
approximately 12% (for the year ended 31 December 2016: approximately
10%) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, none of the Directors, any of
their close associates or shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest major customers or five
largest suppliers.

6. % % 4 #£90,628,000% A 22 &1 A& 17 e Allianz Global
Investors Taiwan Ltd. 35 1,447,000% 2 Allianz Global
Investors Asia Pacific Limited3¥ 7589,181,000% ° |
it A B BB Allianz SEFS 12 A% ) -
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2017, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's
listed securities.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group had the following
connected transaction which is subject to the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders' approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Details of the transaction is as follows:

On 5 September 2016, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”) with the subscribers (“Subscribers") pursuant
to which the Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and
the Company has conditionally agreed to issue 99,391,000 subscription
shares at the subscription price of HK$5.53 per subscription share for an
aggregate amount of HK$549,632,230 ("Subscription”). Each of Mr. GUO
Wei, Mr. LIN Yang, the other connected subscribers (“Other Connected
Subscribers”) and Great Dynamic Management (PTC) Limited were the
Subscribers.

Each of Mr. GUO Wei and Mr. LIN Yang is a Director and is therefore a
connected person of the Company. Each of the Other Connected
Subscribers is a director of a subsidiary/certain subsidiaries of the Company
and is therefore also a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
Subscription by the connected subscribers who are connected persons of
the Company constitutes a connected transaction for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company had obtained
the Independent Shareholders' approval for the Subscription at the special
general meeting held on 25 October 2016.

On 18 January 2017, the Company announced that the conditions to the
Subscription Agreement were fulfilled and the Subscription Completion
took place.

Details of the transaction have been disclosed in the Company's

announcements dated 5 September 2016, 25 October 2016 and 18 January
2017 and circular dated 30 September 2016.

* For identifications purpose only
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017 of the Group were audited by Ernst & Young.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float during the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date
of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
GUO Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report
T Ntz BYEM R A

EY::

To the shareholders of Digital China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Digital China
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 120 to 313, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in
the Basis for qualified opinion section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements, there are
certain wealth management financial products with an aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$2,603,057,000 (before impairment) and their
related interest receivables of approximately HK$123,391,000 recorded in
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017 as available-for-sale investments (non-current) and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables (non-current), respectively. The related
interest income recorded as revenue in the Group's consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017 is approximately
HK$117,642,000. The principal amounts of these wealth management
financial products and the related interest receivables (collectively the
"Receivables") were due for repayment during the year ended 31 December
2017, but have not yet been settled. The Group is in discussion with the
counterparties on the settlement plan, but no conclusion has been reached
as at the date of this report. The Group has performed an assessment on
the recoverability of the Receivables and has made an impairment
provision of approximately HK$227,941,000 against the Receivables, which
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was recorded as "other expenses” in the Group's consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017. We have not be able
to obtain sufficient audit evidence we consider necessary to assess the
recoverable amounts of the Receivables and accordingly the adequacy of
the impairment provision as at 31 December 2017. Any adjustment found
to be necessary to the impairment provision and accordingly the carrying
amount of the Receivables as at 31 December 2017 would affect the
Group's net assets as at 31 December 2017 and the Group's loss for the
year then ended and the related note disclosures to the consolidated
financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our qualified opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the Basis
for qualified opinion section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter
is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter
Impairment assessment of goodwill

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of the
Group's goodwill was approximately HK$2,346,218,000,
which is subject to annual impairment test. Impairment
provision is required when the recoverable amounts of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs") to which the goodwill is
allocated are lower than the respective carrying values of
the respective CGUs.

The calculation of the recoverable amounts of these CGUs
involved significant management's estimation, subjective
assumptions and judgements, such as expected future cash
flows from the CGUs, annual growth rate of revenue,
budgeted gross margins and discount rate, and is
particularly sensitive due to business and market volatility,
and uncertain economic outlook.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, and 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following audit procedures on the impairment
testing of goodwill, among others:

° reviewed the forecasted cash flows through enquiry with
management and by reference to the historical
performance and business plans of the relevant CGUs. We
compared the forecasts with actual operating results and
considered external industry analysis;

° involved our valuation specialists to assess the
methodologies and significant assumptions used by
management in the impairment testing; and

L assessed the adequacy of disclosures in relation to the
goodwill of the Group, including cash-generating units for
impairment testing and assumptions on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill.
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Key audit matter
Impairment assessment for accounts and bills receivables

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of the
Group's accounts and bills receivables before provision was
approximately HK$5,688,512,000. Management is required to
assess whether a provision for impairment is required in
respect of those accounts and bills receivables that might
not be fully collectable. The impairment assessment for
accounts and bills receivables involved significant
management's judgements, taking into account various
factors, including the aging of these receivables, the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of the
customers, existence of disputes, and any other available
information. As at 31 December 2017, the impairment
provision recorded for accounts and bills receivables was
approximately HK$450,847,000.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BAEENEE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following audit procedures on the impairment

assessment of accounts and bills receivables, among others:

obtained an understanding of and assessed management's
processes and controls relating to the monitoring of
accounts and bills receivables to identity credit risk;

obtained an understanding of and reviewed management's
impairment assessment for accounts and bills receivables
and assessed management's judgements on the
recoverability of accounts and bills receivables;

tested the aging report of accounts and bills receivables;
and

checked the receipts of cash after the reporting period and
the underlying documents supporting the recoverability of
the outstanding balances.
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Key audit matter
Recognition of contract revenue

The Group's revenue from fixed price contracts in technical
service business and application software development
business is recognised using the percentage of completion
(“POC") method, measured by reference to the proportion of
work completed to date to the estimated total work of the
relevant contract. Provision is made for foreseeable losses
as soon as they are anticipated by management.

The recognition of contract revenue requires management's
estimates and revision of the estimates which involves
estimation uncertainty, in particular with respect to
estimating the POC, the contract revenue, total budget
costs of the relevant contract and costs to complete for
each contract as the contract progresses, as well as the
assessment of the remaining contingencies and a
foreseeable loss that a contract is or could be facing until
completion. In addition, as these contracts sometimes span
a number of reporting periods, significant changes in the
estimate of the POC, the contract revenue, total budget
costs of the relevant contracts and costs to complete for
each contract could result in material amounts of revenue
being recorded in the incorrect period.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 5 and 29
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor's Report
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following audit procedures on the recognition
of contract revenue, among others:

° tested management's controls relating to revenue
recognition, including the determination of total budget
costs, estimated costs to completion, the POC, the timing
of revenue recognition and the identification of contract
losses; and

° evaluated management's assumptions and estimates in
relation to revenue recognition, including total budget
costs and forecast costs to complete and the
determination of POC. We reviewed selected contracts,
obtained an understanding of the contract terms and
recalculated the revenue and costs incurred based on the
percentage of completion.

BEMHESNMEEREESSE

BHAHAHRARTUR TR EF (PB4 :
A
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Independent Auditor's Report
B 3tz BED R

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. As described in the Basis for qualified opinion section above, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence we consider
necessary to assess the recoverable amounts of the Receivables as at
31 December 2017, as well as the amount of impairment provision and the
amount of related interest income for the year ended 31 December 2017.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other
information is materially misstated with respect to this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

U Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Independent Auditor's Report
B 3 4% BE RS
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Independent Auditor's Report
B 3tz BED R

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

. HEESRABELESTERD
REMIEL &R - RIBEMERD
B BR MERSAFHERZER
HERNEENERTEEMS 1
MAEEHY EEENKEL
BERENELZEREE - IREM
RARFEEANEEN  RIA K
EERBMBEPRFELAET
ERAVBRRTOMEMBEKE -
SEABNRETNRE  RIRME
EEARR HZfiNEmEER
EERHBEBRE R EMBREHNE
BB A KRREFEKFBER
MRS SRBETRSELE -

. TEBREVBERROEETFRS
XN BEENAD  BEEE UKk
BAMBRESDTRAARBERS
MEIE -

. 7 OBEEERNERAEBEIN
MBERERTRE BEEMNE
BE UNEHGREMBRRER
ER-BMAR EXEEFHN
TR EBEMAT HARFS
BRAEZHEME-

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other HMEEZZESER T NETE
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit BT EABEAEERE  BER
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we MEEET R &R E AT ERNER
identify during our audit. TR g o

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have BMENEZZESRIER  FHBEHK
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to MEFEEEBENEEEX£EEE
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may ko WA PERAE AL S B R A
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related safequards. H - UREBEAMBRT  HE®D
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine MEEXEZESBEBNSED » FKME
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the TE WP Lt F I8 B AR BR AR A BA S SR R M AT
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore EREZ EMBKBRETEE &
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report MEZBMBERHMELEE - KRIE
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or ERERIATAHBERELEIE K
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should ERmZESNBELT WREEEHAE
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of HZMBRETEBESEHAKNEERER
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest BREEANARIE  KMRETER

benefits of such communication. HWERBERZEE -
= g o b
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent HERBIZEMBRENEHIEBEE SR kir
auditor's report is Ng Siu Ki Ricky. AERBAHE- §
fi
S
=
o T
Ernst & Young BRKEF I EHA =
N o &
Certified Public Accountants ¥ 2 5HAD ﬁ
22/F CITIC Tower BEETIR &
1 Tim Mei Avenue N BI5R EE

Central, Hong Kong FERE2E

28 March 2018 —E-N\F=A=-+NH
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
AL .:. ¢ %%

IZ\‘/ A J:Dl
Year ended 31 December 2017 & & — =

—tF+= A=+ —AILFE

2017 2016
—+tF —F—RE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ks BET T BT T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FEKEER
REVENUE PN 5 13,246,571 12,251,359
Cost of sales and services $HE & AR 75 Bk AR (10,581,271) (9,747,655)
Gross profit E 7 2,665,300 2,503,704
Other income and gains H A e A R Wz 5 467,591 273,402
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER (1,233,956) (1,168,468)
Administrative expenses THERA (763,065) (465,941)
Other expenses, net Hih &R FE (1,064,160) (883,017)
Finance costs ELE N 7 (230,542) (196,989)
Share of profits and losses of: EAE TS RA 2@ REE :
Joint ventures B 65,160 39,247
Associates KRNI 45,855 35,775
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM BEREXK ZRBLA
CONTINUING OPERATIONS wm A (& 8) 6 (47,817) 137,713
Income tax expense isfiE R 10 (143,584) (148,743)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM FEREXBZEAFTERBR
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (191,401) (11,030)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION FIFELCEER
Profit for the year from a discontinued FELCEEB 2 AFEE R F
operation 1 - 559,623
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR TEERR(BE) (191,401) 548,593
Attributable to: EER
Equity holders of the parent SNV R (413,006) 389,314
Non-controlling interests FE 1 e i 2 221,605 159,279
(191,401) 548,593
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BRAREBERREMN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY EREF (&i#8)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 13
Basic K
— For profit/(loss) for the year - AREFEERMN(EE) HK cents (29.21) 1l HK cents 34.74 7l
— For loss from continuing operations - BEKEXELERE HK cents (29.21) &4l HK cents (15.20) 7L
Diluted i3]
— For profit/(loss) for the year - AREFEERMN(EE) HK cents (29.21) 1l HK cents 34.74 7 I
— For loss from continuing operations - BEKEXELERE HK cents (29.21) 34l HK cents (15.19) 711l




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Year ended 31 December 2017 & &= —

1~

—tF A=t —HLEFE

2017 2016
—t& —E-REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FEERR(HE) (191,401) 548,593
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hit2mW s (Ei8)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HiegngsfofEzBan2
to be reclassified to profit or loss Hthzmkas(&8)
in subsequent periods:
Available-for-sale investments: AfHEZRE :
Changes in fair value N EEEE (4,089) (14,472)
Reclassification adjustments BRERGEERRZ
for losses/(gains) included in the B BEAE
consolidated statement of profit or B8, ()
loss
— impairment losses - REEE - 3,599
— gain on disposal - HE W= (3.261) =
(7.350) (10,873)
Exchange differences: PE 5 = 58
Exchange differences on translation BINEBRE 7 BN E5
of foreign operations 387,499 (321,936)
Reclassification adjustments for foreign MR AFEE RN L EFINETR 2
operations disposed of during the BN HEAE
year - (45,348)
387,499 (367,284)
Share of other comprehensive income/ JEfEHw EARZHEMEE
(loss) of associates /(B TE\) (31,715) 5525
Net other comprehensive profit/(loss) HErgEfisBEzEa 2
to be reclassified to profit or loss in Eﬁﬂiﬁuﬁﬁn/(ﬁéﬂﬁ)}% H
subsequent periods 348,434 (372,632)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
e 2EREK

Year ended 31 December 2017 HZEZE—ZE—+tF+_A=+—HIFE

2017 2016
—E—tHF —T-RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ks BET T BT T
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HEeTAgEmoBEEa
not to be reclassified to profit or loss Hizmikz (EE)
in subsequent periods:
Gain on property revaluation LEXRR =R & 14 32,065 601,807
Income tax effect s 2 (8,017) (150,452)
Net other comprehensive income HEeETngEfoBEBa
not to be reclassified to profit or loss H A 2 W 5 F 5
in subsequent periods 24,048 451,355
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME RINBRBEANAFEEMEZE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX Iy &= 372,482 78,723
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME rXEEEEKSEAE
FOR THE YEAR 181,081 627,316
Attributable to: BN
Equity holders of the parent SN (232,755) 609,428
Non-controlling interests FEIo AR RE 2 413,836 17,888
181,081 627,316
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

= MR &

31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt &E BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment N 14 1,167,160 1,088,555
Investment properties "EME 15 4,102,327 3,046,367
Prepaid land premiums FEf LS 16 69,279 67,937
Goodwill B 17 2,346,218 2,195,376
Other intangible assets HEEREE 18 181,387 152,043
Investments in joint ventures RELLEZERE 19 228,639 1,008,013
Investments in associates EQE??M’_\ AZKE 20 2,637,304 1,629,520
Available-for-sale investments AEHEZERE 21 3,314,809 952,239
Finance lease receivables JE U gt & 7 & FRIE 22 113,493 327,865
Accounts receivable JE L BR 5K 27 23,428 131,528
Prepayments, deposits and TEAS FRIA - HZ%&
other receivables E b i W 5k 28 123,391 -
Deferred tax assets iR RE L Iﬁ;ﬁﬁ 23 102,354 68,176
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 14,409,789 10,667,619
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories & 24 1,221,410 788,146
Properties under development M 25 260,504 242,517
Completed properties held for sale FIEHERGMRB TYE 26 45,006 193,073
Accounts and bills receivables JE L BR 3R % B IR R 4R 27 5,214,237 3,872,087
Prepayments, deposits and IR hzﬁ&
other receivables A e 5k 28 1,944,876 1,952,932
Available-for-sale investments Efﬁ—‘tﬁ%Z&;ﬁ 21 585,719 2,856,415
Finance lease receivables FE U b & 7 & FRIE 22 341,735 386,264
Restricted bank balances % R &l #R 17 45 &4 30 107,989 58,910
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBReEFEEYD 30 3,784,296 2,698,158
Total current assets BREBEE 13,505,772 13,048,502
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accounts and bills payables e BR R B S = 31 3,217,547 2,124,347
Other payables and accruals EMEMNZRIERERE B 32 3,560,919 3,072,125
Tax payables FE 8 Fi 18 145,081 97,137
Interest-bearing bank and B B8R 1T R H fh B 5K
other borrowings 33 5,296,981 5,199,014
Total current liabilities BREEE 12,220,528 10,492,623
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 1,285,244 2,555,879
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR A BRI &

31 December 2017 —_F—tF+=-A=

+—8

2017 2016
—E—t5F —E—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
o3 BET T BEE T I
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBER
LIABILITIES 15,695,033 13,223,498
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kARBEE
Interest-bearing bank and B B AR 1T R H i B 3K
other borrowings 33 2,583,949 2,465,874
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 23 273,112 247,522
Deferred income R T YA 43,098 38,189
Total non-current liabilities IR EE 2,900,159 2,751,585
Net assets EEFE 12,794,874 10,471,913
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity BAFRKRREMLER
holders of the parent
Issued capital BBITRA 34 167,726 123,466
Reserves & 36 8,942,059 7,045,121
9,109,785 7,168,587
Non-controlling interests IE 2= IR &= 3,685,089 3,303,326
Total equity B 12,794,874 10,471,913
GUO Wei 385 LIN Yang # 5
Chairman = J& Director & &



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Year ended 31 December 2017 & &= —

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

_\_
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F B K

—tF A=t —HLEFE

BRARREN
Available-
Employee for-sale
Share Employee  share-based Asset  investment Exchange Non-
Issued premium Capital share  compensation  revaluation  revaluation Reserve  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve trust reserve reserve’ reserve funds reserve profits Total interests equity
DR X AfHE
BE Bt B8 fiE&Z BE ZREZ BB FER
Bx  H5ER EARE REEE HOHE RERE RBEEE RRAL B REEN 23t B ERAR
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000  HK$'000
M ABTr EETr A¥Tr E¥Tr  EETrn B%Tn B%Tn B%Tn BETr BBTT A%Tn RB¥Tr E%Tn
At 1 January 2016 109,637 2,080,480 1,498,902 (302,457) 30,305 4669 36,481 647,594 126,690 4,640,266 8,872,567 2421750 11,294317
Profit for the year - - - - - - = = = 389,314 389,314 159,279 548,593
Other comprehensive incomef(loss) 2% EJ‘ En2mkis/
for the year: (BR):
Available-for-sale investments: AHAEZRE:
~ Changes in far value -ATRERS - - - - - - () - - - (4 - (4a)
~ Impairment loss - REEE - - - - - - 3599 - - - 3599 - 3599
Exchange differences on translation of SN EBRE ZEH
foreign operations EE - - - - - - - - (179179) - (179179)  (142757)  (321936)
Reclassification adjustments for RAEERLEGHE
foreign operations disposed of BZEMHERE
during the year = = = = = = = = (45,348) = (45,348) = (45,348)
Share of other comprehensive income P52 A &) 2 E A 2
of associates [l = - - - - - 408 - 18 - 4,159 1366 5525
Gain on property revaluation, BNBRENNERE
net of tax 6] - - - - - 451,355 - - - - 451,355 - 45135
Total comprehensive incomel(loss) ~ AFE2E N/ (BR)
for the year #E - - - - - 451,355 (6832) - (224409) 3893 609,428 17888 627,316
Issue of new shares RAHRA 34 13612 697,786 = = = = = = = -39 - 71398
Exercise of share options IEERE 34 207 16,568 = = (3998) = = = = - 12,787 - 12,787
Share-based payment expenses for AT iR MR 2 MRk 7
share issued at discount xfiz&R 3,35 = 43,658 = = = = = = = = 43,658 6077 49735
Share issue expenses BIRNER 34 = (1819) = = = = = = = = (1,819) - (1819)
Capital contribution from HEARFERREZ
non-controlling shareholders of ek
subsidiaries = = = = = = = = = = = 17,087 17,087
Deemed partial disposal of ﬁﬂ APLESREIE
subsidiaries A - - 435,885 - - - - - - - 435,885 834725 1270610
Acquisition of subsidiaries KEREAR 38 - - - - - - - - - 51522 51522
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR = = = = = = - (381197) - 381,197 - -
Special dividend BRIRE = = = = = = = = - (3515317)  (3515317) (3515317)
Dividends paid to non-controlling % P EERKRZ
sharefolders ERRE = = = = = = = = = = = (45723 (45723)
Transfer to reserve funds BRATREEES = - - - - = o 44474 = (44.474) = = =
At 31 December 2016 ﬁ\_ T-R%E
+= ‘\‘ 123,466 2,836,673 1,934,787 (302,457) 26,307 456,024 29,649 310871 (97,719) 1,850,986 7,168,587 3303326 10,471913
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Year ended 31 December 2017 HZEZ—Z—+tF+ A=+ —HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BARARRER
Available-
Employee for-sale
Share Employee  share-based Asset  investment Exchange Non-
Issued premium Capital share  compensati i i Reserve  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve trust reserve reserve’ reserve funds reserve profits Total interests equity
HRHBX &
BEf B B8 fiEEZ EE ZRE2 EXRD FER

Ba  EEE AA8G KEE: M@K MEES (GEER HRE2 @ REEA @t E EEAR
Notes HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS'000
K RETn BETR BT BEMTn  BETn EMTn BNTR BT B%Tn REMTn ENTR BWTR E%TR

At 1 January 2017 RZF-t5-f-AR 123466 2836673 1934787  (302457) 26307 456024 29649 310871 (97,719) 1850986 7,168,587 3303326 10471913
Profit(oss) for the year RERRT/(B8) - - - - - - - - - (413008)  (413008) 221,605 (191,401)
Other comprehensive incomeflloss) AL [ &t 2 Mz
for the year: (B#):
Available-for-sale investments: AHHEZRE:
- Changes in fair value -ATPEEED - - - - - - (4089) - - - (4,089) - (4089)
~ Gain on disposal - HEKRE - - - - - - (3.261) - - - (3261) - (3261
Exchange differences on translation of (BN EHRE ZEH
foreign operations 28 - - - - - - - - 195575 - 195575 191924 387,499
Share of other comprehensive BB E AR 2 A
income(loss) of associates 2EkE/(B8) - - - - - - (38629 - 6,606 - () 307 (31715)
Gain on property revaluation, ENMBRBEOMERE
et of tax L¢3 - - - - - 088 - - - - 24088 - 24088
Total comprehensive incomeflloss)  AEERERE/(E18)
for the year ft - - - - - 24,048 (45978) - 202181  (413006) (232.755) 413836 181,081
Issue of new shares B O 3% 10715 526,882 - - - - - - - - 537597 - 537,597
126 i Rights issue #ik 34 33545 1,308,264 - - - - - - - - 1,341,809 - 1,341,809
Share issue expenses BIRHER 34 - (6,724) - - - - - - - - (6.724) - (6724
Share-based compensation AR % i 2 & 35 - - - - 307,506 - - - - - 307,506 10561 318,067
Vesting of shares under the restricted 4 3 I 1 Bk 19 42 Bh 1 &I
g share award scheme NERRA - - - 282310 (282,310) - - - - - - - -
& Contribution to employee share trusts {& B AR T & & k51 - - - (1:424) - - - - - - (1,424) - (1424)
&= Capital contribution from WEARERRRRZ
E non-controlling shareholders of &
= subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - 26789 26,789
~ Acquisition of non-controlling D¢ E3ulie 3
IS interests - - (481) - - - - - - - (4811) (134200 (18.231)
Dividends paid to non-controling 4 FIERBE 2 BT
2 sarcholders Be - - - - - - - - - - - (s6003)  (56003)
g Transfer to reserve funds HEZHESS - - - - - - - 82,426 - (82,426) - - -
)
&
£ At 31 December 2017 R=2—+F
:_? +-A=t+-A8 167726 4665005 1929976'  (21571) 51503  480072"  (16329)" 393297 104462 1355554 9,109,785 3,685,089 12794874
@
=
S ’ The asset revaluation reserve arose from the gains on property revaluation as a result of 0 BEMERBEEREBVEZEREDHE
= the change in use from owner-occupied properties to investment properties. KREMEZMEBERS -
g
S These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$8,942,059,000 (2016: S ZERERERERGAMBRARP ZE
HK$7,045,121,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. B 1 575 158,942,059,0007T (Z T — /<5 : B

#£7,045,121,0007T ) °



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
/ﬂi/\iﬁ W EiEEEE

Year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—FE—+tF+_A=+—HItFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M &t BET T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax: B # AT R A (& 18)
From continuing operations RERFBREER (47,817) 137,713
From the discontinued operation REFFELEED 11 - 78,439 #®
Adjustments for: RREE ké
Finance costs EE=D N 230,542 280,765 &
Share of profits and losses of joint FEfE & &b 5 R B E A A fi
ventures and associates 2 % A X g 1B (111,015) (75,291) 5.2
Interest income F B U A (21,526) (16,762) e
Dividend income from available-for- AHEE2RE ZREKA =
sale investments 5 (17,289) (8,710) %
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - BELRZHEZ =
plant and equipment &5 18 5 2,742 4,756 &
Fair value gains on investment REMEZ A FEEKEZ
properties, net 5 (53,086) (134,888)
Gain on disposal of the equity HEZHAELERRZ
interests in joint ventures I 2= 5 (102,394) (72)
Gain on disposal of the equity interest & — I E A E=R 2
in an associate I 2= 5 (2,795) =
Gain/(loss) on deemed partial disposal RELEZEEE QR D
of the equity interests in associates Rz (k) /Ei8 5 6 (42,046) 33,740
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERAHEEZREZ
investments I 2= 5 (31,138) (26,420)
Depreciation e 142,947 97,029
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums 815 £ #h HH & % §5 6 1,755 2,601
Amortisation of other intangible assets B &EgE 31,853 15,797
Provisions for and write-off of bR & 17 & B 18 RS
obsolete inventories 50,311 83,267
Impairment of accounts and bills FEWERR R EKREERE
receivables 135,580 148,742
Impairment of finance lease FE U b & 7 & R IERE
receivables 6 522 20,102
Impairment of available-for-sale AEEEZRERE
investments 6 239,773 3,599
Share-based payment expenses for BITIERD 2 ARMD
shares issued at discount =93z 6 - 49,735
Share-based compensation ARG (7 2+ 2 Bl & 6 318,067 -

724,986 694,142




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
MEBRERER

Year ended 31 December 2017 HZEZE—ZE—+tF+_A=+—HIFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEERL,/ (4 m) (397,937) 155,336
Decrease in completed properties held for 5 {E$H & & AL T ¥ %
sale DS 160,613 96,082
Additions to properties under NEEEYE
development (1,285) (78,002)
Increase in accounts and bills receivables & U BR X K & U 22 4% 58 N (1,369,630) (138,951)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BT RIE - R & H A FE WK
deposits and other receivables B R A, (38 hn) (156,653) 280,814
Decrease/(increase) in finance lease EW R ERERE RS,
receivables (3% 0) 258,379 (362,528)
Increase in derivative financial PTES BT BN
instruments - (67,101)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts and bills  J& < BR 7 K2 J& < S #5180,
payables CR ) 1,093,200 (517,039)
Increase in other payables and accruals — E 4th FE S 5K 18 & FE 12 & FA 12 i1 657,370 38,856
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank SR HISR1T A SRR (35 A0)
balances (49,079) 10,744
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [E 5 & 8) 7 5/ 2 %58
5 net 70,906 32,923
£
é Cash generated from operations KeEmGEzRe 990,870 145,276
N Interest received B IR F B 17,008 19,728
] Hong Kong profits tax paid EHNEBNET (165) -
3 Mainland China income tax paid B 40 {~F H B K B BT A AR (111,231) (129,459)
£
g Net cash flows from operating activities £ = )& FTEIR € R = /F 58 896,482 35,545
2
5
=



Year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—FE—+tF+_A=+—HItFE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

N S

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt &E BET T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZFHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant and B& A% 2 ~ = M &
equipment (571,987) (231,503)
Additions to investment properties NEIREY (628) (78,103)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE BERZHZ
property, plant and equipment Fi 8 338 1,483 1,113
Additions to other intangible assets RNEEMEEEE (49,982) (59,048)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B BfY /B A &) 38 (170,278) (496,693)
Disposal of subsidiaries & K B A A 11, 39 - 1,891,334
Proceeds from disposal of investment ina H&E —FAELLEREZ
joint venture Fr 8 338 - 22,841
Proceeds from disposal of investment in & —EBE R A KE Z
an associate Fr 8 338 11,597 -
Proceeds from disposal of available-for- HERIHEE 2K E 2
sale investments Fr 8 338 142,257 105,798
Dividends received from an joint venture WE—E&E& 21X 2K E 4,077 4,534
Dividends received from associates WELZ M AR 2 ]RE 17,555 4,875
Dividends received from available-for-sale YXER A (i B & 2 % & Z Ik 8
investments 16,540 8,710
Investments in joint ventures RELLEZIRE (20,800) (68,892)
Investments in associates REERA 28 E (98,896) (8,215)
Investments in available-for-sale AHEEZRE
investments (263,784) (2,151,889)
Decrease in other receivables H b i W SR IR R - 217,753
Net cash flows used in investing HEEZHFARSREF8E
activities (982,846) (837,385)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
MEBRERER

Year ended 31 December 2017 HZEZE—ZE—+tF+_A=+—HIFE

2017 2016
—_E—+t5F —E—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

it BT T BT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHINRERE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of new ordinary BITE E B 2 BT 15 R

shares 34 1,529,818 711,398
Exercise of share options 171 5 fix 1 34 - 12,787
New bank borrowings MR ITE R 6,316,624 14,858,212
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIBTER (6,536,413) (14,309,093)
Proceeds from issue of corporate bonds  E51T A Bl fEH < FT 15 51T 806,495 774997
Repayment of corporate bonds EERNTES (791,281) -
Interest paid E RFLE (230,542) (280,765)
Dividends paid EH% - (3,515:317)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 4T IEE HXHX%ZEH % B

shareholders (56,003) (45,723)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W 8 FE 4% iR 4 z5 (18,231) -
Contribution from non-controlling BB ARFEIERBRE 2 HE

shareholders of subsidiaries 25,878 17,087
Deemed partial disposal of subsidiaries % [F &8 7 1 & % i [ B 2 7] - 632,663

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing B2 & )& B) FT 5 8/ (FiA)
activities REREFEE 1,046,345 (1,143,754)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RE&ERBLZEEY M

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CR &) F8 959,981 (1,945,594)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FEFIZRELREEEY

of year 2,698,158 4,738,228
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [&E i & 8) v % £ 558

net 126,157 (94,476)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERZEAERRBRESEEY
END OF YEAR 3,784,296 2,698,158
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ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERREEEYZERDN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances IR & RIRIT A 30 3,735,784 2,654,980
Non-pledged time deposits AR B E K 30 48,512 43,178

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in R4 & BT ISR & &
the consolidated statement of financial 4R&REMERTEZ
position and the consolidated RekReEED
statement of the cash flows 3,784,296 2,698,158




Notes to Financial Statemen\ts
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Digital China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The head office and principal
place of business of the Company is located at Suite 2008, 20/F.,
Devon House, Taikoo Place, 979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong
Kong.

During the vyear, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively

PEAIREBER

Digital China Holdings Limited (& ) £&
WIERER AT ARA]L) TT—
MR EREFMAIZERAT -
RRARZBMEE N ETE N
iz 1A & 75 8 B 0B K 2389795 K &
1 1% 72 K [E 20722008 F ©

MRAFEERN - RNRQF REKB AR
(BB AEBEDEEATEER

referred to as the "Group”) were involved in the following principal ]
activities: F& ﬁ‘*

S
o provision of information technology (*IT") services, including ° REEMBRETITD RS -

systems integration, technical service, application software
development, agricultural informatisation, sale of financial
specified equipment, etc.

. provision of supply chain services, including e-commerce
supply chain services, logistics services, maintenance services,

BREEGER  RMRSE -
EREHHRE BRERER
b HESRERRES

e RUEMERRY BRER
HERRY WRRYE - 4

etc. R
U provision of all-encompassing Sm@rt City services (including L RIEEZFUNEERMESE

internet based integrated IT platform construction and
operation) and institutional financial services (including
micro-credit loan, leasing, factoring, etc.)

KRG (BEEREBEE
TFegRIES) REEML
TRR%(BFE)NE HE -
REE)

fi
«
=
T
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=
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2017 —E—+F+_-_A=+—H
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. DAREBEEHR (&)
(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

EBEMBEATZER
AR ZEENBARFENT

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/
registration registered Percentage of equity Principal
Name and business share capital attributable to the Company activities
MR R - BROEZER/
2R REBBE AR A AAREEREES L TEXH
Direct Indirect
Hi GE:3
Digital China (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$5,125 100 —  Investment holding
EBRAAREE  SIBET RERK
Digital China Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Investment holding
BHEEER A A Bk BT RERK
E-Olympic International Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Holding of trademarks
ERERREE  1ET RERR
g Digital China Networks, Ltd. British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
= BNEEREERA A KBAMARES  10000000%T REER
; Grace Glory Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$1 - 100 Investment holding
I ML P = ++ i e -_— s,
= BELRARAH ERERREE  1ET REER
E Instant Technology Logistics Limited* PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 Provision of logistics services
g RYBEDRERD R RE/HEAE  AR¥1000000007 BRI RS
2
% Talent Gain Developments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding
= ERERREE  1ET RERK
° Power Gateway Limited British Virgin Islands US$100 - 100 Investment holding
HEERRES  100ET REER
Digital China Software Limited** PRC/Mainland China US$200,000,000 = 100 Investment holding
BHEBERHERA R RE/HEAE 2000000005 T RERK



Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2017 —E—+F+-_A=+—H
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER(E)
(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

BFENBLRZEH (E)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/
registration registered Percentage of equity Principal
Name and business share capital attributable to the Company activities
EMRL/ B BROTLER/
L REBEH ZRRA ARREGEEZEIN TEXH ﬁ
Direct Indirect =
B Gk =
T
S
Digital China Xi'an Industrial Co., Limited*  PRC/Mainland China RMB800,000,000 = 100 Development and construction of B
Science and Technology Park ig
BRBNEBEXERAA PE/PEAE  AR8000000007 MREXENRERER s
&
Digital China (Nanjing) Information and PRC/Mainland China HK$367,000,000 - 100 Development and construction of ﬂ:}
Technology Park Limited** Science and Technology Park -
MBS (AR EEREARAR B/ HEAE 3670000007 HREXENFRERER
Tianjin Digital China Financing PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 = 100 Finance lease business
Lease Co, Ltd.*
REMMEBREREARAT B/ PEAE  30000000%T REMERK
Cellular Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
BRREARAT Bk BT REAER
Digital China Sme@rt City (Chonghing) PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 = 100 Operation of Sm@rt City
Operations Services Limited* Platform
BEBM(ZER)ELRBAERAA B/ HEAE  AR%200000000T BEATTREL
Beijing Internetware Company Limited* PRC/Mainland China RMB23,076,924 = 60  Data integration and
management software sales
TrRRERGARAA FE/RERE  ARB230694T BBEEXNERTMHE
Digital China Information Service PRC/Mainland China RMB963,431,273 = 4043*  Systems integration services,
Company Ltd. ("DCITS") application software
development, maintenance
and outsourcing, consultancy
and training services
PE/REKRE  AR9634312737C ZHERRSE - ERRMH

BNEBERRERNDAERLF
55

(MeMERD

& REMIERE - &
i RSB R
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

At

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

. REAREBEEHR(H)

FENBARZEH (B)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/
registration registered Percentage of equity Principal
Name and business share capital attributable to the Company activities
EMRL ER BROTLER/
2R REKLH AR A ARREGEZEI TEXH
Direct Indirect
HE GE:3
Digital China Jinxin Technology Co,, Ltd.*  PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 = 4043"  Sales of financial specialised
equipment
BNEELEHBERNARRE B/ PEAE  AR%200000000T ERERRBHE
Beijing Zhongnong Xinda Information PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 4043*  Surveying service software sales
Technology Limited*
AIRPREECSRMARDE B/ PEAE  AR%500007T AlERBEMHE
Digital China Advanced Systems Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$531,750,000 - 4043 Systems integration services
BHBBENERERAA 0 75 #:531,750,0007C RREMRY
Nanjing Howso Technology Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB102,340,000 - 40.39™*  Network optimisation services
("Howso Technology")
HREFHBEBERAA RE/REAE  AR¥1023400007 BEBICRTE
(k3 E3)
S The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their Chinese S ZERNRZANEBREZAEME

registered names.

The Company name is the trade name but not the original name of the Company.

* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

FEZH XA o

FZRB P XEHEDESHM - Wk
HEAAM -

¢ RETREZEEMELREIED

ES



Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. XAKREERER(E)

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) ERENE AR Z2ER (8)

* Digital China Information Service Company Ltd., a Shenzhen listed company, is * 18N B 5 B AR AR D B BR A Bl A%
accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group even though the Group has only a Y ETAR  AEERHEHZ AR
40.43% equity interest in this company based on the factors explained in notes #940.43%0/1% 1 - HEAR ¥R Uk BE 75 R 3% B
3 and 37 to the financial statements. FskyTEECEE Bt Z AR TE

RAEENHBRA -

- These companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Digital China Information *“ ZENRABMNEIEE ERBKRODE s
Service Company Ltd. and, accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by BRARMEZEHBWNBAR - Bt - k,ﬁ»
virtue of the Company's control over them. ERAABEHZE AR 2= 6 - Z §

FERATIERNE AR AR -

i Howso Technology is 99.90%-owned subsidiary of Digital China Information E
Service Company Ltd. and, accordingly, is accounted for as a subsidiary by o EHB R ASMNEEEERBEKRNE @\n‘i&
virtue of the Company's control over it. R A =) % F99.90002 ft B A 7] i

B B AR FE AT 2 =
Z AR TERK B R RALR - e
#®

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the EERAELRFAEZARANBAR i

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year AEASERNFE 2 EEEEAY _

or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To By LHAEEEEFBEZIEANS

give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the 7o EERAMEIHE A E AT

directors, result in particulars of excessive length. B BEREBANITE -

Except for Digital China Limited, Cellular Investments Limited and BREeMNSEERAR  BREIEEAR

Digital China Advanced Systems Limited, the statutory audits for the BRI MEMNBBEEKRRBRA

above subsidiaries were not performed by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong AN P B AR WIERB B L

or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network. K EETRD B/ FT s 2ok & 7R £ 75

FrEMm 2 REEKBIEZ -
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties and certain equity investments which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the

nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of

the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

() the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1
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SEM BRI TIIRB B EE ST
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in
The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or

profit or loss.

loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

2.1

Notes to Financial Statements
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Notes to Financial Statements
B %S =R R MY 5

31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 B BEREEZEH
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first REEBREARFEENFMEKEH IR
time for the current year's financial statements. WA T RIETE BT REZE
U
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative B2 & #EEE) %
el
E75%
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets B2 & R B IR AR
for Unrealised Losses il BT IH &
21257
Amendments to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other & B % HhEE#m
included in Annual Entities: Clarification of the Scope #HEER wE - HEELY
improvements to of HKFRS 12 —EF—HFE  FEHEER
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle BFoE—NF FBRf#HEZ
BRI FE  FF
2 FEAEET
BB
¥y & A=A
21257
None of the above amendments to HKFRSs has had a significant LMl B IBR BT REER 2]
£ financial effect on these financial statements. I IR RENE RS
% The nature and the impact of the amendments are described below: FBIEERTHMEE M EHBNT
o
- (a)  Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures (a) BiIlzE B ETEREESEE
% that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes KEBELHEE  UNEITK
g in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both RERFAEUTEMETD
5 changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. FFTEAMBEES BIER
% Disclosure of the changes in liabilities arising from financing eMmERFBAEREELEN
g activities is provided in note 40 to the financial statements. BB o 7k B 15 R Y 5E40
= NERHREESFEER
8 BEEH IR -



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 12 clarify that an entity, when assessing
whether taxable profits will be available against which it can
utilise a deductible temporary difference, needs to consider
whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits
against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that
deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance on how an entity should
determine future taxable profits and explain the
circumstances in which taxable profit may include the
recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount.
The amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group as the Group has no
deductible temporary differences or assets that are in the
scope of the amendments.

Amendments to HKFRS 12 clarify that the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12, other than those disclosure
requirements in paragraphs B10 to B16 of HKFRS 12, apply to
an entity's interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an
associate, or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an
associate that is classified as held for sale or included in a
disposal group classified as held for sale. The amendments
have had no impact on the Group's financial statements as
the Group do not have subsidiaries classified as a disposal
group held for sale as at 31 December 2017 and so no
additional information is required to be disclosed.
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2

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9

Amendment to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions'
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

Financial Instruments’

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Revenue from Contracts
with Customers'

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers’

Leases®

Insurance Contracts®
Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures?

Transfers of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transaction and
Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments?

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28’

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 Not mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below. Of those standards,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 will be applicable for the Group's financial
year ending 31 December 2018. Whilst management has performed
a detailed assessment of the estimated impacts of these standards,
that assessment is based on the information currently available to
the Group, including expectations of the application of transitional
provision options and policy choices. The actual impacts upon
adoption could be different to those below, depending on additional
reasonable and supportable information being made available to the
Group at the time of applying the standards and the transitional
provisions and policy options finally adopted.

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August 2016 that
address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction;
the classification of a share-based payment transaction with net
settlement features for withholding a certain amount in order to
meet an employee's tax obligation associated with the share-based
payment; and accounting where a modification to the terms and
conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its
classification from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments
clarify that the approach used to account for vesting conditions
when measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies to
cash-settled share-based payments. The amendments introduce an
exception so that a share-based payment transaction with net share
settlement features for withholding a certain amount in order to
meet the employee's tax obligation is classified in its entirety as an
equity-settled share-based payment transaction when certain
conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the
terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction are modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction, the transaction is
accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the
modification. On adoption, entities are required to apply the
amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective
application is permitted if they elect to adopt for all three
amendments and other criteria are met. The Group will adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2018. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)
In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments project to

replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard

introduces new requirements for classification and measurement,

impairment and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt HKFRS 9

from 1 January 2018. The Group will not restate comparative

information and will recognise any transition adjustments against

the opening balance of equity at January 2018. During 2017, the

Group has performed a detailed assessment of the impact of the

adoption of HKFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the

classification and measurement and the impairment requirements

and are summarised as follows:

(a)

Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will
have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue
measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held at
fair value. Material equity investments currently held as
available for sale will be measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income as the investments are intended to be
held for the foreseeable future and the Group expects to
apply the option to present fair value changes in other
comprehensive income. Gains and losses recorded in other
comprehensive income for the equity investments cannot be
recycled to profit or loss when the investments are
derecognised.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments
and financial guarantee contracts that are not accounted for
at fair value through profit or loss under HKFRS 9, to be
recorded based on an expected credit loss model either on a
twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group will apply
the simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses
that are estimated based on the present values of all cash
shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade
receivables. Furthermore, the Group will apply the general
approach and record twelve-month expected credit losses that
are estimated based on the possible default events on its
other receivables within the next twelve months. The Group
does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have a
significant impact on the impairment of trade and other
receivables.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and
joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step model
account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in
HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and
recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance
obligations, changes in contract assets and liability account balances
between periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard
will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
HKFRSs. Either a full retrospective application or a modified
retrospective adoption is required on the initial application of the
standard. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15
to address the implementation issues on identifying performance
obligations, application guidance on principal versus agent and
licenses of intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are
also intended to help ensure a more consistent application when
entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity of
applying the standard. The Group plans to adopt the transitional
provisions in HKFRS 15 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial
adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings at 1 January 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply
the new requirements only to contracts that are not completed
before 1 January 2018. The Group expects that the transitional
adjustment to be made on 1 January 2018 upon initial adoption of
HKFRS 15 will not be material and changes in accounting policies,
as further explained below, will have no material impact on the
Group's financial statements from 2018 onwards. During 2017, the
Group has performed a detailed assessment on the impact of the
adoption of HKFRS 15.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

The Group's principal activities consist of provision of IT services,

supply chain services, internet based integrated IT platform

construction and operation services and institutional financial

services. The expected impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS

15 on the Group are summarised as follows:

(a)

(b)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
The Group provide systems integration, technical service,
application software development, and internet based
integrated IT platform construction and operation service to
customers. Certain contracts of these services comprise a
variety of performance obligations including, but not limited
to, delivery of goods and provision of services including
transportation, development, installation, training and
maintenance. HKFRS 15 requires the Group to evaluate the
separability of the multiple performance obligations based on
whether they are "distinct”, and allocate the transaction price
to each performance obligation in the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The Group does not expect
that the adoption of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on
the timing and amounts of revenue recognised based on the
existing business model and contract terms of the Group as
at 31 December 2017.

Contracts with significant financing component
The Group provide IT services and internet based integrated IT
platform construction and operation services to customers.
For contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised service exceeds
one year, the transaction price is adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component. The transaction price is
determined by discounting the amount of promised
consideration. The Group uses the same discount rate that it
would use if it were to enter into a separate financing
transaction with the customer. The discount rate reflects the
credit characteristics of the borrower in the arrangement. The
significant financing component will be recognised as
deferred revenue and to be amortised over the contract
period and the corresponding amount is yet to be finalised.
The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 15
will have a significant impact on the amount of revenue from
provision of IT services and internet based integrated IT
platform construction and operation services.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 BEEMEEKRERZES

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Br#5 wR & B (&)

(c) Presentation and disclosure 0 EIRKE
The presentation and disclosure requirements in HKFRS 15 are B EERFE1559 2
more detailed than those under the current HKAS 18. The 2V RFEEREERBETE
presentation requirements represent a significant change from 5’?-5 g % A 185 B A 5
current practice and will significantly increase the volume of o ERIRTERRITEHRL
disclosures required in the Group's financial statements. Many REKRNEY TS AREE
of the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 15 are new and the 7Jl]$’E B BHmET 2
Group has assessed that the impact of some of these BREMH=E ABUBRS
disclosure requirements will be significant. In particular, the EE\'J%BE)TWZK*B 5=
Group expects that the notes to the financial statements will HEHBHE BAEEE
be expanded because of the disclosure of significant D BB TR T 2
judgements made on determining the transaction prices of ZEBER-LEEZE K&
those contracts that include variable consideration, how the | 78 28 ﬁﬁ%i&%ﬁt?ﬁ%A
transaction prices have been allocated to the performance FEREAETZEESUER
obligations, and the assumptions made to estimate the stand- Bza ,\’]ZX%LT& Fﬁ {EH
alone selling price of each performance obligation. In ZAE - D RS ER
addition, as required by HKFRS 15, the Group will ERAVEEAEREGHFSE
disaggregate revenue recognised from contracts with HNEEZBIEEMELZ
customers into categories that depict how the nature, Rk m B Fr ?E;?E gt AN - 3%
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows BB BB WS &R F155
are affected by economic factors. It will also disclose Zﬁ,ﬁb?ﬁ rEBeEERF
o information about the relationship between the disclosure of & K wuZHﬁZ)\ =RNEE
S disaggregated revenue and revenue information disclosed for Bl - DA A 4 7 A = 10 ] 52
= each reportable segment. %H&)\&iﬁi mMERHEE -
E T KRARMEEN - A
= TEREEBDRRARE
] éﬂéﬁiﬁkxii&"%ﬁﬂgz
B WAEBK Z ERBEIERZEH -
£
o HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)- RZZT—R"FhHABMNE BB
£ Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, WG 2ERF69E c MBS G E
(Ii HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 B 2175 & - & 75 (Bl BR B 7% =k
= Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of LREZET) - RESSEETL
< a lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, L BaZHE BEEIRE
E“ measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires Z89g) - u%* FBIRAZHE —
lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The EBELEA(EIZREZEY) -

standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of
low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date
of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments
(i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use

the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e.,

the right-of-use
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asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less HERRHAR - EEEEEHEE
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses unless the NEBEE RESRB A &

right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property in
HKAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant and equipment to
which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is

HABEINBERIELBENK
RAEGIHEERE) RAKRAES
HHEEENENSEE(AIEEMA

subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability HEE) KRIFEFEREEEFTE
and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to BB ERF0RTEEDENT

separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and
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the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also
be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of
certain events, such as change in the lease term and change in
future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate
used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally recognise
the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an
adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under
HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under
HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and
lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17.
Leasees can choose to apply the standard using either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 and is currently
assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption and is and is
considering whether it will choose to take advantage of the practical
expedients available and which transition approach and reliefs will
be adopted. As disclosed in note 42(b) to the financial statements,
at 31 December 2017, the Group had future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in aggregate of
approximately HK$259,077,000. Upon adoption of HKAS 16, certain
amounts included therein may need to be recognised as new right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be
needed to determine the amount of new rights of use assets and
lease liabilities to be recognised, including, but not limited to, any
amounts relating to leases of low-value assets and short term
leases, other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases
entered into before the date of adoption.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in April 2017, clarify when an
entity should transfer property, including property under
construction or development, into or out of investment property.
The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the
property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment
property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change
in management's intentions for the use of a property does not
provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments should be
applied prospectively to the changes in use that occur on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity
first applies the amendments. An entity should reassess the
classification of property held at the date that it first applies the
amendments and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the
conditions that exist at that date. Retrospective application is only
permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides guidance on how to
determine the date of the transaction when applying HKAS 21 to the
situation where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in
a foreign currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability.
The interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is
the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary
asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as
deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance
of recognising the related item, the entity must determine the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration. Entities may apply the interpretation on a full
retrospective basis or on a prospective basis, either from the
beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first applies
the interpretation or the beginning of the prior reporting period
presented as comparative information in the financial statements of
the reporting period in which the entity first applies the
interpretation. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation
prospectively from 1 January 2018. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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(CONTINUED)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the accounting for
income taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred
to as "uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply to
taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically
include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated
with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically
addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (i) how an
entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity
considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is
to be applied retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the
use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of
application as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of
initial application, without the restatement of comparative
information. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation from 1
January 2019. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTTHERE
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POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or
joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair value of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at the fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and
any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and certain equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

2.4 EEEQA—-I_IBZ mg(mﬁ)

NEEEFE
REBREREHREEILEYE
RETHEZEENATFEEELG
2-ATFEEANTEAHEMES
HERETNEFRSTLHEEE
FTl s EREENHNER - A
FEEFE NERLEEENE
BaBRIRNEERBENETE
MGH#ET  HEARBEEMHNE
AT AREERBENSZEFT
BETHRRE EE2RHAFHE
WEBREBREANTE - BE
KEENAFEAEDNERMHE2HE
%%ﬁ?&ﬁﬁm@%%?%m%
REtE - WHREMSREE KR
ﬁm#%ﬂﬂﬁ TE -

FEMEENLTEEFERTERE
M52 0RE R BUKAREERZ
EEEYRERSE HBBEBEE
ETHUAZRAREAZEEERR
ERgEMN R —AMS2EEMEL
BN R ERE T ©

AEBFEREANTRBRIEER

RS ABIRIART E A FEEMG
BR%E NEEERARTERS

ABEBELRBERIERATAERES
A -



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
market for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lower level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists,
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
properties under development, completed properties held for sale,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties and a
disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

or when annual

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expenses categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person's family
and that person,

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or a parent of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHERBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Related parties (Continued) BEE A L ()
(b)  (Continued) b (&)
(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person vi) ZEREX@PAT uExL)DJU/\i
identified in (a); 122 1l 2 52 AR HE l -
(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over (vii) PR ATk A A I ¥ 5%
the entity or is a member of the key management EREEAXENNE
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); ZER(XZERZY
and NADZ BB ERE A
g8 K
(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a vii) ZEBXEMBEERN
part, provides key management personnel services to EEKE R AR AL E
the Group or the parent of the Group. AKENE R FRM
FAREIEABRY -
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation NE - BERZEBERTE
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, BREZEIRIN WE BERXE
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment TR A E R Rt T E RAE AR E
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment BEIEFIER - ME - WE KRB ZK
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of AEBREEBEERFELEIEE
é bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its A RE & Hb B 1R 4% TE R A8 B A i 2
% intended use. A EBERKA o
,% Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment Y- WEREEBBRERRY
5 have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is RHERREERS  —BRE
ki normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in FHIRBE BR MR - MAFEER
E which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are 2 T ERBECATRNEERER
& satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the EFRERLBEENA o WP -
5 carrying amount of the assets as a replacement. Where significant J*bg%& SEZEELHEIEE
rIg parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced B AAREREZESNERSE
§ at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets B 5 7E 5 R 4F B 2 (8 R & 30 AR e
% with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. HHEGRTE -
(=]



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, any difference at that date
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property up
to the date of change in use is accounted for as movements in the
asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient
to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the
deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit or loss to
the extent of the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from
the asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for the
difference between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying
amount of an asset and the depreciation based on the asset's
original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of
the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous
valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in
reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings ~ Over the lease terms or 2% to 5%, whichever

is shorter

Leasehold Over the lease terms or 20% to 33%,
improvements whichever is shorter
Fixtures and office 10% to 33%
equipment

Motor vehicles 10% to 20%
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction,
which are stated at cost less any impairment losses, and are not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment property comprises completed property and property
under construction or re-development. Investment properties are
interests in land and buildings (including the leasehold interest
under an operating lease for a property which would otherwise meet
the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at
fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under "Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in use,
and any difference at that date between the carrying amount and
the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in
accordance with the policy stated under "Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from inventories
to investment properties, any difference between the fair value of
the property at that date and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For a transfer from properties under development or completed
properties held for sale to investment properties, any difference
between the fair value of the property at that date and its previous
carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEBE(E)

Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of five years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria
is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over
commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding five
years, commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.

Systems software

Purchased systems software is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of
ten years.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the lessee, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. When the Group is a lessor under
finance leases, an amount representing the minimum lease payment
receivables and initial direct costs is included in the statement of
financial position as a finance lease receivable. The difference
between the sum of the minimum lease payment receivables
together with initial direct costs and their present value would be
recognised as unearned finance income. Unearned finance income is
recognised over the period of the lease using the effective interest
rate method.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially stated at
the cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Properties under development
Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction costs,
borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development
period.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant property development project
is expected to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the
total land and buildings costs attributable to unsold properties. Net
realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the prevailing
market prices, on an individual property basis.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with positive net
changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and
negative net changes in fair value presented as other expenses in
the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
"Revenue recognition” below.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in other
expenses for receivables.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which
are neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are
those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time
and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in other income and gains, or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain
or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other
expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-
for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies set
out for "Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)
When the fair value of unlisted equity investments and wealth
management financial products cannot be reliably measured because
(a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used
in estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its
available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the
ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification
becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on
that asset that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the
asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from

the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the assets. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred assets to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the assets in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition).

Notes to Financial Statements

1 75 i 2k I

At

31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

24 FEGTTBEME (F)

TR EERE
AEEREREHRRFGREAR

BB R—HeREEL M
BMEELERE - MR T ERZ
BERBE-BXRZREMN AY
AR ZEREENZAT R
BEMBFARRSREELERE
B A HBRRE - - BEZE SR
BEHAR—HEBALKESEAY
B B RIEEF B HABN
R 155 A] e & B AR s EL At A A A
B BRBIBE AT AKRS
MEB AT EZRE D (Fn R
BRCEEBREERRZES) -

L35 A (B S e 2 & Bl B E
PR SHK RS BR 2 & B A E
5 AREBELRSHEENEAS
MEETPELHEEMBAINE B
@¥ﬁ1#ﬂﬁﬁk2ﬁﬂ§3$

BRERBETERER - WEAE
l#mﬂ%w%ﬁZiﬂ§§$ﬁ
TEERETEREE AEREX
BEG HEefE-HAFRUEER
BEBCEREETZEE YU H
T&—rL IEH.\‘/WTEH:F1E ?ﬁ1.)DJIJH:F
Rk 18 B 5t IR (B B 1R R Sl A AR 1
BRAZEEL TR NBBRET
filr o

EAERR R ESREEENK
HERGERKNRSRE (T E
ERAREENARREERR) R
BEZEERTE - Bt RKRER
BZHRENZEEREEZRBE
KM E(ANNTHEREFTE 2 ER
M) PR -

20174 3

fi
«
=
T
=%
=
&
e
=
&
=
-



Notes to Financial Statements
B %S =R R MY 5
31 December 2017 —E—+F+_-_A=+—H
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair
value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a
derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the
difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and
"prolonged"” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the statement of profit
or loss — is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on
equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed
through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value
after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

The determination of what is "significant" or "prolonged” requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale,
impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial assets
carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference
between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Future interest income continues to be
accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is
recorded as part of finance income. Impairment losses on debt
instruments are reversed through the statement of profit or loss if
the subsequent increase in fair value of the instruments can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss

was recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective

hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction

costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include accounts and other payables

and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because that specified debtor fails to make
a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics of
a liability is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial
position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible bonds,
the fair value of the liability component is determined using a
market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and this
amount is carried as a long term liability on the amortised cost basis
until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder of
the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised
and included in shareholders' equity, net of transaction costs. The
carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in
subsequent years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible bonds based on
the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components
when the instruments are first recognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair
value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in
equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss on the purchase, sales, issue or cancellation of the
Group's own equity instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on certain
products are recognised based on sales volume and past experience
of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present
values as appropriate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEBE(E)
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right exists to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEBE(E)
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold;

(b) from contract revenue, on the percentage of completion basis,
as further explained in the accounting policy for "Contract
accounting” below;

() from the rendering of services, on the percentage of
completion basis, as further explained in the accounting
policy for "Contracts for services" below;

(d) from the sale of properties, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
which is when the construction work has been completed and
the properties have been delivered to the buyer. Deposits and
instalments received in respect of properties sold prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position under current liabilities;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(f) finance lease income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the net investment of the finance lease or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
net investment of the finance lease;

(9) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(h) dividend income, when the shareholders' right to receive
payment has been established.

Contract accounting

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and incentive
payments. Contract costs incurred comprise equipment and material
costs, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
proportion of work completed to date to the estimated total work of
the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress
billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers. Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to
date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
treated as an amount due to contract customers.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEFTBRBE (H)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Contracts for services R & X
Contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises the agreed RIERB 2 & HRABRERES L
contract amount. Costs of rendering services comprise labour and R RBRERBZKABIELS ITK
other costs of personnel directly engaged in providing the services AREEZ2EZEMHRBEA LT 2 H A
and attributable overheads. KARELHBEER -
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised based on the RERFE WAL ZSTKE DL
percentage of completion of the transaction, provided that the W T2 EFERA ?iz
revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs to completion KA REFTANBERA] SEHET = © 58
can be measured reliably. The percentage of completion is M2 BEDL2EBEBRIESEZK
established by reference to the costs incurred to date as compared KRERXZGEEZBKANZ LR
to the total costs to be incurred under the transaction. Where the HoMEHN 2 EREET S
outcome of a contract cannot be measured reliably, revenue is M’ BIFTRER M AZEIAE E R
recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible 2 7 S'ZZ%IZE

to be recovered.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are EEE—BBEHEAERSER
anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred to date 1S ¥ 2 Z BB AR 1B L B o in &l
plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress ZHAEAEZEHOKAINDER R
billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from contract MREEREEBLEERERERE
customers. Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to H—r BHE 0T B ERE LR PR
date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is cHEEREFBEEZERIESA
treated as an amount due to contract customers. Z/\fﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂEﬁ@wxﬁﬁﬂf)ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled awards

The Company operates two share option schemes for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments. Further details of the share
option schemes are given in note 35(a) to the financial statements.

The Company operates a restricted share award scheme (the "RSA
Scheme") for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. An employee share trust is established and administered
by an independent trustee and is funded by the Group's cash
contributions. The considerations paid (including any related
transaction costs) by the Company to purchase shares of the
Company for the RSA Scheme are deducted from equity as an
employee share trust. The administrator of the employee share trust
purchases the Company's shares in the open market as award shares
to employees upon vesting. Upon vesting of the award shares, the
corresponding amount in the employee share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to the employee share trust. Further
details of the RSA Scheme are given in note 35(b) to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled awards with employees for grants after 7
November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in note 35 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled awards is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance andfor service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
awards at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled awards (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payment, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme") under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees' basic salaries and are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, the capitalisation rates
ranging from 5% to 6% have been applied to the expenditure on the
individual assets.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group's net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised
in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on retranslation of a non-monetary item measured at the fair
value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the reporting
period.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determined whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group
accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be
sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (Continued)

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group's determination, as to whether to accrue withholding
taxes arising from the distributions of dividends by certain
subsidiaries according to the relevant tax rules enacted in the
jurisdictions, is subject to judgement on the plan of the distributions
of dividends.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the management of the Group has reviewed the Group's investment
properties and concluded that the Group's investment properties are
held under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, in determining the
Group's deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors
have determined that the presumption that investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered through sale is
rebutted.

Accordingly, the Group recognises deferred tax in respect of the
changes in fair value of the investment properties based on
management's best estimate assuming future tax consequences
through usage of such properties of rental purpose, rather than
through sale. The final tax outcome could be different from the
deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial
statements should the investment properties are subsequently
disposed of by the Group, rather than all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties are consumed substantially
by leasing over time. In the event the investment properties are
being disposed of, the Group may be liable to higher tax upon
disposal considering the impact of corporate income tax (“CIT") and
land appreciation tax (“LAT").
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

e

E RGEHE R & (&)

Judgements (Continued) F & (&)
Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less EHEREFRFERERLRA
than a majority of voting rights ZEHERE

The Group considers that it controls DCITS even though it owns less
than 50% of the voting rights. This is because the Group is the
single largest shareholder of DCITS with a 40.43% (2016: 40.43%)
equity interest. Although the Group does not own a majority of the
equity interests in DCITS, taking into account the Group's power to
participate in the operational and financial activities of DCITS,
distribution of key shareholders and their beneficial shareholders as
well as historical voting patterns, and the existence of any
contractual arrangement among the shareholders and/or their
beneficial shareholders, if any, the directors of the Company are of
the view that the equity holdings in DCITS are dispersed in a way
that other shareholders have not organised and the practical risk to
organise their holdings to outvote the Group in the shareholders'
meetings of DCITS is remote so that the Group can still exercise
more voting power than the minority shareholders. Therefore, the
directors of the Company are of the view that the Company has de
facto control over DCITS.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (Continued)

Recognition of employee benefit expense for equity-settled
awards compensation costs

The Company operates two share option schemes and the RSA
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
employees. The fair values of these equity-settled awards were
valued by an external valuer using the binomial model. These
valuations require the Company to make estimates about certain key
inputs, including the dividend vyield, expected volatility, risk-free
interest rate and expected life of options, and hence they are
subject to uncertainty.

Besides, the grant of share options and restricted share units
("RSUs") is conditional upon the satisfaction of specified vesting
conditions, including service periods and performance conditions
linked to financial performance measure. Judgement is required to
take into account the vesting conditions and adjust the number of
RSUs and share options included in the measurement of share-based
compensation costs.

The cumulative expense recognised for these equity-settled rewards
at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. No
expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
December 2017 was HK$2,346,218,000 (2016: HK$2,195,376,000).
Further details are given in note 17 to the financial statements.

Revaluation of investment properties

As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements, certain
investment properties including completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction are revalued at the end of
the reporting period on an open market, existing use basis by
independent professional valuers. These valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the judgement,
information about current prices in an active market for similar
properties is considered and assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period are
used. The carrying amount of investment properties measured at fair
value at 31 December 2017 was HK$4,102,327,000 (2016:
HK$3,046,367,000). The significant methods and assumptions used by
valuers in estimating the fair value of investment properties are set
out in note 15 to the financial statements.

Investment properties under construction are measured based on
estimates prepared by independent real estate valuation experts,
except where such values cannot be reliably determined.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment assessment for accounts and bills receivables
The policy for impairment assessment for accounts and bills
receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability
and ageing analysis of accounts and bills receivables and on the
judgement of management. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer. If the financial conditions of customers of
the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional impairment may be required.
Net impairment of accounts and bills receivables of HK$135,580,000
(2016: HK$70,720,000) was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit and loss for the year. The carrying amount of accounts and
bills receivables as at 31 December 2017 was HK$5,237,665,000
(2016: HK$4,003,615,000).

Recognition of contract revenue

The Group recognises revenue according to the percentage of
completion of individual contracts. The stage of completion is
estimated by reference to the proportion of work completed to date
to the estimated total work of the relevant contracts, and the
corresponding contract revenue is also estimated by management.
Due to the nature of the activity undertaken in these contracts, the
date at which the activity is entered into and the date at which the
activity is completed usually fall into different accounting periods.
Hence, the Group reviews and revises the estimates of both contract
revenue and contract costs for each contract as the contract
progresses. Where the actual contract revenue is less than estimated
or the actual contract costs are more than estimated, a foreseeable
loss may arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for obsolete inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of the Group
and makes provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
identified that are no longer suitable for sales. Management
estimates the net realisable value for such inventories based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions.
A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these inventories. If the market conditions
were to change, resulting in a change in provision for obsolete
items, the difference will be recorded in the period it is identified.
Provisions for and write-off of obsolete inventories of
HK$50,311,000 (2016: HK$10,238,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year. The carrying
amount of inventories as at 31 December 2017 was
HK$1,221,410,000 (2016: HK$788,146,000).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm's length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recognition and allocation of construction costs on
properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as properties under
development during the construction stage and will be transferred
to completed properties held for sale upon completion.
Apportionment of these costs will be recognised in the statement of
profit or loss upon the recognition of the sale of the properties.
Before the final settlement of the development costs and other costs
relating to the sale of the properties, these costs are accrued by the
Group based on management's best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the development
projects into phases. Specific costs directly related to the
development of a phase are recorded as the costs of such phase.
Costs that are common to phases are allocated to individual phases
based on the estimated saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related cost allocation is
different from the initial estimates, any increase or decrease in the
development costs and other costs would affect the profit or loss in
future years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recognition of share-based payment expenses for shares
issued at discount

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company entered into
a subscription agreement with the Company's directors, other
employees of the Group and a trust company who held issued
shares on behalf of certain management of the Group to issue
shares at discount to the then market price of the Company's shares
for the purpose to provide them with incentives and rewards for
their services rendered to the Group. The difference between the
total fair values of the share issued at discount and the total
consideration received by the Group is accounted for as share-based
payment expenses.

The fair value of these shares issued at discount were valued by an
external valuer, taking into account the terms and conditions of
these shares as stipulated in the subscription agreement upon which
the shares were issued. These valuations require the Company to
make estimates about certain key inputs, in particular the liquidity
discounts resulting from the lock-up periods of these shares, and
hence they are subject to uncertainty.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax
asset is realized or the deferred tax liability is settled. Certain
entities of the Group were recognised as "High New Technology
Enterprises” in Mainland China and entitled to a preferential
corporate income tax rate of 15% for a three-year period. Howso
Technology was recognized as "Key Software Enterprise” in national
programming and entitled to a preferential corporate income tax
rate of 10% for a period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December
2017. Digital China Information System (Yangzhou) Limited+ was
recognized as “/NEUEKFI 1 ZE" in preferential corporate income tax
and entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 20% for
a period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Nanjing Howso
Software Co. Ltd.+ was recognized as "/ &Y 3 F| £ 2" in
preferential corporate income tax and entitled to a preferential
corporate income tax rate of 20% for a period from 1 January 2016
to 31 December 2017. The tax regulations call for a renewal process
after the expiry. For the measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, judgement is required to determine whether these entities
will continue to meet the criteria of "High New Technology
Enterprises” and estimate the tax rates expected to be applied.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised based upon the likely timing and
amounts of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities at 31 December 2017 were HK$102,354,000 (2016:
HK$68,176,000) and HK$273,112,000 (2016: HK$247,522,000),
respectively. The amount of unrecognised tax losses and certain
deductible temporary differences at 31 December 2017 was
HK$957,019,000 (2016: HK$550,907,000). Further details are given in
note 23 to the financial statements.

+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their Chinese
registered names.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

CIT

The Group is subject to CIT in various regions. As a result of the fact
that certain matters relating to the CIT have not been confirmed by
the local tax bureaus, objective estimates and judgements based on
currently enacted tax laws, reqgulations and other related policies are
required in determining the provision for CIT. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts originally
recorded, the differences will impact on the CIT and tax provisions in
the period in which the differences realise.

LAT

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT is
based on management's best estimates according to its
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the
determination by the tax authorities upon the completion of the
property development projects. The Group has not finalised its LAT
calculations and payments with the tax authorities for certain
property development projects. The final outcome could be different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, and any differences
will impact the LAT expenses and the related provision in the period
in which the differences realise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and
recognises movements of its fair value in equity. When the fair value
declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in value
to determine whether there is an impairment that should be
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The Group also
recognises unlisted equity investments as available-for-sale and
states them at cost less impairment. Losses arising from the
impairment of such investments should be recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Impairment of available-for-sale financial
assets of HK$239,773,000 (2016: HK$3,599,000) was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year. The
aggregate carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets
measured at cost less impairment is HK$3,802,088,000 (2016:
HK$3,636,199,000), of which HK$3,216,369,000 (2016:
HK$779,784,000) and HK$585,719,000 (2016: HK$2,856,415,000) were
included in non-current assets and current assets, respectively, at 31
December 2017.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the three continuing business groups are

summarised as follows:

(a)

(0)

the "DCITS" segment: Leading IT service provider in China's IT
industry specialised in proprietary software, services, Cloud
Computing and Big Data analysis persisting with the strategy
of integrating Sm@rt City and Sm@rt Agriculture;

the “Supply Chain Management Strategy Unit"
Operating through Instant Logistics to provide comprehensive

segment:

intermediary and backstage logistics services for corporate
customers, e-commerce platforms, branded service providers
and individuals, while actively exploring Internet-based self-
branded maintenance services; and

the “New Business” segment: Including the “Sm@rt City
Service Group" which is the provision of all-encompassing
Sm@rt City services for city administrators, enterprises and
citizens based on “one centre and three platforms” (the urban
information management centre, the integrated citizen service
platform, the integrated enterprise service platform and the
integrated city administration platform); and the “Financial
Service Strategy Unit"

services, such as financing, factoring, leasing, guarantee, etc.,

which is the provision of financial

to internal departments as well as third party customers.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment results is evaluated

based on the reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax
is measured consistently with the Group's profit/(loss) before tax
except that interest income, finance costs, share of profits and
losses of joint ventures and associates, unallocated corporate income
and gains and unallocated corporate expenses are excluded from

such measurement.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, cash and cash
equivalents, investments in joint ventures, investments in associates,
available-for-sale investments and other unallocated corporate

assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payables, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

The following tables present revenue, profit/(loss) and certain asset,
liability and expenditure information for the Group's operating
segments for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

?ﬁgw a %Bé*#(mﬁ)

DHMEETEREREBERLETE
BHREERREE RELREF
BY RELEEXEZRE REE
RAIZKE AHHEZRERE
RDBERBEE

DEHEETREREBEEETE
BRI EHTIIE - B ﬁﬁ&ﬁm%
HoBREEREEEREMADEA
RIAME-

DEZHEZHE REE IR E
TMEERHEETE=ZFZHERE
T MmAETT °

TREJIAKEEHE-Z—tF R
—E—RE+=-A= + BIEFE
W%%%ZWA wm L (B18) &

ETEE -BENMREREMR-

DCITS Supply Chain Services New Business Total continuing operations
BNBBEERER G
BRAF HEEERSKK] HER BELELRA
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
CE-tF ZF-R"F ZEZ-tf ZF-R"F ZE-t§ ZB-RF ZZ-t§f —F-—,F
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000
BT BETT B%Trn #BETT B%Tn BETr A%Tn  BETro
Segment revenue: AHUA

Sales to external customers HBETHHER 9414513 9208612 2884828 2,251,883 947,230 790864 13,246,571 12,251,359
Segment gross profit AHBEF 1939110 1,759,148 372,018 358,832 354,172 385724 2665300 2,503,704
Segment results AHER 521,527 418402 (54,850) 37848 (142,160) 127,498 324517 583,748

Interest income, other unallocated ~ FBMA » ERABMA
income and gains rLiE: 14,856 8256 96,765 45,168
Unallocated expenses FOBRAY - - (349,572) (369.236)
Finance costs BEKA (95,832) (65,758) (230542)  (196,989)

Share of profits and losses of: BT AR 2 a5 F REE :
Joint ventures RELE (190) (3058) 65,160 3947
Associates NG 12,854 8345 45,855 35775
Profit/(loss) before tax BEmET/(BR) 453215 366,187 (47,817) 137713
Income tax expense B 2R (76,152) (78,102) (143584)  (148743)
Profitloss) for the year AERRF/(BE) 377,063 288,085 (191,401) (11,030)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

4. ReWEH(HE)

(CONTINUED)
DCITS Supply Chain Services New Business Total continuing operations
BN E SRS R G
ARAR HEEERHRAT HEB BREEEREH

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE-tE SRRF CE-tF CRRF Rt CERF ZR-tE C2RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT BY%Tr A%Tn BETr B%Tr A%Tn  BETn
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E51) (Z31) (E51)

Assets and liabilities BEREE
Segment assets J/J\EBQE 11,720,784 9,588,737 1,178,759 750,536 6,324,256 5492994 19,223,799 15,832,267
Investments in joint ventures REELEZRE 19,130 23,000 228,639 1,008,013
Investments in associates RBERRZRE 435,971 421752 2637304 162950
Available-for-sale investments EHEZRE 715,054 515,699 3,900,528 3,808,654
Unallocated assets APBEE - - 1,925,291 1,437,667
Total assets BEE 12,890,939 10,549,188 27,915,561 23716121
Segment liabilities AEHAE 6,817,379 5334721 1,240,155 675017 426,354 587,515 8,483,888 6,597,259
Unallocated liabilities rPEAR - = 6636799 6646949
Total liabilities BafE 6817379 5334727 15,120,687 13244208
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RETHEH(R)
(CONTINUED)
DCITS Supply Chain Services New Business Total continuing operations
BNEBESRER G
BRAF HERERREAD MES BREEEHAN
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
SE-tE ST-RF ZE-tEF STRF CE-tF SRRF Rt CERF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
E¥Tr AETr E¥Tn BETr BETr A%Tr  E%Tn BETx
Other segment information: HittAHEH ¥
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ % - BiE RREZME er\—
equipments 82,182 41,520 24,874 20,129 35,252 23671 142,308 85320 §
Unallocated amounts RABEH - = - = - - 639 516
Nl
S
142947 85836 B
T
=
Amortisation of prepaid land premium T8 T 13078 & % & 750 549 - - 1,005 2,052 1,755 2,601 Ed
Amortisation of other intangible assets HiEpEESE 31,853 14,601 - - - - 31,853 14,601 %%
Capital expenditure® EAREY 116,035 815,190 69,577 40877 788,298 66,777 973910 922,844 =
Unallocated amounts RAFEH - = - = - - 1301 533 B
975211 923377
201
Impairment of accounts and bills  ENRARERZERE
receivables 34,999 63413 130 1,691 100,451 5616 135,580 70,720
Provision/(reversal of provisions) REGSRRE/
for and write-off of obsolete (BBRE) R#H
inventories 50,803 1113 (482) (885) (10) 10 50,311 10238
Impairment of finance lease EUBEREHERE
receivables - = - = 522 20,102 522 20,102
Impairment of available-for-sale AEHEZRERE
investments - - - - 227,941 - 239,773 3599

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment,

prepaid land premiums, investment properties and other intangible assets

including assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries.

NLfe RENFEREGETE
E(BFEAKRBHRBRRZEE) 2R
B
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Geographical information

Since over 90% of the Group's revenue from external customers is
generated in Mainland China and over 90% of the non-current
assets of the Group (except for investments in associates) are
located in Mainland China, no geographic information is presented.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, there was no
revenue derived from transactions with a single external customer
which individually amounted to 10% of the Group's revenue.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods and properties
sold, after allowances for returns and trade discounts; an
appropriate of contract revenue; gross rental income received and
receivable from investment properties; and the value of services

ZoEE R (FE)

i @ & ¥
EKﬁ%IXE%%EﬁZ%AE
1B9000 A AR B K B EE A B AN E (R
REEE QR Z & EHN) HBiB0%IE 7T
)& EM AR B RRE - B 25
[ & A o

FEEFEHR
REEZE_ZE—tFRZZF—F

+—A=+—BItFE AEEH
ELMREREREINEFPRS Z
WA 2N &= B 2 U8 A 1000LA £ o

WA~ B AR W&
%Ahﬁ BRRNEERFE
GIRRERE SI0N): @EHH
ZAMBA  RRAMEE KRR
RS WA  ARAEFR

rendered to customers, net of value-added tax and government MR 2 B A (FOBR B E B & A
surcharges. BME) -
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains from continuing ﬁiﬁz‘“&ﬁﬁ%z LAt g A R a2
operations is as follows: DR :
2017 2016
—E—t#F —T-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Revenue B A
Systems integration business RRERET 4,740,997 4,826,370
Technical service business AT AR 7 % 7 3,021,107 2,573,861
Logistics business T 1,380,844 1,124,853
Application software development FER BB REB
business 1,019,050 1,038,270
E-commerce supply chain services B EERSE
business 1,322,742 894,943
Agricultural informatisation business = ¥ {5 B (b E 1% 274,829 324,289
Financial specified equipment business < @l 5 FH &% 15 48 8 % 75 357,878 445822
Financial services business ® ml R 7S E 15 257,391 364,783
Others HAth 871,733 658,168
13,246,571 12,251,359




REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
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5. WA HMBARKE

(CONTINUED) (#&)
2017 2016
—ZE—tF —ET—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B i BET T BT T
Other income H fth It A
Government grants* IR 47 B 74,245 60,102
Interest income B WA 21,526 14,165
Income from wealth management I3 B 2 an A
financial products 33,621 21,159
Dividend income from available-for- AHEE 2 ®RE 2 IREMHA
sale investments 17,289 8,710
Others HAb 5,133 7,883
151,814 112,019
Gains W ==
Fair value gains on investment KEWEZ AFEERKE
properties, net 5 53,086 134,888
Gain on disposal of the equity HEXHEEDFE R
interests in joint ventures I = 102,394 72
Gain on disposal of the equity interest & — & A Al =
in an associate I = 2,795 =
Gain on deemed partial disposal of R & % & A A
the equity interests in associates B0z 2 W 42,046 -
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERHEEZHRE Z
investments W as 31,138 26,420
Foreign exchange differences, net SN JF = RE 79,751 -
Others =) 4,567 3
315,777 161,383
467,591 273,402

Various government grants have been received for the sale of self-developed
software products approved by the tax authority in the People's Republic of
China ("PRC"), the development of software products in Mainland China, and
the investments in specific provinces in Mainland China. Government grants for
which related expenditure has not yet been undertaken are included in
deferred income (non-current portion) and other payables and accruals (current
portion) in the statement of financial position, respectively. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to the government grants
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

ERHEEFEARKMBE (THED B
BRHPIRAZBITREERMS  NHE
RERB R RN P BEAERSEA D
HEATIRE T WEUE TR 88 - BT
A ARET AR E DR 21E
B B AR R AR TR A (GETR &) &P
D) REMENFRRERER (R
MD)W - ABARIEE R ER 2 BT
R R E K Z RIF R AEIR
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PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6. FRBIATRER (EE)
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations is NEB FELE X 2 BRB A R
arrived at after charging/(crediting): F,(EBE) B &M (GEA)
2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—R
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
o &t BET T BT T
Cost of inventories sold EHFEZKAR 6,065,408 5,719,147
Auditor's remuneration 1% EAD B & 4,405 3,322
Depreciation e 142,947 85,836
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums T8 {5 4= b 10 & # §5 16 1,755 2,601
Research and development costs* Tt 75 & B 25 Bk AR 588,051 519,965
Amortisation of other intangible Bt A =
assets™® 18 31,853 14,601
Minimum lease payments under T REF 2 HELE
operating leases in respect of land HEHES
and buildings 146,656 129,891
Provisions for and write-off of PR & 17 & B 1 R e
obsolete inventories* 50,311 10,238
Impairment of accounts and bills JE L2 BR R % E U R R R
receivables® 27 135,580 70,720
Impairment of finance lease & Uk @b & 7 & ZIE R E
receivables® 22 522 20,102
Impairment of available-for-sale A E 2 &R E R E
investments*® 21 239,773 3,599
Loss/(gain) on deemed partial disposal % {1 & 2% [E1E & 2 5] 305
of the equity interest in associates* 1z 2 B8, (Mg es)* (42,046) 33,740
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BE K& EZ
plant and equipment 18 2,742 4,588
Foreign exchange differences, net* SINEEE 5 2= BB~ (79,751) 163,198
Employee benefit expense (including EERINAZ(BRIEES
directors' remuneration (note 8)): Bl <& (HfE8)) -
Wages and salaries TERS® 1,792,656 1,512,017
Share-based payment expenses for BT IR D 2 AR5
shares issued at discount HER - 49,735
Share-based compensation AR D S 4 2 B & 318,067 -
Pension scheme contributions*™ R R & 52 A FR 188,929 206,655
Other benefits H 12 7 315,832 228,928
2,615,484 1,997,335
Direct operating expenses (including & BENFA € M & E W X0
repairs and maintenance) arising on = EEZE B A (BEHE
rental-earning investment properties MRE) 31,209 25,098




6.

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

The amortisation of certain other intangible assets, the provisions for and write-
off of obsolete inventories, the impairment of accounts and bills receivables,
the impairment of finance lease receivables, the impairment of available-for-
sale investments, the loss on deemed partial disposal of the equity interest in
an associate, research and development costs and foreign exchange loss, net
are included in "Other expenses, net" in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss.

%

available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years

(2016: Nil).

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as

follows:

At 31 December 2017, the Group had no material forfeited contributions

Notes to Financial Statements
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BR B A E R (& 18) ()

© ETHGELAEEH REGER
T B R A R
18 - B AR ORRLE
.2 13 B - B At — R
AMA B2 IR FRRMBRE
EAEFRRRHARARESESZ
3T LTI

e RZE—+E+-A=+—H K&
] 3 #% 85 K A 008 R SR E 2 R AR

S EIHRZ BRI ER (=T -
Fim) o
Rl & B A<
REREXEB 2 MEKARZ DT
T
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ET—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

Interest on bank borrowings
Interest on corporate bonds
Interest on discounted bills
Less: Interest capitalised

RITERF L
D AESFE
ERRBERENE
B BAEH B

178,073 181,850
44,771 11,645
7,698 15,716
- (12,222)

230,542 196,989
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8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 8.
REMUNERATION

Directors' and chief executives' remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing Rules"), section
383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

ESERITHRASME

RAFERNZES &7
& NBRBEREABMERSFAERA
AIFEAFEMRATETRAD - &F
B2 A B 5E383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) K(f)
BERAG (BREEFZER) R
FoEp - WEMT

Group

rEE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Fees e 1,200 1,500
Other emoluments: E e
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fie R NMEYREA 15,391 12,095
Performance related bonuses FIRMEE 2 B4 - 7,010
Share-based compensation (note) AR 2 2 B < (47 :2) 166,379 29,231
Pension scheme contributions BIRE T B K 437 125
182,207 48,461
183,407 49,961




8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ & MY 7

31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

ESERITHRASIME (&)

() BAUFATES
RAFEERNEXN TEILIFE

the year were as follows: WITESZ2HESWT ¢
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T 7T T
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis BEXREE 300 300
Ms. NI Hong (Hope) {52 8T /)N 38 300 300
Dr. LIU Yun, John Bl rEL 300 300
Ms. YAN Xiaoyan (note) B R L X (KT A7) - =
Mr. LAl Daniel, 88s, Jp FBEHEE A 0 ses P 300 300
Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter' TRELE - 150
1,200 1,350

! Retired on 30 June 2016

Note:  Ms. YAN Xiaoyan waived her entitlements to director's fee during the
term of her tenure. The amount of director's fee being waived during
the year was HK$300,000 (2016: HK$300,000).

Saved as disclosed above, there were no other emoluments
payable to the independent non-executive directors during the
year (2016: Nil).

! R-B—RFERNA=THRE

et - BERLTHEEREESEH
HEMERRE 2R RAE
FEENERENESHBS BB
#5300,0007T (A = & — /X : /8
#£300,0007T) ©

fR EXPTIEEE SN MAF
BEAY &S T EILIEHRTT
EEEMEMME (=T X

FE)-
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8.

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 8. ESBSRITHAZME (&)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the b) FTEZ FATESK
chief executives THAR
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related  Share-based scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses compensation contributions remuneration
Fe 2 REHEBE URGIG EHREE
Be RENEF ZIA ZHe it MesH

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BE¥Tr B¥ETn B¥Tr BTz BE¥Tx

(Note)
(Hiit)
2017 —E-t&
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. GUO Wei BhrE - 7,420 - 111,591 58 119,069
Mr. LIN Yang* Nty - 3,729 - 27,394 58 31,181
Mr. Denis Shing Fai YIP*! HERE A - 3,013 - - 292 3,305
Mr. WANG Xinhui? THBEE - 1,229 - 27,394 29 28,652
- 15,391 - 166,379 437 182,207
Non-executive directors: FHITEE:
Mr. YU Ziping? REFTEE
Mr. PENG Jing® YRELE
- 15,391 - 166,379 437 182,207




8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

8. EERTHARMS (&)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the b) FTEZ -FIHATESK
chief executives (Continued) THAR (8)
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related  Share-based scheme Tota
Fees in kind bonuses  compensation  contributions  remuneration
FeoRE RBAE URGIN BAEHE
e REDEM 2 2 R RAKGEH
) HK$©Q? ) HK$©Q? ) HK$©Q? ) HK$©Q? ) HK$©Q? ) HK$©Q?
BETT ATz B%Tr B%Tr BTz AETx
(Note)
(Hr3t)
2016 “E-XRE
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. GUQ Wei BREE - 7,622 4,673 28,752 56 41,103
Mr. LIN Yang* S Pt - 3828 2337 479 56 6,700
Mr. YAN Guorong* SEES S - 645 - - 13 658
= 12,095 7,010 29,231 125 48,461
Non-executive director: EHTES:
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN® 7k ot 22 150 = = = = 150
150 12,095 7,010 29,231 125 48,611
! Appointed on 21 July 2017 and resigned on 16 November 2017 ! R_F—LFLA-t+—HAE
ZERR=ZZT—+tF+—A
TN BEE
2 Appointed on 12 January 2017 and resigned on 21 July 2017 : R_Z—tF—At+-AEZ
ERR=_FE—tFLtA=Z+—
HEHE
3 Appointed on 27 December 2017 : R_Z—tFt+t-A=t++tH
BEE
4 Resigned on 8 March 2016 ! RZT—R"F=A/\HEFT
5 Resigned on 1 July 2016 ¢ %Zg_ﬁﬁ‘f‘:ﬂ_ﬁgﬂf
* Mr. LIN Yang and Mr. Denis Shing Fai YIP are also the chief executives " M ST RERE LR LT AR

of the Company.

RAIMTTEAEE ©
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8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

Executive directors, non-executive directors and the
chief executives (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director or a chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year.

Notes: (i) During the year, certain directors of the Company were granted
share options and RSUs, in respect of their services to the
Group, under the share option schemes and the RSA scheme
of the Company, respectively, further details of which are set
out in note 35 to the financial statements. The fair values of
these options and RSUs, which have been recognised in the
statement of profit or loss over the vesting period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, were
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included
in the financial statements for the current year is included in
the above directors' remuneration disclosures.

The cumulative expense recognised for these equity-settled
rewards at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. No
expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest.

8. EEBERITHAIME (&)

(b)

HITES  FHITESER
TR (&)

RAFERN BEFHITHAR
BB URELRBRE
TSz 28 -

Hiaz < ()

RAFEAR ARA
ETEZAREAS
SEREHERS D 5
RIE A 1 BB AR R
B & R D 2B
ArEIERBRERR
PRl B 0 - A B —
E BB I B R
RUTEESs - A F R AR
R SR B Ap 2 A F
BEDRELAMNE
E X EREKKER
%/ 3R 0 5 B
NERBRAER
i &t AR F E #7755
RZTBEHA Lt
BEEMEEMP -

REREHMREZR
B B HI R AR X
HEAERZ RAtH
X R B E R
BR - A RAEES
RERBRB oD TA
HEMREMBE
ReME—HHEOEA
mRAMBFRGFAZ
SRER/ARZEHEM
% HA R A e R R &t
Fl S B0 B - IRAS R
BERBZERIAX
TTHER



8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the
chief executives (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, ordinary shares of
the Company were issued at discount to Mr. GUO Wei and
Mr. LIN Yang under the Subscription Agreement (as define in
note 34(c)) for their services rendered to the Group, further
details of which are set out in note 34(c) to the financial
statements. During the year ended 31 December 2016, the
share-based payment expenses relating to the shares issued at
discount to Mr. GUO Wei and Mr. LIN Yang were
approximately HK$28,752,000 and HK$479,000, respectively.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three

(2016: two) directors and chief executive, detail
remuneration are set out in note 8 above.

of whose
Details of the

remuneration of the remaining two (2016: three) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the
Company for the year are as follows:

8.

e

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ & MY 7

31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H
BEERTHAZME ()

(b) MTES FHUTEEK
TR E (&)
At - ()

(ii) REBEE-T — N4
+=A

ER ARARER
B (EER N
34(c)) B IR ITEE AT
KRB EBBRALG T
B RS %A B
®E R4 & B R AR
BrE—SHBRAR
1bt B 765 SR 3% B 7 34(c) ©
RBE-_ZT— K&
+=—A=+—HB1F
EARN- B RIEZTE
BREITRNDGETHR
F e RMG & EZ B
BRHZAER S BIL
/575 #528,752,0007T M 75
#479,0007T ©

LuBaHMES
RAEERZ A RBHHES B
BZR(C2—AF MA)EER
TREH  REZHeFERR L
S HisEsh - AFEHTMA(—F
—REF ZR)BREFHIESR (LI
ADRANMERRTRAE) 2B 2
FERAMT

2017 2016

—E—tHF AN

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T 7S T T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #r &  EBEI N E VR F 3,047 4,484
Performance related bonuses FRIBMEE 2 B4 412 5,549
Share-based compensation (note) LARR 9 150 2 Bl & (K7 72) 49,100 6,497
Pension scheme contributions RIKEET 83 113 110
52,672 16,640
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED) 9.

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid

hfus & HMWES (&)
SEHMIESERIETRAHIES

employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as ZANBERMesHENT
follows:
Number of employees
EBEE A"
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—R
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 78 #2,000,0017T Z % #52,500,0007T - 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 78 #6,500,001 7T Z % #57,000,0007T - 1
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 78 7,500,001 7T Z 7% #8,000,0007T - 1
HK$20,500,001 to HK$21,000,000 78 20,500,001 7T Z 7 #21,00,0007T 1 -
HK$31,500,001 to HK$32,000,000 75 31,500,001 7T 2 7 #32,000,0007T 1 =
2 3
Notes: (i) During the year, certain non-director and non-chief executive highest ez < (i) RAEERN - & T &= HMIE
paid employees were granted share options and RSUs, in respect of BEERFTBREREEARS
their services to the Group, under the share option schemes and the RANE BIR AR D BlR &
RSA scheme of the Company, respectively, further details of which are AR 7 AR RE AT 3 2 2 R Il AR
set out in note 35 to the financial statements. The fair values of these 17 SEENFT B R B AR I PR
options and RSUs, which have been recognised in the statement of I - BRE—FFEBER
profit or loss over the vesting period in which the performance and/or I B 75 3 5% BT 735 © % AR
service conditions are fulfilled, were determined as at the date of ERZRHRGD 2 AT EET
grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the R B BEE - W EREK
current year is included in the above non-director and non-chief RE R, IRT R R E AN E
executive, highest paid employees' remuneration disclosures. BRRAER Mt ARFE
M mER s eEEEA L&
S MIFEESRITRAEE
BMEERF -
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2016, ordinary shares of the (i) REBEE-ZZE—X"F+=A

Company were issued at discount to two non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employees under the Subscription Agreement
(as defined in note 34(c)) for their services rendered to the Group,
further details of which are set out in note 34(c) to the financial
statements. During the year ended 31 December 2016, the share-based
payment expenses relating to the shares issued at discount to non-
director and non-chief executive highest paid employees were
approximately HK$6,497,000 in aggregate.

=+—HBLEFER  ARARR
BEREHGR(EER AW
34()) BRI R EEITAR A
TRRGETMER=E MIEE
ERIFTHRAHEENRER
AEBIRERE - E—FFB
B Lk B 75 3R 3R M 5E34(0) © R
HE-_Z—R"F+=-ZA=+—
BIEFEAR @ BEETEE
BITROD G T E == 5 BIE
EEZRETHEHES Z AR
DEZNBREFHRBE
6,497,0007T °©



31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREHEHR
2017 2016
—E—tE C—E—AfE
HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

Current — Mainland China ZNHE — A OK B
ar PEMEH
Charge for the year KEEX M 162,415 110,320 o
Underprovision in prior years LA AT 45 [ A 12 4,748 4,991 4
LAT T IRE R 3,484 12,212 g
iz
«
170,647 127,523 o
&
Current — Hong Kong KE - BB =
Charge for the year REFSH 129 17 %&
Underprovision in prior years LA B 4F & 1 165 = =
pra
294 17 /
213
Deferred (note 23) iR I ([ 5E23) (27.357) 21,203

Total tax charge for the year AEEHEZHEF 143,584 148,743
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10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(a)

(o)

PRC CIT represents tax charged on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Mainland China. In general, the Group's
subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are subject to the
PRC CIT rate of 25% except for certain subsidiaries which are

entitled to preferential tax rates.

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of the land value, being the
proceeds from sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including amortisation of land use rights, borrowing costs and

all property development expenditures.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Hong Kong profits
tax had been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong. Taxes
on profit assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

The share of tax charge attributable to joint ventures of
HK$19,510,000 (2016: HK$21,457,000) and the share of tax
charge attributable to associates of HK$35,087,000 (2016:
HK$22,069,000) of the continuing operations of the Group are
included in "Share of profits and losses of joint ventures" and
“Share of profits and losses of associates”, respectively, in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

0. RSB E A (&)

(a)

(0)

PEMEMEHRERPEAX
BE BE A 2 il 5T FE SR B0 s ) B
Bz HE--BRETHELQ
AIZEVBERIN AEH
EREKXELENHERF

—RBHMNTPE D ERFR
2 Tt 2 250 ©

AR 4 o 1A R BL 4 3t 1R (A
2 R T ) 3000 ZF 6007
Uz BN 3 45 & BT 1S 3R B R
AT A (B4 L F A
B BEEKAREZIWE
FRERY) -

= —t&+ = A
=+—BLFEA BEF
SHOREBBES 2 MAET
fE R B om Al Riesw (= T

— N 1 165%) Z B R &
o HfbihE A ERFIEH
E&ZK‘EI%%%%WWEI
RMBERAMEFTE

REERKEBELEEEENS

ErEIZHBEILABE
19,510,0007C (= & — /X F ¢
7 #21.457,0007T) & FE 15 B
M”‘szlﬁitﬂﬁﬁ%%
35,087,000 (ZF — /N F : /B
?f‘i%n 069,0007C) * E & Bl 5T A
RizEERRPZIELHEE
m%Zmﬂ&fEﬂEJ&H‘HE
g N R 2w H MR A e



10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before

tax from continuing operations at the statutory rates for the

jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its

subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ & MY 7

31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

Fris®i 8 M ()

RIFARD T RA R H W B A R AT
ERAE BE 2 RE B R HSA
B ER 2 RBAER,(518) @
A2 BB BRI BB R

rates is as follows: RIS HEERAT ¢
2017 2016
—E—+tF /AN
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing BEREXEBEZRE R,
operations (EB18) (47,817) 137,713
Tax at the applicable tax rate RERBXRFEZTIE (11,954) 34,428
Lower tax rates for specific provinces or ~ RFEB MM FEELE T 2
local authority AR & (51,331) (57,503)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BB LABI FEHIE 2 FHE
previous periods 4,913 4991
Profits and losses attributable to joint aEbERBERRZ
ventures and associates FE Al 5 F) K &5 18 (27,754) (18,756)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERZRBARIABEZ
recognised M 46,502 73,860
Income not subject to tax G Z WA (6,097) (22,543)
Expenses not deductible to tax TR I 2 X 193,070 123,588
Tax losses utilised from previous periods 7l FA i@ 7 HifH 2 #i TH &5 18 (8.202) (1,534)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the 3% % B Uz A By 1000 1 BT 15 i
dividend income A 953 =
LAT + IR E R 3,484 12,212
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate BEASBEERBERGFEZ
I8 3 143,584 148,743
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11.

—tF+=A=+—H

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 7 August 2015, the Company published an announcement in
relation to its proposed disposal of the subsidiaries engaged in the
distribution business (namely, “Digital China Group") to Shenzhen
("Shenxin Taifeng"), the details of
which have been set out in the circular of the Company dated on 9
the

entities engaged in the distribution business will cease to be the

Shenxin Taifeng Group Co., Ltd.

August 2015. Following the completion of the transaction,

Company's subsidiaries. The disposal of Digital China Group was
approved by the shareholders of the Company at the special general
meeting held on 26 August 2015 and the approval from PRC
regulatory authorities was received by Shenxin Taifeng on 18
December 2015. Digital China Group was classified as a disposal
group held for sale and as a discontinued operation, and accordingly
the distribution business is no longer included in the note for the
continuing segment information. The disposal of Digital China Group
has been completed on 28 March 2016.

The English name of the Company is a direct transliteration of its registered
Chinese name.

11.

FFEREETK

R-ZE—RAFNALH  AAE)E
AL AREBREETEBNKS
DI EBH QR GEMEMNEEE
B FFRIMFEERLE(EE) KRG
ERAR(NFEERLE])  EHFE
BER - ZT—HAFENANLBNEK
FeoRBRERBE  REDIHED
MEEBSTBAARANKERQ
Aot EMMNHABERAER - T
—EFENA -+ NHETHRER
FIARE SRR B IR E KRR
—ZE—RF+=ZARt+N\RERERZE
W Bl A B BE B 2 HEJfE o 1B )
BEBEIBEAFELESB LI
BHECEER AR HEEBTE
BEERFKESBEARNBTELE
XBHER HEBMNEBEED
RZE—ARF=ZA=-F+\HZEK-

* FZATZEXABEFEBEMER
ZHRX AT -
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DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED) 1. FELEXEK (E)
The net assets of Digital China Group disposed of as at the date of REERH  BEMNEABEED
disposal were as follows: BEEFERMMT
HK$'000
ST T
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEKREE 370,011
Investment in an associate REENR2®E 43,668
Available-for-sale investments AHEEZERE 75,464
Deferred tax assets EER IR & E 309,768
Inventories FE 5,803,416
Accounts and bills receivables JFE U BR 2 % e R E R 6,084,877
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T FRIE - e K H A fE U A 3,314,765
Derivative financial instruments MTESMITA 2,954
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREeEEY 2,534,688
Accounts and bills payables JES BRI B 245 (5,621,913)
Other payables and accruals HEMEMZIENTERE R (1,805,219)
Tax payables & B 1R (122,669)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BB RITER (6,818,296)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE (198,175)
3,973,339
Exchange fluctuation reserve PE R B) % 1 (45,348)
3,927,991
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEZREHE QR Z WS 842,047
Tax and expenses HMIEREHR (344,016)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net of tax and KNG IERBERAELEZHEB A A
expenses 2 Wz 498,031
4,426,022
Satisfied by cash THRBE2 4,426,022
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED) M. FEEREXRH (&)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect TEZHENBARZHEERAESSE
of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: BYRAFEZOMET -
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration R RE 4,426,022
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEHERSRACEEYD (2,534,688)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect HEZHEMB AR 2R & MRS

of the disposal of subsidiaries EEMRANFR 1,891,334
The results of Digital China Group contributed to the Group, which BRI T ASE@INSTE R EELE -
are only from transactions with counterparties external to the Group WWEEAEBHINLRFHF 2R
and do not necessarily represent the activities of the operation as SUT—EREKAEFEEBHNEE
individual entities, are presented below: EE)  NMABWT
2016*
—E-RE
HK$'000
BT T
5 Revenue A 12,913,654
& Cost of sales §H 5 B AR (12,189,837)
; Gross profit E 7 723,817
& Other income and gains N NN & 92,573
£ Expenses 2H (654,444)
£ Finance costs & A AR (83,776)
5 Share of profits and losses of a joint venture and B & & XK E A A 2 & RkEE
= an associate 269
T
5 Profit before tax from the discontinued operation — FE#%5 48 4% & 2 75 2 & F 5l i 7 78,439
5 Income tax FEHER (16,847)
[=)
61,592

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net of tax and KNMBRBERERBEEENB AR Z

expenses U #= 498,031

Profit for the year from the discontinued operation FE#5 48 4% & ¥ 7 2 7N F & i 7 559,623
* These numbers represent the activities of Digital China Group contributed to the " ZEUTREAERMTAK B 21812
Group in current year prior to its disposal. BEBLHERHZANAEREZSEE

) o



11.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)

The net cash flows incurred by Digital China Group are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS =R R MY 5

31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

1. RFELEXK (H)
M NEBREEEZ RS RETF

BT :

2016*
AN
HK$'000
BT T
Operating activities B (189,081)
Investing activities "EEE 1,190,356
Financing activities BEED 62,789
Net cash inflow BEREMAF 1,064,064

Earnings per share: BRRAR :
Basic, from the discontinued operation AR REFEFELCEED HK cents 49.94/% fllI

Diluted, from the discontinued operation

e

BE KEFFELERT

HK cents 49.937% Il

These numbers represent the activities of Digital China Group contributed to the
Group in current year prior to its disposal.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share from the
discontinued operation are based on:

* ZEHFRRAEMTARE 218 M &K
BEELEARZANAFEZSE
) o

REFFELEEBZERERR
BERANDBRBIATEIBAE

2016
—E—RF

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
parent from the discontinued operation

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue less shares held under the RSA scheme
during the year used in the basic earnings per
share calculation (note 13)

KREFFFBELEEB 2B QA
R R R AR R A

AR ESREARMNZAFE
B 1T 8 B BORE X R Bl A0
RE)ET 8 T RTR R 2 It
T g (K at13)

HK$559,623,000
75 ¥ 559,623,0007T

1,120,671,262

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during FIR T E SR EERF 2 KXFE

the year used in the diluted earnings per share
calculation (note 13)

Rz T8 (A at3)

1,120,712,935
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13.

DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Special dividend — Nil Rl S - &
(2016: HK$3.20 per ordinary share) —E-REF:

5% I 8 AR #3.207T) - 3,515,317
Proposed final dividend Ik R HA B B - -
- 3,515,317

Upon the completion of the disposal of Digital China Group, the
Company declared and paid a special cash dividend of HK$3.20 per
share to shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2016.

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculations of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount is
based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue less shares held under the RSA Scheme of
1,414,003,454 (2016: 1,120,671,262) during the year.

The calculations of the diluted earnings/(loss) per share amount for
the year is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary
shares in issue less shares held under the RSA scheme during the
year, as used in the basic earnings/(loss) per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all the
dilutive potential ordinary shares related to the Group's share-based
incentive schemes into ordinary shares.

13.

SRR M BB R B AL
BE-F-AET-A=t+—AL
7 [ B R & X 65 1878 53207
BEIRERE G TFALARE -

EECeTEZanBE_ZT—tF
+—A=+—BLEFERERFR
B(ZZ— R #)o

BAREERRBRRELSS
BREF(FHE)

BREARF (BB HERAFE
ZEHAREBRBEREMGEF
(B18)  ARRAFEANE BEITR
£ SR HI B (0 S B AT 21 T AT AR 1D
2 38 AR AN #E ST 5 801,414,003,454%
(= & — X £ :1,120,671,2620%) 5t

st
H o
ZAr

AEREZzEREERTN(BR) T
BRAFEZIAR L BRRAEMN
wA(BR) - ARZAENT B
BNEFHBRARAFEARNZE
17 & BBORE X R HI i ) 52 By =1 &)
THFRO (TERRFESRE
AEF/(ER) XNBREH
AEB 2 g B8 2 A Al B
EEEN T BRERRETERE
EEBRTEBRZMEFHE-



13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(CONTINUED)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are

13.

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ & MY 7

31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

BRAEERKRREMLSE
BREF(EE) (&)

BREAREERTN,(BE) IR

based on: BUATEERE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Earnings/(loss) BR(EE)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity FRFTEEREARAMEER
holders of the parent, used in the basic (B8 28 AR
and diluted earnings/(loss) per share 38 AR AR B R (ks A1,
calculation: (E1H):
From continuing operations RERFBEEEER (413,006) (170,309)
From the discontinued operation REFFELE X - 559,623
(413,006) 389,314
Number of shares
i gc|
2017 2016
—E-tF ZET-RHF

B 3
ARGFESRERERN

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue less shares held under the
RSA scheme during the year, used in the
basic earnings/(loss) per share calculation

TETREF D 2 pnAE S 15 £

Effect of dilution — weighted average BEYE - TRk 2N
number of ordinary shares: 198
Share-based incentive schemes A% #2051 &

(BRIZAFEERHITER
PR AE 5 PR I B 40 22 B 5T &

1.414,003,454 1,120,671,262

- 41,673

ARGTEEREERT,

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares during the year used in the (BR) 2 AEFELT AR
diluted earnings/(loss) per share TN 15 21

calculation

1.414,003,454 1,120,712,935
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. ME- -BERRXRE

Fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
#ER
BF HEEB BLERE RE  ERIRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR  E%Tn  B%Tr BT B%Tn  B%Tx
31 December 2017 “ET-tF+ZA=1+-H
At 31 December 2016 and RZZ-AE+=ZA=t-8K
at 1 January 2017: RZF—tF—-A—-H:
Cost KAE 764,958 120,497 480,601 18,583 131,726 1516365
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (48,366) (84,055) (282,188) (13,201) - (427,810)
Net carrying amount REFE 716,592 36,442 198,413 5,382 131,726 1,088,555
At 1 January 2017, net of accumulated R=E—+&—-f—H8"
depreciation MR R & 716,592 36,442 198,413 5,382 131,726 1,088,555
Additions RE 738,020 47921 124,233 1217 984 912375
Disposals irf - (69) (2.926) (1,116) (114) (4,225)
Surplus on revaluation upon the transfer to RERZTRENEREEL
investment properties T E 32,065 - - - - 32,065
Transfers B - 873 131,073 - (131,946) -
Transfer to investment properties (note 15) BRERENE (Hi5) (819,852) - - - - (819,852)
Depreciation provided during the year (note 6) KEEME (Hf6) (31315) (19,658) (90,449) (1,525) - (142,947)
Exchange realignment ERAE 76,987 2,692 17,142 281 4,087 101,189
At 31 December 2017, net of accumulated RZF—tF+=A=+—AR"
depreciation MR R E 712497 68,201 377,486 4,239 4,737 1,167,160
At 31 December 2017: RZZE—+F+-A=+-H:
Cost KAE 779,438 174,011 729,887 16,774 4,737 1,704,847
Accumulated depreciation Rith & (66,941) (105,810) (352,401) (12,535) - (537,687)
Net carrying amount REFE 712497 68,201 377,486 4239 4,737 1,167,160
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. X -BERR®E (&
(CONTINUED)
Fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
#£ER
B  HEEE BOERB RE  EBRIE Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
BT BT B%Trn  A¥%Trn  BETr  B%Tx
31 December 2016 —E-Aft=A=+-H i
.
At 1 January 2016: RZF-—AF—F—H: S
Cost KAE 631,389 119,025 500721 17342 11,734 1280211 o
Accurnulated depreciation 25t E (73,952) (96,936) (304,464) (12,021) - (487,375) HE
=
Net carrying amount REFE 557,437 22,087 196,257 5321 11,734 792,836 T
=
2
At 1 January 2016, net of accumulated R=E-~E—R—B" s
depreciation MERE 557437 2087 196,257 5321 11734 79283 e
Additions RE - 29,258 74722 158 571,686 677,209 —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 36) Wik % Rt 8 A R (M #38) 30,436 315 7831 454 - 39,036 BE
Disposals HE - (102) (5,407) (40) = (5,549)
Surplus on revaluation upon the transfer to RERZERENZRELL
investment properties T E 601,807 - - - - 601,807
Transfers BE 418239 - 45 - (418,664) -
Transfer to investment properties (rote 75) ERERENE (W H15) (853,531) (3,118) (908) - - (857,557)
Depreciation provided during the year (note 6/ KEEHE (Hfite) (11,149) (10,816) (62,312) (1,559) - (85,836)
Exchange realignment AR (26,647) (1,182) (12,195) (337) (33,030) (73,391)
At 31 December 2016, net of accumulated RZE-R"E+ZA=+-8"
depreciation k2 E 716,592 36442 198,413 5382 131726 1,088,555
At 31 December 2016: RZBE-R~E+ZA=+—-H:
Cost KAE 764958 120497 480,601 18,583 131,726 1,516,365
Accurnulated depreciation 25t E (48,366) (84,055) (262,188) (13,201) - (427,810)
Net carrying amount EHFE 716,592 36,442 198413 5382 131,726 1,088,555
At 31 December 2017, the Group's property, plant and equipment RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H =K

with a carrying value of HK$175,186,000 (2016: HK$173,097,000) S B EREE A8 %175,186,0007T (=

were pledged to secure certain bank loans of the Group (note T — N4 ¢ 5 #173,097,0000T) Z W)

33(a)). ¥ WMELEZED TUER EA
REBESE TRITERZER
(Pff 5E33(a) ) ©
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REYZE
The Group
xEE
2017 2016
g 3 3 —Z-RE
Investment Investment
Completed properties Completed properties
investment under investment under
properties  construction Total properties  construction Total
2 XM 3 Bk KR
RENE RENE @z REWE  REVE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT BRI BETT BETT BETT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—RZKARE 2,881,176 165,191 3,046,367 1,890,510 232,739 2123249
Additions NE 12,226 628 12,854 33,263 23876 57,139
Transfer from owner-occupied propertiesjprepaid  EHEH B CLEYS R
land premium e 821,663 - 821,663 932,396 - 932,396
Transfer to completed properties held for sale BEEREREREN
BIHE (39,384) - (39,384) - = =
Transfers #E - - - 90,338 (90,338) -
Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised 1% A F EE A% 2 F Wi
in profit or loss BRAEBR 54,082 (996) 53,086 123,352 11,536 134,888
Exchange realignment EH AR 196,372 11,369 207,741 (188,683) (12622) (201,305)
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt-A=1t-AZEAE 3,026,135 176192 4,102,327 2,881,176 165,191 3,046,367

The Group's investment properties are situated in Mainland China
and are held under medium term leases.

The directors of the Company have determined that the investment
properties consist of one class of asset, commercial properties, based
on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property. The
Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2017
based on valuations performed by Savills Valuation and Professional
Services Limited and Valuelink Asset Appraisal (Beijing) Co., Ltd.,
independent professionally qualified valuers, at HK$4,102,327,000
(2016: HK$3,046,367,000) on an open market, existing use basis. Each
year, the Group's management decides to appoint which external
valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of the Group's
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
The Group's management have discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results once a year when the
valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

Certain investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included in
note 42(a) to the financial statements.

AEBZEEMEAURF B X
B SIARBBEORA -

ARREEREBESYWEIHEE &
BLEREEREYEBE BT
ZLEE HEEME - AEEZE
EMER_ZT—+tF+=_A=+—
BENBEBYEES ERGHEMSE
—AFREHHEREEREER
R REX(JR) EETHBERA
RZHENREARMSERRITAR
EERBITEH R %4,102,327,0007T
— T — X F 75 3,046,367,000
) BEAEBZEEBEERATZR
EINBEEMREEAEEMEZ
BB - REEEBEM S A
HoBE CBUMUREEKER
BIRUER REF—RREEY
BMEETHER  AEEZEE
EBEHHEMLEERX RGBS
REITFER °

ETHREVZEEEMAERTE=
77 B S EFB RN R
¥R M E4200) o
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REY = (&)

At 31 December 2017, the Group has not yet obtained the real RZE—tF+=ZA=+—H =K
estate ownership certificates for the Group's investment properties SEEREMABERFEERAEE
with a net carrying amount of HK$369,204,000 (2016: BR M % (B 78 #369,204,0007T (= &
HK$371,411,000) from the relevant government authorities. The — N4 B #371,411,00070) Z "B
directors of the Company consider that the relevant real estate MERGEHEMBES - XA 7]
ownership certificates will be obtained in the near future. EERAB SR HAEGIERRE

EZMAE-

At 31 December 2017, the Group's investment properties with a RZE—tF+=ZA=+—H =K =3
carrying value of HK$3,799,829,000 (2016: HK$1,875,703,000) were % B Bk | B A B 13,799,829,0007T 4
pledged to secure certain bank loans of the Group (note 33(a)). ZF — /N4 75 #1,875,703,0007T ) §
ZIREMED TUER  ERAE =
EESE TRITERZERGE 5
33(a)) ° i
=
Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are included AEEREMEZE-—THEBE iﬁ
on pages 314 to 316. R E3N4BE EF36ENA © &
&
Fair value hierarchy ANEEESZR
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy TRINTAEB ZHREMERRF
of the Group's investment properties: EBEFA=SH:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2017 using

R-ZE-+tE&+Z-HA=+-H

ATEEFERA
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EEBTE EATEERE EXFUEER
MWEE  FNEER INREE At

(£8%-) (£8%>) (E%=)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ERTr E%Tr EWTrn  EEWTn

Recurring fair value measurement for: ~ BERATFEBEFER
Commercial properties HENE - - 4,102,327 4,102,327
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

15. REWE (&)
PEEBEESHR(E)

Fair value measurement

as at 31 December 2016 using
RZE-RE+ZA=1—H

AT EEHEER
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EEDMS BEATBR EXTABE
mHE HAMEx  AMEEXR st
(FH-) (D) (BR=)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BTt  E¥TT  E¥Tn

Recurring fair value measurement for:

ERLFREER

Commercial properties EEYE - - 3,046,367 3,046,367
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements REAFEEAN RER—RFER =2
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 HAEERATEENE  MRF

(2016: Nil).

M=MEEBAIBH(ZFT KX
FE)-
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REY = (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEBESHK(E)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 DERER = ATFEEZLINA
of the fair value hierarchy: FEAEFEZHE
Commercial
properties
[GEX/ES
HK$'000
BT T =
.
Carrying amount at 1 January 2016 RZE—ARF—A—BZEKEmE 2,123,249 S
Additions NE 57,139 3
Transfer from owner-occupied properties/prepaid & H B A¥W % FEN LA £ E.g
land premium 932,396 i
Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised IZAFEERAR 2 FWaERSEBER &l
in other gains in profit or loss < H At gz 134,888 %
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 B (201,305) =
B
Carrying amount at 31 December 2016 RZE—RF+A=1+—HRK
and 1 January 2017 —E—tF—HA—HZEAE 3,046,367
Additions NE 12,854
Transfer from owner-occupied properties/prepaid ~ #EE B B AW % BN LA S
land premium 821,663
Transfer to completed properties held for sale HBRERIEHEREMNE T M (39,384)
Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised in 2 A FEERAE 2 FWmERBER
other gains in profit or loss 2 H A W E 53,086
Exchange realignment bE 5 F & 207,741

Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+tF+-_A=+—HZEAE 4,102,327
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REYZE (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEEER(E)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key LATR Al 1% 8 ¥ 2 W 51 2 7P
inputs to the valuation of investment properties: TAEARBEERZE
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
RV EXAFAERINRE R EFS
2017 2016
—E—+HE —E-REF
Commercial Discounted method Estimated rental value (per s.q.m. and per month) From 17 to 383 From 12 to 371
properties cash flow BEEeEBEEYAREREAR) H172383 H122371
HENE BREASREE Long term vacancy rate From 4% to 15% From 5% to 15%
RHAZEEX H4%Z15% F35% 2 15%
Discount rate From 5.5% to 7.5% From 6% to 8%
BRE F5.5%27.5% F16% 8%
Commercial Hypothetical Unit rate (per s.q.m.) (HK$) From 9,466 to 13,015 From 8,857 to 12,179
properties development method B B (FF A K)(B¥TT) 19,466 213,015 F18,857%12,179
[SES/ES BRERE Construction costs (per s.q.m.) (HK$) From 4,370 to 5,050 From 4,089 to 4,725
BEKRK(BFAK)(ERT F14,370%5,050 F14,089%4,725
Other costs and expenses/construction costs From 17.76% to 22.85% From 15.66% to 18.04%
£ AR ARFX/ BERE F117.76% Z22.85% 115,660 18.04%
.:? Discount rate 4.75% 4.75%
E fR % 4.75% 4750
<
§ The Group has determined that the highest and best use of the AEECHELXEEEDERAIE
- commercial properties at the measurement date would be to convert HBiz &e kRERAEHEBRRIE
% those properties for residential purposes. For strategic reasons, the FERABE2ZEYE - HRERER
g properties are not being used in this manner. CERAEAZAAER -
:E Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated RIRAIRB @ REE A FEETD
= using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of ownership KARZEHEMAEENN = KB E
B over the asset's life. This method involves the projection of a series BREEZSwmETHET - &AE
8 of cash flows on a property interest. A market-derived discount rate BREMERT, —BRBASRE
is applied to the projected cash flow in order to establish the ZTER o TS HTA 2 BB REAR
present value of the income stream associated with the asset. ARG RE AEREEEERH

ZWERZEE-
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows
and outflows are determined by events such as rent reviews, lease
renewal and related re-letting, redevelopment and refurbishment.
The appropriate duration is driven by market behaviour that is a
characteristic of the class of property. The periodic cash flow is
estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable expenses,
collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance costs, agent and
commission costs and other operating and management expenses.
The series of periodic net operating income, along with an estimate
of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection
period, is then discounted.

In the case of investment property under construction, estimates of
capital outlays and construction cost, development costs, and
anticipated sales income are estimated to arrive at a series of net
cash flows that are then discounted over the projected development
and marketing periods. Specific development risks such as planning,
zoning, licences, and building permits are separately valued.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value and
the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would result in
a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the long term vacancy
rate and the discount rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment properties.
Generally, a change in the assumption made for the estimated rental
value is accompanied by a directionally similar change in the rent
growth per annum and the discount rate and an opposite change in
the long term vacancy rate.
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16. PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS 16. A Lt#HE

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEKAE 72,274 120,352

Additions NE - 36,630

Transfers to investment properties (note 15) 3% = 1% & ¥ 2 (K7 7% 15) (1,811) (74,839)

Amortisation during the year (note 6) ANEF G (K iEe) (1,755) (2,601)

Exchange realignment PE 5 F8 % 4,927 (7,268)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+t A=+—BZEAE 73,635 72,274
Current portion included in prepayments, R EIZP 5D BIEETE 5KIE -

deposits and other receivables & & Eth &R GRIE (4,356) (4,337)

Non-current portion IETR B 2B 1D 69,279 67,937

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's prepaid land premiums with a
carrying value of HK$33,164,000 (2016: HK$23,073,000) were pledged
to secure certain bank loans of the Group (note 33(a)).

RZE—+E+-_A=+—8 K
5 5 BR M| B & 7B #533,164,0007T (=
T — N 4 ¢ B #23,073,0007T) Z TB
NEEEE FUEE  (EAKRE
EESSE THRITERZ ER M F
33(a)) °



17. GOODWILL 17.
The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising from the
acquisition of subsidiaries, was as follows:

31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

Gk
HbEZHMB AR EEMERE
BEZHEBSBEWOAT :
2017 2016
— —E—RNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

At 1 January: Kn—HA—B8:

Cost B ANME 2,195,376 1,228,452

Accumulated impairment ZERE - (12,476)

Net carrying amount BREFE 2,195,376 1,215,976
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated R—A—HB2ZKAE:

impairment Mk REHRE 2,195,376 1,215976
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) W B BT /B 1 =) (A 738) - 1,073,696
Exchange realignment bE 3 & 150,842 (94,296)
Cost at 31 December, net of accumulated MR+ =—A=+—BZKAKE

impairment Bk REHRE 2,346,218 2,195,376
At 31 December: R+=-—A=+—8:

Cost NI 2,346,218 2,195,376

Accumulated impairment ZEHRE - -

Net carrying amount REFE 2,346,218 2,195,376

20174 3R
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17.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
following cash-generating units for impairment testing:

o Industry application software and solutions cash-generating
unit;

o Rural information services cash-generating unit;

. Mobile network optimisation and big data services for

communications cash-generating unit;

. Data integration and management software sales cash-
generating unit; and

o Agricultural internet of things services cash-generating unit.

Industry application software and solutions cash-
generating unit

The recoverable amount of the industry application software and
solutions cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 14% (2016: 150%)
and cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a
growth rate of 3% (2016: 3%).

Rural information services cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the rural information services cash-
generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a
five-year period approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to cash flow projections is 149% (2016: 15%) and cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a growth rate of
3% (2016: 3%).
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17.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Mobile network optimisation and big data services for
communications cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the mobile network optimisation and big
data services for communications cash-generating unit is determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 14% (2016: 13.5%) and cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 3% (2016: 3%).

Data integration and management software sales cash-
generating unit

The recoverable amount of the data integration and management
software sales cash-generating unit is determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 16% (2016:
16.5%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using a growth rate of 3% (2016: 3%).

Agricultural internet of things services cash-generating
unit

The recoverable amount of the agricultural internet of things
services cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 18.5% (2016: 20%)
and cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a
growth rate of 3% (2016: 3%).
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17/-

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

17/-

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-

generating units is as follows:

& ()

k- SeAEREAC )
UTFAARERREEERUL A
BIREE

2017 2016
—E—+F —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Industrial application software and TERERBRGRBRT R
solutions 229,153 214,421
Rural information services BN E B R 977,543 914,696
Mobile network optimisation and big data 2B 4% B 1L KB E KB IE
services for communications R 7 1,032,203 965,841
Data integration and management HEEKXEEEEMFHEE
software sales 83,863 78,470
Agricultural internet of things services B 2 A RS 23,456 21,948
Total CEi 2,346,218 2,195,376

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the

industry application software and solutions cash-generating unit, the

rural information services cash-generating unit, the mobile network

optimisation and big data services for communications cash-
generating unit, the data integration and management software
sales cash-generating unit and the agricultural internet of things
services cash generating unit for the years ended 31 December 2017

and 2016.

REBEZE_ZE—tFR_ZFT—XF
+ZA=+—HLFEAN  FET
XERBHERBRAIRRAEELS
fif - BNEERBRESELENM
BEREEL RBEANEERER
CELEEN  BEEKRREEHRMG
HERSEESBM R EEYH AR
BHReELBEMZFEREAENLE
HEZ/HRH-



17.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The following describes each key assumption on which management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average gross margins
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year, increased
for expected efficiency improvements, and expected market

development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is after tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the cash-generating unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development
of the industry application software and solutions cash-generating
unit, the rural information services cash-generating unit, the mobile
network optimisation and big data services for communications
cash-generating unit, the data integration and management
software sales cash-generating unit and the agriculture internet of
things services cash generating unit, and discounts rates are

consistent with external information sources.
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31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HtWEFEE
Deferred
Patents  development Systems
and licences costs software Total
ERER EERE
BEA KA AHE4 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETr  EBTR A%Tn  BETx

31 December 2017 “E-t&+ZA=t-H
At 1 January 2017: RZZ—tF—A—H:
Cost A E 23,975 32,564 124,874 181,413
Accumulated amortisation and 2 EERRE
impairment (12,208) - (17,162) (29,370)

Net carrying amount EHTE 11,767 32,564 107,712 152,043
)36 Cost at 1 January 2017, net of RZZE—tF—A—-HZ

accumulated amortisation and PRAE - R 25T E R

impairment A el 11,767 32,564 107,712 152,043
£ Additions NE 4,712 15,592 29,678 49,982
g Amortisation provided during the year A4 [ Bk 85 (47 :26)
'_g" (note 6) (4,921) - (26,932) (31,853)
f Exchange realignment I 5B 744 2,559 7912 11,215
i
E At 31 December 2017 m:g_t¢+:ﬂ E'I'_El 12,302 50,715 118,370 181,387
E
g At 31 December 2017 R-E—+F+-A=+—H:
= N\
2 Cost N 30,433 50,715 164,641 245,789
% Accumulated amortisation and 2R EHRRE
= impairment (18,131) - (46,271) (64,402)
g‘

Net carrying amount REHE 12,302 50,715 118,370 181,387
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 18. Hitt B\ & E (&)
Deferred
Patents  development Systems
and licences costs software Total
EfER @ RTAE
Al A REE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥TrT  AETn  A¥Tn  BETn
31 December 2016 —E-x"E+=ZB=1+—-H
At 1 January 2016 RZE—"$¥—HA—A8:
Cost XA E 19,554 30,738 71,898 122,190
Accumulated amortisation and R EHELRE
impairment (5,077) (4,383) (54,345) (63,805)
Net carrying amount EEFE 14,477 26,355 17,553 58,385
Cost at 1 January 2016, net of RZZE-—R"E—A—HZ
accumulated amortisation and RAE R RFTEER
impairment BB 14,477 26,355 17,553 58,385
Additions NE 2,048 9,462 46,392 57,902
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) WEE KB A R (A a238) 499 - 54,962 55,461
Amortisation provided during the year AEEEH (4.281) = (10,320) (14,601)
Exchange realignment B X AE (976) (3,253) (875) (5.104)
At 31 December 2016 EC:?*T\E‘I‘ZE E+7E| 11,767 32,564 107,712 152,043
At 31 December 2016 RZE—R"E+ZA=+—1:
Cost [N 23,975 32,564 124,874 181,413
Accumulated amortisation and 2 EHERE
impairment (12,208) = (17,162) (29,370)
Net carrying amount EHSE 11,767 32,564 107,712 152,043
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19.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

19. REELERZRE

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T B EE I

Share of net assets 5 & EFE 190,776 991,219
Goodwill on acquisition R EEE 2 HE 37,863 16,794
228,639 1,008,013

The details of the Group's loans to joint ventures included in the
Group's prepayments, deposits and other receivables are disclosed in
note 28 to the financial statements. In the opinion of the directors,
these loans are not considered as part of the Group's net
investments in these joint ventures.

The details of the Group's accounts receivable balances due from
joint ventures are disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.

All the joint ventures have been accounted for using the equity
method in these financial statements.

On 25 October 2017, Digital China Investments Limited* ("DCI"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into the equity
transfer agreement with Beijing Huicong Internet Information
Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing Huicong"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of HC International, Inc., pursuant to which DCI agreed to transfer
the 30% equity interest in Chongqing Digital Chinac HC
Microfinance Co. Ltd.* ("Chongging Microfinance”) to Beijing
Huicong. The disposal of Chongging Microfinance has been
completed on 15 November 2017. Upon completion of the disposal,
the Group held the equity interest in Chongqging Microfinance
reduced from 60% to 30%, accordingly, Chongging Microfinance is
accounted for as an associate of the Group. Further details of the
transaction has been set out in the Company's announcements
dated on 19 May 2017 and 15 Nov 2017.

AEEBREASEZBEMNFRE
RehEMERFBZASELE
RUEZEFROFIERERN %R
KM BEERAR RFERT
EERRAKERZFEELEF
BREN—BD -

NEEEKRZEE S EZERE
SRAE R EY 1B I R A b B S SRR MY
5F27 °

IR ELEYEHERIAR L
BRI

R-ZZE—+tF+A=-+HHB &
Br2EREMEARMINIEESR
BRAR ([1#&E ) BEBERR
RAG(AEAIZBEAERAE])
Z2EEHEEKBE AR REIRE B
EEFMERAR ([t REE]) %
VREERRGZ GNEERER
b 5 22 B B g 55 R e N SEUAR ZX HE )N
HERAERAR(EENE]DZ
ok - HEEENEER-Z
—+tFE+—A+THEBEEK - HER
Bzt sk AEEREEE/NE
2 P AE B 6000 % 1K 23000 © AL - &
BNETEAREB 2B E QR -
RRGHZE—THIBEERARR]
B A-_ZT—+tFRAA+NABE=
T—tFE+—A+RBZRAER-
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INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19. REE ¥ 2K E (#)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information TRINGSEENE  HAEAEBER
in respect of Chongging Microfinance, which is the Group's material ZE—ARFE+tZA=+—HMERK
joint venture as at 31 December 2016, adjusted for any differences BELE KABRSHHREREZ
in accounting polices. MBERBE -
2016
—E-RF
HK$'000
BT T
Revenue WA 234,385
Profit for the year I 2 5 A 80,438
Total comprehensive income for the year N4 [Z 2 M Wz 42 58 80,438
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of TRINTAEEEG & 2 GEE 7
the Group's joint ventures that are not individually material: BERN)ZHBEREET
2017 2016
—E—+F AN
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's ANEBRGE R E ZHRER
investments in the joint ventures BRAEES & 228,639 187,176
Share of the joint ventures' profit/(loss) FEREEDE I ARFERERHN
for the year (E18) 24,722 (9,016)
Share of the joint ventures' total BEEeEtFE 2 AEFELA
comprehensive income/(loss) for the year Wz (E1R) % 24,722 (9,016)

* The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their Chinese
registered names.

. ZERAZAX BB REZAZEME
RZHPXEHE o
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 200 REEE RN 2 iRE

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T B EE I
Share of net assets 5 & EFE 2,110,299 1,128,307
Goodwill on acquisition R EEE 2 HE 527,005 501,213
2,637,304 1,629,520

Analysed into: DR :
Unlisted shares Ik ET R D 699,913 197,232
Shares listed in Hong Kong RBEBLEMZE® 1,410,455 918,942
Shares listed in Mainland China AR B KRE BT 2 5 526,936 513,346
2,637,304 1,629,520

AEBEZEBERNRZEHEH
75 B4 R TR b B 745 S R P k27 a3

The Group's trading balances with associates are disclosed in notes
27 and 31 to the financial statements, respectively.
IT2BERRZHBOT

Particulars of the material associates are as follows:

Percentage of

Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report

Place of Particular of ownership
incorporation/ issued share interest
registration and capital registered attributable Principal
Name business capital to the Group activities
REERT AEBERS
FEMAL BE BA/ FEEER
% REKBE BAFE BAak ETEEH
DigiWin Software Co., Ltd. ("DWS")™ PRC/Mainland China RMB264,709,943 10.98* Provision of ERP software and related
services
SERBERNERARA(SERMED HE/ HEKRE A 15264,709 94370 RAERPE 1 B IR
HC International, Inc. (*HCI")™* Cayman Islands/ HK$108,532,371 23.37 Provision of B-to-B e-commerces
Mainland China services
EREBERAA((BEEE]) ™ HERS /mHAE 7 #108,532,3717C B2 ERHTA
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 20. EAHy s NAElziRE (&)
DWS is accounted for as an associate of the Group as the Group is able to h#%iﬂ#Lﬂ HEEEHENB A
exercise significant influence over DWS because the Group hold more than Ak—HEEREHBARESSE
20% of the voting power of DWS through a non-wholly-owned subsidiary and B B iB2000 K FRORME - W R FEEF
a wholly-owned subsidiary. BEREBEARTE RHUSEEHTIEA
KB E QA F o
Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst . FHEBLKETMEBAALKE
& Young global network. TR BT E M R RBEK BATE
% o
* Listed on the ChiNext of The Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The total market value * RORINEEZFTBIZER ETH - R = s
of the Group's listed shares as at 31 December 2017 was HK$994,068,000. —tF+ZA=+—H AKEELH k&
R A% 2 T & 48 #8 /537 15 994,068,000 T ° S
- Listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The total = REH Hﬁﬁ/ﬁ\ REMBR AR ER E E
market value of the Group's listed shares as at 31 December 2017 was MeR=_FT—+tF+=-_A=+—08" S‘é
HK$1,453,540,000. ZK%IJ:mJ]x@ZﬁﬂEZ»%%’E)%/%% T
1,453,540,0007T ° d;'%
&
The Group's investments in the associates are held through the REEREBERRZRET2HE @
subsidiaries of the Company. BARAIZWBRAFE ° =
All the associates have been accounted for using the equity method FrE & QR HERERER LB

in these financial statements. R INER o
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 200 RBEE AT ZRE (&)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information TRINTEERHREREELH
in respect of DWS and HCI adjusted for any differences in BITHREZE2UMBEERBE

accounting policies:

DWS HCI
RERs EREm
2017 2016 2017 2016
S8-tF ZB-AF —¥-tF “F-AF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETr  BETxn A%t BETR

Current assets RBEE 1,243,181 1,083,131 3,399,159 2743974
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,098,011 890,018 5,249,562 4,134,028
Current liabilities RHEE (873,549) (666858)  (1,531,443) (2,698,235)
Non-current liabilities ERBDEE (4,.283) (3135)  (1,873,148) (605,769)
Net assets BEFE 1,463,360 1,303,156 5,244,130 3,573,998
Less: Non-controlling interests o R E S 17,670 9,903 950,153 309,283

Net assets attributable to shareholders of & Al REEH 2 EE

< the associates FE 1,445,690 1,293,253 4,293,977 3,264,715
<

2 Net assets, excluding goodwill of BEFE TEEKRELA

= the associate BE 1,463,360 1,303,156 3,660,159 2,390,482
o

17 Revenue O 1,436,826 1,332,834 4,241,553 2,289,506
E . .

S Profit for the year AEERF 76,399 49,698 363,511 351,532
g Other comprehensive income/(loss) HEp2mEka/ (B1) (13.326) 22,252 (102,619) (67,060)
2 Total comprehensive income for the year ANFE 2 H Uz A% 63,073 71,950 260,892 284,472
£

s
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 200 REEE AT Z2RE (&)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of TR RAEEH S A A (FEE B
the Group's associates that are not individually material: BER)ZHBEREE :
2017 2016
—E—+5F —E R
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T 7T T
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEB R E QAR 2K EH
investments in the associates BRMEA G 281,363 197,232
Share of the associates' loss for the year  JEAG B & A B) & AN F [Z E 18 (34,767) (8,126)
Share of the associates' total JEREE N Al 2 NEE
comprehensive loss for the year 2 HEEAE (34,767) (8,126)
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 21. AIHEZRE
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b aF BET T BT T
Current R E
Wealth management financial B ER  BRAE
products, at cost (a) 585,719 2,856,415
Non-current IE 7 B
Wealth management financial products 2 B/ & i (a) 2,366,416 -
Listed equity investments, at fair value EHH#zmIZE @ ZAFEE (b 98,440 172,455
Unlisted equity investments FLEMERIEE (b) 849,953 779,784
3,314,809 952,239
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21.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

Wealth management financial products have original maturity from one months
to one year or have no fixed term maturities (2016: three months to one year)
when acquired. Included in the above balances there are certain wealth
management financial products with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$2,603,057,000 (before deducting the impairment loss) which were
purchased from an affiliate to a state-owned financial institution during the
year ended 31 December 2016. These wealth management financial products
were due for repayment during the year ended 31 December 2017 but have
not yet been settled. The Group is in discussion with the counterparties on the
settlement plan, but no conclusion has been reached as at the date on which
these financial statements were approved. During the year, an impairment
provision of HK$227,941,000 (2016: Nil) was made against these wealth
management financial products and recorded in the results of the "New
Business” segment based on the Group's provision policy. In addition, these
wealth management financial products were reclassified to non-current assets
for current year's presentation considering the existence of uncertainties to
recover these balances within twelve months after the reporting period.

The investments consist of investments in equity securities which were
designated as available-for-sale financial assets and have no fixed maturity
date or coupon rate.

During the year, an impairment of HK$11,832,000 (2016: Nil) was recognised
for an available-for-sale investment with a carrying amount of HK$33,972,000
(before deducting the impairment loss), because there are objective evidences
indicating that such investment was impaired. During the year ended 31
December 2016, there was a significant decline in the market value of certain
listed equity investments during the year. The directors consider that such a
decline indicates that the listed equity investments have been impaired and an
impairment loss of HK$3,599,000, which included a reclassification from other
comprehensive income of HK$3,599,000, has been recognised in the statement
of profit or loss for the year then ended.

The Group's unlisted equity investments and wealth management

financial

products are measured at cost less impairment. The

directors consider that fair values of these investments cannot be
measured reliably because the probabilities of various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair values.

21.

JHEEZRE (F)

Wit

(@)
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MAZ -Gk AMEER (=2 — X
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ETEMESMER  ASBBEE
#52,603,057,0007T, (31 F B B E 1B AT) ©
RV ERERREBEE-_S—tF
+ZA=+—HALEERNBEHESE
B AREE o A% EIFEE S EER
RAR - HEHELMBRRBLHA
IEMARER AR - RAFEEAR Lt
B emERELREREBLEE
227941,0007C (Z T — /N 4F : &) - M8
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ERCENINARERDEE -

HERARERETATHEESR
BE LAXAETHMARSE L
W EHRA -

KEERN AETBEBRRTZKRE
ERE BstRZAHEE ZRER
B & #11,8320000 (= & — X F -
&) - HBRHE E & % #33,972,0007T (R
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MiERRENZ ARz 5 EEANE
Tk EFERAZ NBRER ETEE
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22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

22. B mEHERE

2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Finance lease receivables JE Y Bl & T & 508 479,944 736,803
Impairment A (24,716) (22,674)
455,228 714,129

Non-current FEFRE
Finance lease — gross receivables EREERE - RHKIE 113,493 352,532
Unearned finance income RAEHEBEWA - (24,667)
113,493 327,865

Current B

Finance lease — gross receivables EYRmERE - RIE 389,932 443,613
Unearned finance income RAEHEBEWA (48,197) (57,349)
341,735 386,264

An aged analysis of the finance lease receivables, as at the end of

REBEHR BUBREREFRZ

the reporting period, is as follows: BREOMTAT :
2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Finance lease receivables: Bl B & AR & R

Due within one year — & LA A B B 365,304 400,454
Due in one to two years — = —FE|H 112,578 222,198
Due in two to three years —E=FE|H 2,062 114,151
479,944 736,803
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 22. B R EHEENREE)
The movement in provision for impairment of finance lease FEWMERER ZCRERE ZEE
receivables are as follows: AT

2017 2016
-2t —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

At the beginning of year NG R ) 22,674 4,272
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) R BEEE (I ite) 522 20,102
Exchange realignment PE 5 58 % 1,520 (1,700)
At the end of the year RARFEER 24,716 22,674
The Group provides finance leasing services on certain equipment in REBR P EAREME TRERE
Mainland China. These leases are classified as finance leases and MEHERY ZEHEESER
have remaining lease terms ranging from one to three years. BMERE BHBNT—ZE2E=F2
THE -
Present value of minimum
Minimum lease payments lease payments
BEHENRE BEEENKERE
2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE-tF ZT-RE ZE-tF TRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT B¥Tx BT BETR

Net finance lease receivables: FEMR R & M E IR (E -
Due with one year —F LA E 389,932 443613 341,735 386,264
Due in one to two years —Z _F3|H 111,452 234,296 111,452 214,856
Due in two to three years “E=F3H 2,041 118,236 2,041 113,009
503,425 796,145 455,228 714129
Less: unearned finance income B ARERBERA (48,197) (82,016)

Present value of minimum lease payments &K EN HEBRE 455,228 714,129




31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX 23. EEHIE
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year EEMBEENBBERAFEARNZ
are as follows: FEINE -
Deferred tax assets EEMIEEE
2017
—E—-tF
Asset
provisions Others Total [
EERE Hit st K
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 §
BE T BE T BETR -
«
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+tF—H—H 49,840 34,460 84,300 %
Deferred tax credited to the statement of REENEBERPIFALZ £
profit or loss during the year B8 19,715 14,441 34,156 E
Exchange realignment B 5 4,623 2,736 7,359 =
_ z
Gross deferred tax assets RZE—tF+=ZA=+—H
at 31 December 2017 ZEERIBEERE 74,178 51,637 125,815

b
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31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 23. EFZENIE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE
2017
—E-tF
Revaluation Purchase
of rebates
properties receivables Others Total
BB
MEME FE W R E Hit @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+tF—-A—H 249,807 3395 10,444 263,646
Deferred tax charged|(credited) to AEERNERREFNR/
the statement of profit or loss (AN 2 BIER IR
during the year 10,489 (2,342) (1,348) 6,799
Deferred tax charged to the statement of A B NEE R Z B K P MG
change in equity during the year ZRIEH IR 8,017 - - 8,017
Exchange realignment fE AT 17,057 375 679 18,111
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZE—+F+=-A=+—H
at 31 December 2017 ZERTEAELEE 285,370 1,428 9,775 296,573
Net deferred tax credited to the statement A FENAEBRRFFT AL
of profit or loss during the year EETIA S (27.357)
Net deferred tax liabilities at 31 December X -ZE—+&+-A=+—H
2017 ZELERBAGEE (170,758)




23. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

23. IEERIE (&)

Deferred tax assets EEMIEEE
2016
S
Losses available
for offsetting
against Sales
future taxable Asset rebates
profits provisions payables Others Total
AR 3
RREAR HETH
whlcEE  AEEE  EFHE Aot @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETr BETr  B%TT ¥
At 1 January 2016 RZZE—"E—-HA—-H 1,281 165,978 157,095 55,209 379,563
Deferred tax credited/(charged) AEEREBERTHA/
to the statement of profit or loss (k) 2 EREHE
during the year 40,853 48,573 23314 (4,178) 108,562
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35/ WEHE AR (Hs) - 1525 - - 1525
Disposal of the discontinued operation ~ (HEFFFELEEF (42,137) (162211) (180,772) (14476) (399,596)
Exchange realignment [E i A% 3 (4,025) 363 (2,095) (5,754)
Gross deferred tax assets RZZ-R"E+ZA=+-Bz
at 31 December 2016 BRHBEELS - 49,840 - 34,460 84,300
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31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

23. IEEBIE (&)

Deferred tax liabilities EEMRIEBEEE
2016
ZE-RF
Unrealised
loss from  Revaluation Purchase
intragroup of rebates  Withholding
transactions  properties  receivables tax Others Total
SER
RPEEL K@M
AEREE WEMGE ERHE  BEAOR Hith f@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT A%Tr A¥Tr BETr BT B%Txn
At 1 January 2016 R=ZE-~F—-A—H 74793 79,549 48330 93539 2172 298,383
Deferred tax charged(credited) the statement of ~ AEERAEBEKF MR/ (GEA)
profit or loss during the year ZEEHE (7.391) 33379 M7 36,800 (1472 106,093
Deferred tax charged to the statement of AEERNERERESRPNR
change in equity during the year ZEEHE - 150,452 - - = 150,452
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) e BB Y B 0 B (47 5238) = = = = 9,877 9877
Disposal of the discontinued operation PEFHEREEH (67,595) - (89,828 (130580) - (288,003
Exchange realignment [ 5 % 193 (13,573) 116 241 (133)  (13,156)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2016 R=E—AF+-A=+—H2
ERHEAELER - 249807 3395 - 10444 263646
Net deferred tax credited to the statement of AEEREBRRTIHALZ
profit or loss during the year EEREFE (2,469)
Net deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2016  W-E—R~E+-A=+—HZ
ELREAEFE (179,346)




23.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

For presentation purpose, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the
Group as at the end of the reporting period for financial reporting
purposes and deferred tax charged/(credited) to the consolidated

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS =R R MY 5

31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

23. EEBIIE (&)
EEFRIEEFE (8)
MEIME @ GEVBAKRARAD
ETERTEEENRABEEEE - AT
BB REENHEE 2 AEBE R R
CHRELEHREHRERENAFEAN
ERABEERTHRGEA) ZE

statement of profit or loss during the year: ERIEZ 5
2017 2016
—E—+F —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Net deferred tax assets recognised TR BMRRARPERZ
in the consolidated statement of R IEE E S
financial position 102,354 68,176
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised FEiRE M BMRRERFER
in the consolidated statement of BERIEBEFRE
financial position (273,112) (247,522)
(170,758) (179,346)
Net deferred tax charged to the FEREEBERABER
consolidated statement of profit or loss B 2 BT IR F R
from continuing operations (note 10) (Ktit10) (27,357) 21,203
Net deferred tax credited to the FRFELCEEBTRABRER
consolidated statement of profit or loss AT A Z R E R IE F R
from the discontinued operation - (23,672)
Net deferred tax credited to the RERFANEHFEEBEERFETA
consolidated statement of profit or loss ZIEFE T IR R R
during the year (27,357) (2,469)

20174 3§
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

23.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

The Group's tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$786,255,000
(2016: HK$508,090,000) which are due to expire within five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the subsidiaries in which
the losses arose, have not been recognised as deferred tax assets.
These tax losses and certain deductible temporary differences of
HK$170,764,000 (2016: HK$42,817,000) have not been recognised as
deferred tax assets since they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been making losses for some time and it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement has become effective from 1 January 2008 and applies
to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2017, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is
not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in
the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled HK$32,319,000 at 31 December 2017 (2016: HK$29,053,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

23.

& EBE (8])
EEFIBEEE (8)
AEEREAFEKNEZHEESR
75 75 #786,255,0007T (— & — /N F
7% #508,090,0007T) + AT A R 8 &=
EEBZHB AR Z KRR EFRH G
AoHERAFRNER TARER
BEEHREELE HARBEHREES
BRETAHNREREMEZ48E A5
#5170,764,0007C (= F — /N F : B &
42,817,00070) J5 2R B EE £ 5B — B
BEZHBAR M AERABE
EFIBEE - A R E=E E KA
REE B AR i om A AR S5 A 2 A FR 0B
B8 o

REBHBEIEMENE  HEARE
ZINBERECERINEIREE DK
BB & 0% BOE EUIKRE
BeoZBRER_ZTZENF—H—H
REARIEAR _ZTTLF+ -
A=+t BRZBRELZRM -5
TREAEEIIRKREE IR EE
EAERFEBERGHE  FTERZ
BHHEA TRE ARE2ES
1R /503K 10% - WAL E AR E
38 18 S i 1 B KB 2 P /BB 2 ]
—EEN\FE-F-HEBELEZAFN
PRk T ZIEBMEHBHM -

R-ZZE—+E+-_A=+—08 %
NEBEM A FBIARE 2 B A R &
SR AREE &R 2 B TR m
T WARBREMELERE -E=
RE ERRER  ZEHEB QA
BAEDIRZET - RZFE—+F
+=—A=1+—H8 @BRHPEKREZ
WMEBARZRERB 2 EREER
RE(HABRETMNEEREER)
7 78 #32,319,0007T (= & — 7N F ¢
7 #529,053,0007T ) °

ARBABERERIANZ RS
EFRRHRER-

TR
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

INVENTORIES 24. B8
2017 2016
—E—+tH —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T 7T T
Trading stock Ho5FE 1,221,410 788,146
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 25. EEYE
2017 2016
—E—+tF /A
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok
At 1 January ®n—HA—H 242,517 437,788
Additions NE 1,285 50,815
Transfers to completed properties HEEHEHEERED
held for sale WY - (226,218)
Exchange realignment bE 5 3 & 16,702 (19,868)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 260,504 242,517

The Group's properties under development are situated in Mainland
China and stated at cost.

At 31 December 2017, the Group's properties under development
with a carrying value of HK$172,578,000 (2016: Nil) were pledge to
secure certain bank loans of the Group (note 33(a)).

Further particulars of the Group's properties under development are
included on page 317.

AEBEZERYEOULRFEX
BE - X IARANESIER -

RZE—+E+-_A=1+—H8 &K
S EEREE A %172,578,0007T (=
T-RF BICERMEE TR
BH EAREEESSE TRTE
K2 PR (I 7E33(a) ) ©

AEEEEMECE—THFBEERE
MENTERA °
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31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

26. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
The Group's completed properties held for sale are situated in
Mainland China and are stated at cost.

Further particulars of the Group's major completed properties held
for sale are included on page 317.

. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

. FEHERENRIYR
REE 2 BIEHERRORTYE
¥ fir 3 R B A B - 3 bR AR B 5

EEO

AEBEFEHERENERTIYWEZ
E— P HEBEEREINTENRN -

. ERERRREVRRE

2017

S
HK$'000
BEF T

2016

—E—RF

HK$'000

BT T

W R K B IR R &

Accounts and bills receivables

5,664,847
(450,610)

4,164,343
(292,256)

5,214,237

3,872,087

Accounts receivable

23,665
(237)

132,857
(1,329)

23,428

131,528

5,237,665

4,003,615

Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report



27.

ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally 15 to 720 days in which the
credit period of factoring and micro-credit loans in the New
Business Segment is generally 90 to 720 days. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a
credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group's accounts and bills
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its accounts
receivable balances. Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the accounts and bills receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
impairment, is as follows:

27.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

BUERARERRE (&)

AREBXZEUEEFRBERFE
R E—REERFEFTEN
KB ZEH MR ABI5ET20KR - H
PHESD B CEERBER/NEER
HEBHEE R AB0ET20X °
N £ [ S H R U B U 20 E B i AR
R WRBEEEEIM
BREEERBRBERE - EEE
STHREBEIGREE - &N EXAT
MzE - BEE EAEEZERER
FEWEEHEAKESHZEFRLA
B MEERRITTEHR - KEEH
WARMZERBERERESIEE TN
W @At iEE R - BUER K
I T B o

RBEHR - RERBHFELM
BROBER 2 BUTRR R EWRE 2
R oM

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Within 30 days 30K A 2,733,417 2,048,714
31 to 60 days 31E60K 391,351 342,964
61 to 90 days 61E90K 108,864 115,122
91 to 180 days 91E 180K 486,228 440,582
Over 180 days i @180k 1,517,805 1,056,233

5,237,665 4,003,615
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

27. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 27. BERERRREWRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
The movements in provision for impairment of accounts and bills FEWER R R BN R IR 2 BB RE 2
receivables are as follows: FEmT
2017 2016
—E—t#F —T-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
At the beginning of year INZINES R ) 293,585 246,475
Amount written off as uncollectible RULE] 2 i 85 € 7B (5.568) (2,847)
Impairment losses recognised TR 2 Rk B &5 18 135,580 70,720
Exchange realignment PE 5 38 2 27,250 (20,763)
At the end of year RAFE R 450,847 293,585
The aged analysis of the accounts and bills receivables that are not DR B 2 FE YR R % W = 1%
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows: ZERBEOMFBET :
2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000

g BETR BT T

=

E Neither past due nor impaired REIE B RIBE 3,924,758 2,894,874

= Less than 30 days past due 8 H D 30K 208,577 191,931

o

I 4,133,335 3,086,805

S

;_E: Accounts and bills receivables that were neither past due nor RE)H B R BE < R BR 3R B Uk

:E impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for whom ERDEZSHEETEFAR  BS

% there was no recent history of default. 1T HA 30 4B 4B R FRIB 2 AR % o

2 Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number B ARS8 30 R (B 2 E YBR 5K D
of independent customers that have a good track record with the HETBUEFPER ZERFE
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are REBNERTFHAEZRE - RIB
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in BELR  AAREETRAEBEZ
respect of the balances as there has not been a significant change EEMUTEFTZELRERE &
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully AZEREFZEEEETET AN
recoverable. EHEMAEERAKATUZEY

@o



27.

ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Included in the Group's accounts and bills receivables are amounts
due from joint ventures, associates and related companies of the
Group of HK$111,798,000 (2016: HK$134,941,000), HK$12,505,000
(2016: HK$103,000) and HK$52,121,000 (2016: HK$26,445,000),
respectively, which are repayable on credit terms similar to those
offered to the major customers of the Group.

Financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety
At 31 December 2017, the Group endorsed certain bills receivable
accepted by reputable banks in the PRC (the "Derecognised Bills") to
certain of its suppliers in order to settle the accounts payable due to
such suppliers with a carrying amount in aggregate of HK$3,640,000
(2016: HK$6,345,000). The Derecognised Bills have a maturity from
one to six months at the end of the reporting period. In accordance
with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of
the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if
the PRC banks default (the "Continuing Involvement"). In the opinion
of the directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and
the associated accounts payable. The maximum exposure to loss
from the Group's Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised
Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the
directors, the fair values of the Group's Continuing Involvement in
the Derecognised Bills are not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has not
recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of the
Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the
Continuing Involvement, both during the year or cumulatively (2016:
Nil).

27.
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

BUERARERRE (&)

AEBERERIEREE S
BREEVRAEEZZMEEEDE -
ZHEBERNTREZEBEARZ
K IE 2 Bl & 7B ®111,798,0005T (=
T — N F ¢ 7 #5134,941,0007T) © B
#512,505,0007C (= & — /N & : B K&
103,0007T ) K 7 #452,121,0007C (= =
—7NAF ¢ B #506,445,0000T) ¢ L E 4R
BRIOBBERETAEEFERF 2
HUEEKRRERE -

EEMARIERZERMEE

R-ZB—+E+-_A=+—H =«
SERMEETHERNEEPTEHES
BERIRTEMANE TEREE (4
IEEREE]) - LUBEXRZE R
JER R ERBRS - BREERAEABD
1364000070 (= & — /N F B &
6,345,0007T) © I R &5 HA R - 4% 1 7
REENERBANT—=EA o
REPBEHEEE  WzEFRHIET
R RIEERZEEREAHRE
E#EAEEBRE(HELR]) - EF
RE ANEBEEBREBEKIEER
FEHRB MO R & EHR o Eitt
HEERIEERZ R IULERZRE R
HAENEFNE2HEEE -A&H
E#HE S KR I ERE A K& O B8
RIEEREBAARTRIB SR ME
HxeBERRESENERT
BE-BEERE AEEFELRK
HEREENAFEBEL TERK -

RBE—B—LE+=A=1—A
IEEE R - A A L
WRRR 2 BRI ES - A%E
B3 45 3 540 R BB S O oK
BHBR(CE—AF: )
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31 December 2017 —E—tF+=-A=+—H

28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

28. AN REA -REREME

RECEIVABLES W R IE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —EF—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ok BT T ST T
Current 7B
Prepayments SEENE ] 140,751 157,190
Due from contract customers JEREANEF 258 29 1,017,881 774,938
Loans to joint ventures MeEETERBRIER 19 208,836 459,185
Deposits and other receivables e N HE A fE U FRIE 577.408 561,619
1,944,876 1,952,932
Non-current FERE
Deposits and other receivables & & & H th fE Y5k I8 123,391 =

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables

for which there was no recent history of default.

At 31 December 2017, included in the Group's prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are the loans of HK$208,836,000
(2016: HK$383,900,000) to joint ventures of the Group, which are
unsecured, bears interest at rates ranging from 4.35% to 12%
(2016: 4.35% to 12%) per annum and are repayable within one year

from the end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2016, included in the Group's prepayments,
deposits and other receivables was a loan of HK$75,285,000 to a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group's joint venture, Digital China
Technology Industry Investment Co., Ltd., born interest at a rate of
16.15% per annum and was repayable within one year from the end

of the reporting period.

NEBESEBRHIRE > FIA L
AL AE SR 0 & Bl B B BT HE R HE R
BRRBHNEYRER -

R—ZE—ttF+=-_A=+—8"
BEASEEZEMNZE RekH
it FE U8 5% T8 7 75 #208,836,0007T (=
T — N 4F 75 #383,900,0007T ) A A
AEESHAEELHEREER - R
HEHR ZEERTEERF
F IR R T H43502120 (= F — X
F 1 4350051200 ) 2 A EF B W
HR—FRNEE-

R-ZBE—RE+=-A=+—08 ' 8
FEAREEZBMNRIE e REM
J& U 2 3B A 75 ¥ 75,285,0007T A& [A] AN
EEA LS EMMNEIBRIREER
EERETARIZZ2EBRERBER
AIREER - §Fi&k6.1502 5l =
B R —FAREE-



29. DUE FROM/(TO) CONTRACT CUSTOMERS

30.

31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

29. B (ERHEHNEFZ

=
MIE
2017 2016
—B—tF ZE-AF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B &t BET T BT T
Gross amount due from contract Bt AEMEKRKREZ
customers included in other WA X EFERIB 2B
receivables 28 1,017,881 774,938
Gross amount due to contract Bt AEMENREZ
customers included in other BRNAHNEPRIB 2B
payables 32 (266,269) (211,813)
751,612 563,125
Contract costs incurred plus recognised 35 B B EE 4 2 & 4V BK 2N N
profits less recognised losses to date B & 784 MR B R E 18 3,758,818 4,031,898
Less: Progress billings W EE R (3.007,206) (3,468,773)
751,612 563,125

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED

30 HERBRSEEBYRER

BANK BALANCES il 88 1T 45 &R
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Cash and bank balances R & RIRTT 4 R 3,843,773 2,713,890
Time deposits 7E BR 17 5K 48,512 43,178
3,892,285 2,757,068
Less: Restricted bank balances B 2 PR ISR 1T 4 £ 107,989 58,910
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 3,784,296 2,698,158
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SHIE

at
—+&+=A=+—H

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED

BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank equivalents of
the Group denominated in Renminbi ("RMB") amounted to
HK$3,252,215,000 (2016: HK$2,490,267,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLES
An aged analysis of the accounts and bills payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

30.

SIE

ReRBASEEYERZR
48 17 4% 6% (4E)

RIFEBR  AEBAARE(TA
RENEEBZREMESSEYE
& 7 #3252,2150007C (= & — /%
£ : 75152 ,490,267,0007T) © ARETR
SERRBAHEME AW R
1B R B K BE 2 OB B IR R R 4
B -NERESEEERTE  A%H
TS B R R ITINE ZE TS 2 iR
TRARBEBAEEME -

RITFRIIRE B RITHEF RIA
FBMEHE - BHAEREROE
FPE-—RE=EABBTEF K
AEBONERRESFRME @ LR
FR AR FE 9 55 HA 78 B 17 SRR R BRER A
B RITEBRFRIOHRLE|EOT
% 1M 15 B IR & 2 IRAT -

ENERRRENZE
R|EMK - RERA R HEN
R ENREZRRANMT

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E-RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T 7S T T

Within 30 days 30K 1,765,901 1,069,278
31 to 60 days 31E60K 390,947 327,893
61 to 90 days B1ZE90K 163,513 57,036
Over 90 days i 190K 897,186 670,140
3,217,547 2,124,347
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32.

ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 31.
As at 31 December 2017, included in the Group's accounts and bills

payables are amounts due to related companies of the Group of
HK$69,296,000 (2016: HK$20,117,000), which are repayable on credit

terms similar to those obtained from the major suppliers of the

Group.

Notes to Financial Statements
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BHEREEMSERE (&)
RZE—+E+-A=+—H " =K
SERENERMENZRSEERE
FENARERZ ZEHEE QR ZRAE
7 75 #69,296,0007T (= & — /X F ¢
7 #20,117,0007T) * bt &5 &8T5 AR 1R
REBEBHEEAG T ZEUE
BGEHREE -

As at 31 December 2016, included in the Group's accounts and bills RZB-—RETZA=+—H & s
payables were amounts due to associates of the Group of SEHENERARENEERSEBE 4
HK$148,000, which were repayable on credit terms similar to those BN AREB 2 2 & N[ 2508 ?i
obtained from the major suppliers of the Group. 7 75 #148,0007T + b A BR T IR IR AR =
SEXZHEEAGATZ2EBUEER ‘:\i
e - 5
=
The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are normally R BRZRATHE I —RR30E §
settled within a period of 30 to 180 days. 180K BAfE VB fE © @
o
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 32. HMENRERBAREH
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
b aF BET T BT T
Receipts in advance T8 Uk BR 5K 1,493,221 1,101,318
Other payables H b JE S 3R IB 871,645 957,906
Accruals EiRE A 623,973 471,447
Payroll payables BT E 286,930 294,931
Due to contract customers BNEHEFEZHIE 29 266,269 211,813
Contingent liabilities HABE - 20,061
Deferred income i FE YA 18,881 14,649
3,560,919 3,072,125

R_BE—t&FR_ZT—RF+=A
=+—H HtEMNKETHE -
FHEBR A=A -

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, other payables are non-interest-
bearing and have an average term of three months.
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

33. IRRTRHEMER

BORROWINGS
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity ~ HK$'000 rate (%)  Maturity  HK$'000
ERAE ERAI=
(Aak) E#E B¥Tx (Bok) HHA #%Tx
Current RE
Bank loans, unsecured RITER  BEA 2.15-5.66 2018 2,689,781  250-479 2017 2,122,832
Bank loans, secured BIER GHF 4.35-5.88 2018 1,871,245  479-570 2017 2,750,407
Current portion of long term bank loans, REBTERZREH R
— unsecured - EH 4.75-5.60 2018 59,160 564 2017 1,071
- secured - BEA 4.99-5.64 2018 440,153  550-564 2017 93276
Corporate bonds (notes ¢ and d) RAlEH (HfitcRd) 5.70 2018 236,642 348 2017 221428
5,296,981 5199014
Non-current E)
Bank loans, unsecured FIEF BERE 4.75 2020 76909  275-588 2018-2023 381,964
Bank loans, secured BITER  BEA 523-5.88 2019-2027 1911650  499-564 2018-2026 1,530,341
Corporate bonds (notes e and f) RAlESH (Hfitekr) 490 2019-2020 595390 490 2019 553,569
2,583,949 2465874
7,880,930 7,664,888
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33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 33. fMESRTREMER(E)

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

2017 2016
—E—+tF AN
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Analysed into: DTN -
Bank loans repayable: EEERITER
Within one year —F R 5,060,339 4,977,586
In the second year B _F 269,653 634,944
In the third to fifth years, inclusive EH = %E 25 Y 5h s
(BIEEEMTE) 684,486 493,230
Beyond five years F A F A 1,034,420 784,131
7,048,898 6,889,891
Analysed into: DATAR -
Corporate bonds repayable: EEERAES:
Within one year —F RN 236,642 221,428
In the second year E_F 591,604 =
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FEZFRF
(BIEEREMF) 3,786 553,569
832,032 774,997
Notes: Htat -
(a) Certain of the Group's bank and other borrowings are secured by: (a) NEBETIHRITERBUATEEE

i)

(i)

(i)

mortgages over the buildings, which had an aggregate carrying value
at the end of the reporting period of HK$175,186,000 (2016:
HK$173,097,000) (note 14);

mortgages over investments properties, which had an aggregate
carrying value at the end of the reporting period of HK$3,799,829,000
(2016: HK$1,875,703,000) (note 15);

mortgage over the land use right, which had an aggregate carrying
value at the end of the reporting period of HK$33,164,000 (2016:
HK$23,073,000) (note 16);

mortgage over the properties under development, which had an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting period of
HK$172,578,000 (2016: Nil) (note 25);

i) RBEBRGEREERESE
175,186,0007C (= & — /)N & : /B
#173,097,0007T ) Z 1€ F 1E 1K 1
(Htat14)

(ii) RRERGEREEERESE
3,799,829,0007C (= & — /N F ¢
7 #1,875,703,0007C) Z & B )
HAEAEIR (K 5F15) ¢

(iii) RBEEHREEREBE
33,164,0007C (= & — N F : /B
#£23,073,0007T ) 2 1 if & FA 4
VESE 1R (7 at16)

(iv) RBEEHREERESE
172,578,0007C ( = & — 7N F ¢
)2 ERYMEEER M T
25)
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I

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(0

(d)

(v) The Group's borrowings of HK$2,070,497,000 (2016: HK$2,933,915,000)
provided by certain financial institutions were secured by 229,820,000
(2016: 225,340,800) ordinary shares issued by DCITS, a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, directly held by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, with an aggregate fair value of
HK$3,195,117,000 (2016: HK$5,296,530,000) as at 31 December 2017;

(vi) HK$5,916,000 extended by financial institutions to a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group were secured by mortgages over a building of
a non-controlling shareholder at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2017, except for the bank borrowings of HK$247,525,000 (2016:
HK$270,000,000) and HK$439,508,000 (2016: HK$943,300,000) are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars, respectively, the remaining
bank and other borrowings are denominated in RMB.

On 19 July 2017, Digital China Software Limited* issued short-term note (the
“STN") with a principal amount of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$236,642,000) in the national inter-bank market of the PRC. The STN carry
interest at the rate of 5.7% per annum, which will mature on 17 April 2018.

On 2 September 2016, DCITS issued short-term notes (the “ITSSTN") with a total
principal amount of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to HK$221,428,000) in the
national inter-bank market of the PRC. The ITSSTN carried interest at the rate
of 3.48% per annum and matured on 30 May 2017.

On 2 September 2016, Digital China Software Limited* issued medium-term note
(the "MTN") with a principal amount of RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$591,604,000) in the national inter-bank market of the PRC. The MTN carry
interest at the rate of 4.9% per annum and will mature on 6 September 2021
(with the investor's option to sell back the notes after the end of the third
year from the issuance date).

33. MERITREME R (&)

Wit - ()

(0)

(v) 7N £ [ 2 B R4 %2,070,497,000
T(=Z T — N F: 5 &
2,933,915,0007T) & B & T & &b
BERETAEBEREAR -
MR=ZF—tF+=A=+—
BARAREEEHBHRBEAR
wMEE(EERARAIZE
HEEMBARFKA ZETZ
229,820000( = T — X F:
225340,800) iR & AR H A B
& & &t 75 #3,195,117,0007C (=
T — X F ¢ 7 #5296,530,000
T ERER

(vi) 78 #5,916,0007T A= FH & BR 15
BRYFAEEZHZ2EHEHE
AR AR R B R FE IR AR AR
RZEFERER -

RZZT—tF+=A=+—8 " 55l
B A 247525000 (Z T — N F - B
#£270,000,0007T) N 7 #439,508,0007T
(ZZ— X% : B¥%5943,300,0007T) Z R
TERABE T RETIIE TR
TREMERIAAREGIE -

RZZT—tF+A+IB - GMNEH
HHERARETRESHMES ([
RHBER]) AeBRBEAARE
200,000,0007T (48 55 1A 7 7 # 236,642,000
7T) o B HAR A H F M E A5 % - R
- N\FHA++tHEH-

RZT—RNEAF=A  BHEEE
TR HRE S ([N E S BE R
BE¥]) » A& #8258 A AR #200,000,000
7t (FBE R A7 #221,428,0007T ) © 18 M
= BB HIRE 5 & F K A3.48% -
—E—tERA=THEHRN RIS

RZZ—X"FNAZH  BMNEFE
HERARBTHHER(HHE
1) A& 4% A A R #500,0000007T
(FZE A & 75 #591,604,0007T) © A HR =
BFEME R0 WHER=ZT=—F
NANBREH(MEREENRETH
HME=FARBEAEEROEHE
&) -
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(f)

Pursuant to the "Capital Contribution and Shareholders' Agreement of Shenzhou
Lingyun (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.",
pertaining to an undertaking regarding business results, investors subscribing

upon fulfillment of the condition

for shares with new capital contributions shall provide, according to their
capital contribution ratios, loans with a total amount of RMB33 million in the
form of convertible bonds to Shenzhou Lingyun (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.”
(f N B E (db ) B B BR A &) (a subsidiary of DCITS, which is in turn
a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) ("Shenzhou Lingyun"). In the
year 2017, the investors provided the first tranche of convertible bond loans in
the amount of RMB16 million, comprising RMB12.80 million provided by DCITS
and RMB3.20 million (equivalent to approximately HK$3,786,000) provided by
the remaining investors. Subject to the fulfillment of the undertaking regarding
Shenzhou Lingyun's the business results for the years 2016 to 2020 in full, the
investors have agreed to convert the full amount of the convertible bond loans
into investments in Shenzhou Lingyun, which shall be credited, upon
conversion, to Shenzhou Lingyun's capital reserve. In the event that the
business result undertaking is not fulfilled, Shenzhou Lingyun shall repay the
aforesaid convertible bond loans within 30 days upon receipt of notices from
the investors.

The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their
registered Chinese names.

34. SHARE CAPITAL
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33. MERITRAEME R (&)

Mt

()

(&)

BEGEMNEZ (G R)BRERAA
HERBRRGZ) EneHEXE
AE IR IR EARKZE AR
BELELflmEMNEES (LR B
BERAR(AARRFZEHEE B
REIBMNEBEZH B AR Z —)([1®
MEE )R 4L e A R ¥%3,3008 7T 7T
EEER . — T — L EIRE AIRME
—SrEEERARB16008E T - &
RN E R ARK 2008 - &
BRITE ARE0E T ARE (FBER
#4975 %3786,000) e EMHMBEMH =T
—NFEZTE_TFEERERLE
ERmERART REARE B A&
BEEXREDELRHBENEZTNR
B ERENRES T ABMNEEH
BARDATE - MEGBABRSEHR
AN BB R EIEE A /B A 1430
AATFUAEE Ell s E S -

REARNZEXABNERARRE
R2ERX AT -

34. R
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2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T 7T T
Authorised: SESE
2,500,000,000 (2016: 2,000,000,000) 2,500,000,0000% (=& — /X £
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 2,000,000,0008% ) & % T &
(2016: HK$0.1) each (note) BT (Z B — N
B 0aTT) 2 AR (K7 iE) 250,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEBIT RN
1,677,261,976 (2016: 1,234,655,581) 1,677,261976f% (— & — /N &F ¢
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 1,234,655,581% ) & I M (B
(2016: HK$0.1) each BT (Z T — N E
& #0TT) 2 Bk 167,726 123,466

Hix: R=ZZF—tF+=—_A=++tR " ExE
% 7 B5) 58 & 3 2% 500,000,000% & A% 1 (B
BT 2R MH EBBEK
200,000,0007T (5> 4$2,000,000,0008% & A&
H {8 7 #0172 R 19) 38 hn = 75 ¥
250,000,00057T (53 £52,500,000,0008% A% {3 ) °

Note:  The authorised share capital has been increased from HK$200,000,000 divided
into 2,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each to HK$250,000,000 divided into
2,500,000,000 shares by the creation of an additional 500,000,000 new shares

of HK$0.1 each on 27 December 2017.
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
A summary of the movements in the Company's issued share capital
and share premium account during the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2016 is as follows:

34, B (48)
REBE-_T—+ER-_FT—~F
+ZA=+—HBIEFEARN ' ARQF
BB BT IR A K % 10 4 (B B & B

Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report

U (I
Number of Share
ordinary shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
E&1T BB I 0
EEREE g Bk st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT AT

At 1 January 2016 RZZ—RE—HA—H 1,096,365,581 109,637 2,080,480 2,190,117
Exercise of share options (note a) TERERE(F Ha) 2,171,000 217 16,568 16,785

Issue of new shares (notes b and c) BITH R (HatoKc) 136,119,000 13612 697,786 711,398
Share-based payment expenses for shares %1747 & i {0 2 JARR 0 2

issued at discount (note ¢ EH (ffitc) - - 43,658 43,658
Share issue expenses BIRHER - - (1819) (1819)

At 31 December 2016 and R-ZE—RFE+-_A=1+—H

1 January 2017 k-—F—tF5—F—H 1,234,655,581 123,466 2,836,673 2,960,139
Issue of new shares (notes b and ¢) BITRRO (F 70K ) 107,154,000 10,715 526,882 537,597
Rights issue (note d) R (fi o) 335,452,395 33,545 1,308,264 1,341,809
Share issue expenses BRHER - - (6,724) (6,724)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F+-A=1+—H 1677.261976 167,726 4,665,095 4,832,821
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

34. IR (&)

Notes: Kt -
(a) During the year ended 31 December 2016, the subscription rights attaching to (a) REBEE=_FT—A~"F+=-—A=+—H1
2,171,000 share options were exercised at a subscription price of HK$5.89 per FE A+ 2,171,000 Mt B =R BE # 2 BB
share, resulting in the issue of a total of 2,171,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 [i% 4 LA B2 AR 5 5,897 2 R IB (B ETT
each for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$12,787,000. An 5+ Bt » A 5T2,171,0000% 5 i B E B
amount of HK$3,998,000 was transferred from the employee share-based Bormz EBERARIR S KRE IR
compensation reserve to the share premium account upon the exercise of the g: Fﬁ AI) A& 7 12,787,000 T LA
share options. REREEITER  BEAK
3,998,0007‘E e EEBAKRG X E
BrvMeFHREEZERODERER- B
H:j,
M~
(b) On 1 June 2016, the Group entered into the conditional sale and purchase (b) R-ZZE—ARNENA—H AEHEHRE §
agreement with Dragon City International Investment Limited (“Dragon City"), Dragon City International Investment
pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to acquire and Dragon City Limited ([ Dragon City 1) 5] 32 & & 14+ B E
conditionally agreed to sell the entire interest in a property located in Bz Bt ASEEKGRER o\né
Mainland China to the Group at a maximum total consideration of RMB630 E KDragon City/NEIRHREHER s
million (equivalent to HK$749.7 million), which shall be satisfied by the R BEKEYENZHESTASE zij
allotment and issuance of shares of the Company. On 17 June 2016 and 26 B B#RERZRARNKGEET s
April 2017, 78,000,000 and 71,940,000 ordinary shares were issued by the (FHERBE74078E L) * UEEER ;%
Company to Dragon City of HK$5 per share, respectively. BEIARRBRBARNIGF -R=ZF =
—AEAAHEER-E—+FMmA g
Z+RH AARBERERAESTH
% 17 {8 1% 9 Bl % 1778,0000008% K
71,940,000/% ¥ 3 A% T Dragon City °
(c) On 5 September 2016, the Company entered into the subscription agreement (c) R=ZZ—X"EALARB AR

("Subscription Agreement”) with the directors, employees and a trust company
(collectively named as “Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Subscribers
conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company conditionally agreed to
allot and issue, an aggregate of 99,391,000 ordinary shares ("Subscription
Shares") at the subscription price of HK$5.53 per share for an aggregate cash
consideration of HK$549,632,230 (“Subscription”). The fair value of the
Subscription Shares at the grant date was HK$659,956,240 with the share price
of HK$6.64 per share. The directors of the Company considered that the
Subscription will further strengthen the capital base and financial position of
the Company for the Group's future business developments and investments.
The Company intends to apply the net proceeds of the Subscription as working
capital for further business development of the Group. For all Subscription
Shares, not more than 50% of shares will be released from the lock-up period
of six months after the issuance date, and more than 50% of the shares will be
released from the lockup period of twelve months after the issuance date.

¥§$~E4ﬁ1§ﬁ&1~%AT(ﬁﬁé
B(READ T RE ((wﬁ%bﬁa
2 B RBAEKERER
i MARAEKREREZRSRRD
M2 REE S LB RET
99,391,0008% & i@ i% ([FREAR B ) + I
& BB A ¥549,632,2307T ([ R
B - RETAHRERHKZATE
{8 575 %5 659,956,2407T * LA AR AR 10 78
%664712!&{?‘1%2%? RRBEER
BZAEEMEARA R 2 EARERR
,\M%HX/R HAEERREBHE R
BEZH - ARRBREZRBE 2B
REFHEAREEES  FRAAEE
&**%F%F Eﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁfﬁ
% R50%,2 AR 19 15 B8 B AT 3 BB
7~ E A B U:‘%vﬁﬁyﬁéso%Z%
PHERBETBEHE T —EAMRKRE

o

i3 $ = DI
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(0)

(Continued)

On 21 December 2016 and 18 January 2017, the Company issued 58,119,000
and 35,214,000 Subscription Shares at the subscription price of HK$5.53 per
share, for a total consideration of approximately,
HK$321,398,000 and HK$194,733,000, respectively.

before expenses,

Given the Subscription Shares were issued to the Subscribers at a discount to
the then market price of the Company's shares for the purpose to provide
incentives and rewards to the Company's directors and other employees of the
Group, the difference between the total fair value of these shares and the total
consideration received by the Group of HK$49,735000 is accounted for as
share-based payment expenses by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2016 (note 6).

The fair values of these shares issued at discount were valued by an external
valuer, taking into account the liquidity of these shares as a result of the
aforesaid lock-up periods, and liquidity discounts were applied to measure their
fair values.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a rights issue of one rights share for
every four existing shares held by shareholders on the register of members on
18 August 2017 was made, at a subscription price of HK$4 per rights share,
resulting in the issue of 335,452,395 shares for a total cash consideration,
before expense, of approximately HK$1,341,809,000.

34, IR (48)

Hrat -

(0)

(%)

()
RZEBE—AFTZA=-+—RHEK=ZF
—tF—A+NB ARREBERER
& 17 7 ¥&5.537T WO R BB B £ B B 17
58,119,0008% £235,214,000% =2 B8 % 17
KRB R ERIMA BEEK
321,398,0007T K 7% & 194,733,0007T °

ENRBRDIBRARDRNEEHE
ZHEEET UAXAREERAR
S B H b (B B 1R 4R E) KRR - Tz
ERMZEATEERERENESE
775 #49,7350007T © B it AR B E =
EZ—RF+-_A=Z+—HLEFERAMNU
15 =142 B (ffaEe) o

ZETRERBR MDA FEEAINEGE
EETRE  YEBHZEROEE
A B 256 HARE RO B M AT R AT E
HRAFEE-

REBEE=-_T—+tF+=-A=+—H1t
FERN - BR-Z—+tE/\B+N\AH
B3R & 2 R G H A MRE ARG
T — RGO ETATRERR
MBI REBEE 2 HR - BT
335,452,3950% % 1+ IR & X8 (N
E F B ) 4 /5 75 #51,341,809,0007T ©
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35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES 35. RERBE 2
(a) Share Option Schemes (a) HBBREFE

The Company operates two share option schemes. One of the

share option schemes was adopted on 18 July 2002 (the

KR fE RS R A AT 2
Hep — AR &N =2

o

"2002 Share Option Scheme") and the other share option E-FLATNB(ZZE
scheme was adopted on 15 August 2011 (the "2011 Share —EBRETEDEA M
Option Scheme") (the 2002 Share Option Scheme together »—HEREFER-Z
with the 2011 Share Option Scheme, hereinafter collectively ——F N NA+HEB((=ZZ

referred to as the "Share Option Schemes").

14

——FRERERT ) R (
TR _FEEEFER-Z
——FRERESEET XS
MR BRETE ) -
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3
The principal terms of the Share Option Schemes are as BERETENEZERAT : L
follows: e
2
E&
(1)  Purpose () BB i
The Share Option Schemes seek to recognise and BRETS S ERR K =
acknowledge the contributions or potential EHEERAL(ER 7
contributions made or to be made by the qualified RIT)EAREEFT{E
persons (as defined below) to the Group, to motivate kg {EL 2 B R AT
the qualified persons to optimise their performance ge 2 BB FEARE A
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group, and to BERATRBAEEZF]

(1

maintain or attract business relationships with the
qualified persons whose contributions are or may be
beneficial to the growth of the Group.

Qualified persons

Any part-time or full-time employee or officer or
director (including executive, non-executive or
independent non-executive directors) of any member of
the Group or of any associated company, or any
supplier, agent, customer, joint venture partner,
strategic alliance partner, distributor, professional
adviser of, or consultant or contractor to, any member
of the Group, or the trustee of any trust pre-approved
by the board of directors of the Company, the
beneficiary (or in case of discretionary trust, the
discretionary objects) of which includes any of the
above-mentioned persons.

LR - W MR R
HEEMALHEEE
& EEBALHER
EZERERPIREAEER
MR -

() EE#HAL
AEBEIAKERAHL
ERBE QAR 2 EA2
BB EREASHA
EREZ(BHEHT
FRITHBIULIFANITE
B AARNKET AKX
BRBIZEAHEER
RE-BEF - A&%
R B
DA EXRBEHAL
BRESARE AR
AEEgRAHENR
mABREEMRERMAL
ZEMAEREESE
BEEE ASE2ERE
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35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)
Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(a)

()

(v

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares available for issue
under the 2011 Share Option Scheme was 167,726,197,
which represent 10% of share capital of the Company
in issue as at the date of approval of the financial
statements.

Maximum entitlement of each qualified person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Schemes and any other share option
schemes of the Company to each qualified person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company then in issue. Any further grant
of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders' approval in a general meeting of the
Company.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates must be approved by the
independent non-executive directors of the Company
(except when the independent non-executive director is
the grantee of such options).

35. BB S (F)

(a)

BB ER 8 (&)

()

)

BERGEE

T ——FERRET
ZIT BT ZRA R
= 8 B 5167,726197
BE - G A B 1S 3R = At

HABHZ AR EE T
f% 1000 ©
FECERALITE
RBZRSEHE
HHAE’ANTEEM

+ &8 A A R R B AR
W8 R AR RMEA E
fth RS A% M AT B P IR 2
BREBEETER
M ARITEE) EITER
FLABTRETFERTZ
BE=RHEE TEBE
AQ A E B ETRD
2% o fE]E — R
ﬁLJﬁttﬁEZﬁﬁﬁﬁg
HEFBRRRAA
BRAG EH#bER ET
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35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)
Share Option Schemes (Continued)
(IV) Maximum entitlement of each qualified person

(a)

V)

(Continued)

Any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company or
any of their respective associates must, in addition to
obtaining the approval of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company, be approved by the
shareholders of the Company in a general meeting if
such proposed grant of share options, when
aggregated with all options (whether exercised,
cancelled or outstanding) already granted to such
substantial shareholder or independent non-executive
director during the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant of options, would (i)
entitle that relevant person to receive more than 0.1%
of the total issued share capital of the Company for
the time being; and (i) represent an aggregate value in
excess of HK$5,000,000 based on the closing price of
the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange at
the date of such grant.

Timing for exercise of options

The period during which an option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Schemes shall be the period set out in the relevant
offer letter, provided that such period must expire on
the date falling on the tenth anniversary of the offer
date.

Notes to Financial Statements
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35. BB E (&)

(a)

BRESE (&)

(W) SESEMALIE

V)

BZREEE (&)
FRAREARRZEEZR
R BIIEHITES
BESAZHBARD
EARRER - WERER D
ZERENMEEEERZ
REHBEREZEE B IE
(BEZEEA) T =@
RHEAERTZEE
RSB IEANITES
2T BRECTRZ
BT - EH M ARTT
B e ()EZHB B
A =76 #E YER /9 A% B
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AN 48 B EN0.% ¢ R (i) iR
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BB R P 2 W B 5T
HE O HBEEBABE
5,000,0007C ¢ Bl Br T /&
IS AR Bl B FEBTT
EFEHEN - MM AE
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35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)
Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(a)

(Vi)

(i)

Acceptance of offers

An offer of the grant of an option shall be accepted
by the grantee on or before the last date for
acceptance of such offer as set out in the relevant
offer letter, which must not be more than 28 business
days from the relevant offer date. A consideration of
HK$1.00 shall be received by the Company on
acceptance of each offer.

Basis for determination of the subscription
price

The subscription price shall be the highest of (a) the
closing price of the shares on the offer date; (b) the
average of the closing prices of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; or
(c) the nominal value of a share.

(VIll) Life of Share Option Schemes

The 2002 Share Option Scheme and 2011 Share Option
Scheme shall remain valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing from 18 July 2002 and 15
August 2011, respectively, being the dates on which
such schemes were deemed to take effect in
accordance with their terms.

35. BB S (F)

(a)

BRESE (E)

(i)

i)
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35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES 35. REM B & (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Share Option Schemes (Continued) (a) BBIRFESTE (E)
The following table shows the movements in the share TR EBRETS TE
options under the Share Option Schemes during the year and RERERFRERN 2 E8 - U
the options outstanding at the beginning and end of the EREVDRERBKRITEZ
year: i A% 4
Number of share options
BREYR o<
HHE
Lapsed  Adjustment Lapsed ki’
Outstanding Granted Exercise  during the  as a result  during the  Outstanding Exercise =)
as at during during  year before of the  year after as at price  Date Exercisable o
Grantee 1112017 the year the year  adjustment  rights issue  adjustment  31/12/2017 per share  of grant period T
N S
R ZE2-tF =
o EREH £88% o8 7
-A-B AEER KXEER  XEER AEER  =t-H o
BEA H R 1T B % 5% HRIR 5% HRE BROKE RLAH e PP
(HKS) i
(B%) =
(note j] (note |} (note i) pra
(Hi#ti) (W) (Hi#ti)
2002 Share Option Scheme
CRECERRESE
Director
Bz
WANG Xinhui* 12,000 - - - 592 - 12,592 14333 11/012011 11/01/2012-
THE 10/01/2019
Other employees 3,784,000 - - (1,023,000) 136,421 (246) 2897175 14333 11/01201 11/012012-
EfbER 10/01/2019
In aggregate 3,796,000 = - (108000 137013 (46) 2909767
A

ad
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35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)
(a) Share Option Schemes (Continued)

Number of share options

S

iR R 8 (&)

(a) MBRESE (&)

BREZA
Outstanding Granted Exercise Adjustment as  Outstanding
as at during during Lapsed during a result of the as at Exercise price Date of Exercisable
Grantee 1112017 the year the year the year  rights issue  31/12/2017 per share grant period
N
1 “E-tf
ZE2-tf t=A
-B-B AEER AEER KEER =t-H =1
ERA EX;d B % A% HEEE  HATE  RE R4AH RS
(HKS)
(B%L)
(note i) (note i) (note i)
(Hiti) (Witi) (Witii)
2011 Share Option Scheme
“E--FEREH
Directors
Bz
GUO Wei - 12,500,000 - - 616974 13,116,974 6394 25/01/2017  25/01/2017-
EY 24101/2025
LIN Yang - 12,500,000 - - 616974 13,116,974 6394 25/01/2017  25/01/2017-
it 24012025
WANG Xinhui* - 12,500,000 - - 616974 13,116,974 6394 25/01/2017  25/01/2017-
THE 24[01/2025
Other employees - 71,700,000 - - 3538962 75,238,962 6394 2501/2017  25/01/2017-
HiER 2400112025
In aggregate - 109,200,000 - - 5389884 114,589,884
A
(=]

*

Appointed on 12 January 2017 and resigned on 21 July 2017

R_T—+F—B+=-HEZ
ERR=ZE—tFLA=+—

H B E
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35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES 35. REBB & (&)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Share Option Schemes (Continued) (a) BBIRFESTE (E)
Notes: et -

0]

As a result of the rights issue which was completed on 18 September
2017, the relevant exercise prices were adjusted from HK$15.04 to
HK$14.333 under the 2002 Share Option Scheme and HK$6.71 to
HK$6.394 under the 2011 Share Option Scheme, respectively, and the
numbers of outstanding share options were adjusted accordingly.

(i) BAERR=FE—tFNA+/\H
FERCE LR - BRBTTE(E 5 Bl
R-ZET_FEREFINE
7S 150470 A B B 75 #614.333
TRR T ——FHERETE

MmEEBNTAERER 5

6.3047T + T 44 AR 17 1 B B AR 4 g

HE LA REE - §

(ii) All options granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme are subject (ii) T _FEREEI AT E
to a vesting period of four years with 25% becoming exercisable on ARHZBEREARGIN RS @\n&x

the first anniversary, 25% on the second anniversary, 25% on the VY 4F ) 55 8 B - H Aro500m] B T

third anniversary and 25% on the fourth anniversary of the respective EREBHRm—AFZH :‘%;

dates of grant. All options granted under the 2011 Share Option F IR 1T 6 + 250%A] 1 i /A 48 Q:
Scheme are exercisable in whole or in part at anytime during the Z BRBITE » 25%7] R im = @%
exercisable period. BEZ BRIRITE @ K2swr] §

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at general meetings.

No options were granted and cancelled under the 2002 Share
Option Scheme since its expiry.

The fair values of the share options granted during the prior
years amounted to HK$53,000,000, of which the Group
recognised share option expenses of HK$172,833,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2017.

RWmIA S 2 BRIGITE - &
—T——FREERESETAE
Bz BRERTNITERZE
IR R 28RO ITHE -

BRERYEETHAEAZE
BERRERAE LEEHA
TR

MEERERE ST _F
BRRERTE g KRR ER T
K EUH

KRB EFE W7 R
MAFEEAGEXAEBE
53,000,0007C ° I B & = T
—+tE+-_A=+—HILF
EA - AN K E R R ER
S &5 #5172,833,0007T °
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35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES 8o

(CONTINUED)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Continued)
The fair values of the share options granted under the 2002
Share Option Scheme were estimated as at the dates of
grant, using a binomial model, taking into account of the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

IR B & (&)

(a)

BRER S GR)
—TE_FERESET
AR B s AT EETD
RERHNREEBRAB AN
BAGE EFEFERER
B2 RO GRR R EE - TK
BORARL Z BB EH

Granted on: 25 January 2017 11 January 2011

—e-t5 —B——%
RHR —A=+HH —A+t—8H
Dividend yield (%) 3 per annum 3.5 per annum
REXR(BE D) B3 B35
Expected volatility (%) 41 per annum 48 per annum
TRHRIE (B D th) BEs 7 48
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.7 per annum 2.1 per annum
EEBRANX(ES L) 17 FF21
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 6.71 14.98
EFHRE (BREET) 671 14.98

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

B A FRIREE
EZFZBEENGFE K
BRIRAIEHBRZITRERE
Mo TRHDR M8 R BR X AR A D
1R B 48 1 R 18 A 48 7R R R E
ZoHBRITRLEERS
R -



35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)
No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

As at 31 December 2017, the Company had 2,909,767 (2016:
3,796,000) share options outstanding under the 2002 Share
Option Scheme and 114,589,884 (2016: Nil) share options
outstanding under the 2011 Share Option Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 117,499,651 (2016: 3,796,000) additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of
HK$11,749,965 (2016: HK$379,600) and share premium of
HK$762,643,000 (2016: HK$56,712,000) (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 2,909,767 share options outstanding under the
2002 Share Option Scheme and 114,589,884 share options
outstanding under the 2011 Share Option Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.17% and 6.83%, respectively, of
the Company's shares in issue as at that date.

Notes to Financial Statements
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35. BB E (&)

(a)

BB 8 (&)
REEQXFEEBLEFA
AR ERENEMmSE -

R=-FE—+t&F+=_A=+—
B ARRIBREBE_ZZT_F
i85 1% # 5T 8 T F2909,76710
(ZZF— /X 1 3,796,00010 ) &
—TE - —FEREET
114,589,88410 (= & — /X £ ¢
)RR ARITE - RIBAR
REEEHNERER 28
THEEBRESEREIINET
117,499,6510% (= & — /X £ ¢
3,796,0008% ) A& A &) I8 AF &
{55 P& 7K 382 0 49 78 #511,749,965
o (ZF — X F : 7% #380,000
L) A KRB K
762,643,0007C (= & — /X F ¢
75 #56,712,0007T ) B B% 17 3% B
(RINBREEITHRZ) o

EHETHERR 2 ER
KRARBER _SEE_F§
% # 5+ &l 38 290976717 &
T —FEREFET
114,589,88417 18 A 7 1% 2 8 AR
Il Kl = W NN i
17 P& 15 #90.17% 526.83% ©
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35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Company's RSA Scheme was adopted on 28 March 2011
for the purpose of rewarding and motivating, among others,
directors (including executive and non-executive) and
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
"Participants”) with the shares of the Company. The RSA
Scheme is intended to attract and retain the best available
personnel, and encourage and motivate the Participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Group and the
Company's shares by aligning their interests with those of the
shareholders of the Company.

Pursuant to the RSA Scheme, existing shares of the Company
will be purchased by the trustee of the RSA Scheme from the
market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in
trust for the relevant Participants until such shares are vested
with the relevant Participants in accordance with the
provisions of the RSA Scheme. The shares of the Company
granted under the RSA Scheme and held by the trustee until
vesting are referred to as the RSUs and each RSU shall
represent one ordinary share of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a total of
21,471,185 RSUs were granted to certain directors of the
Company and other employees of the Group in order to
award their services to the Group and a total of 20,049,055
RSUs were vested to these directors and employees. The share
price of the Company's shares at the date of grant was
HK$6.77 per share. (2016: Nil).

35. REHBE & (&)

(b)

32 BRI iR 10 2R B =1 8
R-_E——F=A=-+/\HRH
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X R B0 SRR A BIEFEA
BAAEEREZESKH
B EBEARARBERE 2 KM
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35. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES 35. REBB & (&)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Restricted Share Award Scheme (Continued) (b) ZRAIRMDERTE (E)
The fair value of the RSUs granted were calculated based on ERTZRHKRMNDEATFE
the market price of the Company's shares at the respective BENRERARARMGES R
grant dates. The Group recognised RSU expenses of HHWmEFE REzE=
HK$145,234,000 (2016: Nil) into the consolidated statement of E—+t&F+-_A=+—8H1
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2017. FEAN AEBEEREEE
ok MR R R R G &5 X
575 #5145,234,0007C (Z T — /< ﬁ
FE)o N
&
(c) Share issued at discount () KRMPHITEERLT E
On 21 December 2016, 58,119,000 ordinary shares of the RZE—REF+A=+— Y
Company had been issued to certain directors of the B ARBRARFKRMNDE e
Company and other employees of the Group at a discount to BmENMEERARAGSET &
the then market price of the Company's shares for the EEZRASEEAMESZET %
purpose to provide them with incentives and rewards for their 58,119,000A% A~ A 7] & i A% - =

services rendered to the Group, and the related share-based
payment expenses of HK$49,735,000 were recognised by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2016 (note 6).
Further details are disclosed in note 34(c) to the financial
statements.

EAERNESARBAEEM
REBBLERH - BE=ZT
—NF+ZA=+—HLHF
B A - 2 & B 58 40 B DA R
7 X5 B R A % 49,735,000
7 (B 5Ee) o i — FFFIBHE
I B 755 3 3% BfT 5E34(0) ©
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36.

37/c

—tF+=A=+—H

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 125 to page 126 of the
financial statements.

Reserve funds

Reserve funds are reserves set aside in accordance with the relevant
PRC requlations applicable to the Group's subsidiaries in Mainland
China. These reserve funds can be used to offset accumulated losses
but are not be distributable in the form of cash dividends.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

On 22 July 2014 and 20 August 2014, DCITS, an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share
related supplemental acquisition
"Acquisition Agreements’) with the

purchase agreement and
agreements (collectively the
shareholders of Beijing Zhongnong Xinda Information Technology
Limited (“Zhongnong Xinda"), pursuant to which the shareholders of
Zhongnong Xinda (“the Original Shareholders of Zhongnong Xinda")
agreed to sell and DCITS agreed to acquire 100% equity interests in
Zhongnong Xinda (the "Acquisition”). Zhongnong Xinda is a private
company with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC
and is principally engaged in the surveying service software sales.
The total purchase consideration was settled by:

(a)  issuance of 20,520,227 new shares of DCITS to the Original
Shareholders of Zhongnong Xinda (the "Zhongnong Xinda
Consideration Shares"). After completion of the issuance of
the Zhongnong Xinda Consideration Shares, the equity
interests in DCITS held indirectly by the Company was
reduced from 45.17% to 43.12%; and

36. {#1E

37/c
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37. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

(b) cash of RMB213,000,000, which was raised from issuance of
7,171,717 new shares (the "Placing Shares") at RMB33 per
share (the "Placement”). After completion of the issuances of
the Placing Shares, the equity interests in DCITS held
indirectly by the Company was further reduced from 43.12%
to 42.44%.

As part of the Acquisition, DCITS also entered into a profit
compensation agreement and related supplemental profit
compensation agreements (collectively the "Zhongnong Xinda Profit
Compensation Agreements”) with the Original Shareholders of
Zhongnong Xinda, pursuant to which the Original Shareholders of
Zhongnong Xinda agreed to pay a cash-based compensation or a
share-based compensation or a combination of cash-based
compensation and share-based compensation to DCITS if there is any
shortfall between the cumulative actual net profit and the
cumulative committed net profit of Zhongnong Xinda for the
financial year ended 31 December 2014 and each of the financial
years ending 31 December 2015 and 2016. The payment methods
would be fully decided by the Original Shareholders of Zhongnong
Xinda.

The compensation for each of the relevant financial years shall be
calculated based on any shortfall between the projected net profits
of Zhongnong Xinda for each of the financial years ended 31
December 2014, 2015 and 2016 and the actual net profits of
Zhongnong Xinda for each of these financial years.

As at 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016, no compensation from the
Original Shareholders of Zhongnong Xinda is considered necessary to
be recognised in relation to the Zhongnong Xinda Profit
Compensation Agreements.
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37.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

As part of the Acquisition Agreements, DCITS committed to give
rewards to the certain management who were also the existing
shareholders of Zhongnong Xinda (the "Management Shareholders"”)
if certain predetermined performance conditions are fulfilled which
included but not limited to (1) the cumulative actual net profit
exceeds the cumulative committed net profit of Zhongnong Xinda
for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 and each of the
financial years ending 31 December 2015 and 2016; and (2) the
Management Shareholders do not resign from Zhongnong Xinda as
at 31 December 2017. The rewards, which are considered as
remuneration to the Management Shareholders, are calculated based
on 50% of the surplus between the cumulative actual net profits
and the cumulative committed net profit (the "Surplus"), should be
accrued based on the best estimation of the Surplus at every
financial year end of 2014, 2015 and 2016 in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

As at 31 December 2016, HK$1,240,000 is accrued in relation to the
expected rewards to be given to the Management Shareholders.

On 24 May 2016, DCITS entered into a share purchase agreement
(the "2016 Acquisition Agreement”) with the shareholders of Howso
Technology, pursuant to which the shareholders of Howso
Technology agreed to sell and DCITS agreed to acquire 96.03%
equity interests in Howso Technology (the "2016 Acquisition”) for a
total consideration of RMB1,152,338,870.43 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,275,798,000). Howso Technology is a private
company with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC
and is principally engaged in the network optimisation services. The
total purchase consideration was settled by:

(a) 50% of the purchase consideration of RMB576,169,435.22 was
settled by issuance of 23,092,959 new shares of DCITS to the
shareholders of Howso Technology (the "Howso Technology
Consideration Shares"). After completion of the issuance of
the Howso Technology Consideration Shares, the equity
interests in DCITS held indirectly by the Company was
reduced from 42.44% to 41.40%; and
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37. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

(b) 50% of the purchase consideration of RMB576,169,435.21 was
settled by cash, which was raised from issuance of
22,526,398 new shares of DCITS (the "2016 Placing Shares") at
RMB25.57 per share. After completion of the issuances of the
2016 Placing Shares, the equity interests in DCITS held
indirectly by the Company was further reduced from 41.40%
to 40.43%.

On 25 May 2016, 8 July 2016, 9 August 2016, 18 January 2017 and
18 December 2017, DCITS entered into acquisition agreements to
acquire a total of approximately 3.87% equity interests in Howso
Technology (“Further Acquisitions") for a total cash consideration of
RMB46,448,700.24 (equivalent to approximately HK$52,381,000) from
shareholders of Howso Technology. After the completion of 2016
Acquisition and Further Acquisitions, DCITS acquired 99.90% equity
interests in Howso Technology.

As part of the 2016 Acquisition, DCITS also entered into a profit
compensation agreement (the "Howso Technology Profit
Compensation Agreement") with the shareholders of Howso
Technology, pursuant to which the shareholders of Howso
Technology agreed to pay a cash-based compensation or a share-
based compensation or a combination of cash-based compensation
and share-based compensation to DCITS if there is any shortfall
between the cumulative actual net profit and the cumulative
committed net profit of Howso Technology for the financial year
ended 31 December 2016 and each of the financial years ending 31
December 2017 and 2018. The payment methods would be fully
decided by the shareholders of Howso Technology.
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37.
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PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

The compensation for each of the relevant financial years shall be
calculated based on any shortfall between the projected net profits
of Howso Technology for each of the financial year ended 31
December 2016, and the financial years ending 31 December 2017
and 2018 and the actual net profits of Howso Technology for each
of these financial years.

As at 31 December 2016 and 2017, no compensation from the
shareholders of Howso Technology is considered necessary to be
recognised in relation to the Howso Technology Profit Compensation
Agreement.

As part of the 2016 Acquisition Agreement, DCITS committed to give
rewards to the certain management who were also the existing
shareholders of Howso Technology (the "Howso Technology
Management Shareholders”) if certain predetermined performance
conditions are fulfilled which included but not limited to (1) the
cumulative actual net profit exceeds the cumulative committed net
profit of Howso Technology for the financial year ended 31
December 2016 and each of the financial years ending 31
December 2017 and 2018; and (2) the Howso Technology
Management Shareholders do not resign from Howso Technology as
at 31 December 2019. The rewards, which are considered as
remuneration to the Howso Technology Management Shareholders,
are calculated based on 50% of the surplus between the cumulative
actual net profits and the cumulative committed net profit (the
“Surplus”), should be accrued based on the best estimation of the
Surplus at every financial year end of 2016, 2017 and 2018 in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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37.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2017, HK$2,201,000 (2016: HK$731,000) is
accrued in relation to the expected rewards to be given to the
Howso Technology Management Shareholders.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's equity interests in DCITS held
indirectly by the Company was 40.43% (2016: 40.43%), the Group
still retained its rights to nominate three out of the five (2016:
three out of the five) non-independent directors of the board of
directors of DCITS. Taking into account the Group's power to
participate in the operational and financial activities of DCITS,
distribution of key shareholders and their beneficial shareholders as
well as historical voting patterns, and the existence of any
contractual arrangement among the shareholders and/or their
beneficial shareholders, if any, the directors of the Company are of
the view that the equity holdings in DCITS are dispersed in a way
that other shareholders have not organised and the practical risk to
organise their holdings to outvote the Group in the shareholders'
meeting of DCITS is remote so that the Group can still exercise
more voting power than the minority shareholders. Therefore, the
directors of the Company are of the view that the Company still
retains de facto control over DCITS. Further details are included in
note 3 to these financial statements.
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Sy/s

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL  37.
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-

RFREEARFEREDR ZH

THEEHERQF (F)
WE BAI IR S 2 A

controlling interests are set out below: RNAZFFHEWT :
2017 2016
—E-tF T KF
Percentage of equity interest held IR A B
by non-controlling interests: fx#E® 7t -
DCITS NS B 59.57% 59.57%
2017 2016
—E-tFE ZTAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Profit for the year allocated to non- DEEREERER 2 NFE
controlling interests: s A
DCITS and its subsidiaries NS B R EKHE A A 213,812 159,401
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RiREHE Z EEREZE D
interests at the reporting date: REHEREE
DCITS and its subsidiaries NS B R E 8 A ) 3,534,896 3,142,875
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PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL  37. % EEARFERER ZI
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED) DEHEEHREB AT (&)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information Ti@ﬁ']ﬂ’\$§§.LLWE A2 8t
of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any BERBEZE BRENEBRZREZA
inter-company eliminations: Al EIHATH) & B R
DCITS and its subsidiaries
HMNEEREKE A
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T B EE T I
Revenue and other income W A Rz EAth U A 9,535,438 9,316,916
Total cost and expenses AR & & R (9,158,375) (9,028,831)
Profit for the year NG 377,063 288,085
— attributable to equity holders of DCITS — — 53 B R 18 1 {5 B & E [t 8
and subsidiaries UNEIdl &8 Fo 358,925 273,504
Total comprehensive income for the year AEErHEKZREE 716,366 45,523
— attributable to equity holders of DCITS ~ — 57 B M1 M1 (= u&E Bt 25
and subsidiaries NFE R 698,228 30,942
Current assets meEE 8,977,089 7,098,883
Non-current assets EMBEE 3,706,656 3,456,652
Current liabilities mE) B & 6,686,183 5,288,658
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 133,936 48,915
Net cash flows from operating activites AL & XIS M E/FRE 406,602 659,643
Net cash flows used in investing activities X EZEBNFTAIR € RE F5 (439,196) (1,194,900
Net cash flows from financing activities BEETHHASREEREFHE 74,662 360,054
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HERIBELEEWIE M
cash equivalents CR ) F & 42,068 (175,203)
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in subsidiaries.

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION 38. EBEH
During the years ended 31 December 2016, the Group entered into REE_ZE—XR"F+_A=+—H
the acquisition agreements for the acquisition of the equity interests WEFER - NEBEE 7 WE B

BB~ A AR AR -

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the USRS B EAR A R A AT s Bl & B
subsidiaries as at the date of acquisition were as follows: RBEZAFEBEAT :
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
AU S R R R
ZATEHE
Notes HK$'000
iokza ST T
Property, plant and equipment M- BEKZRE 14 39,036
Other intangible assets EfEmREE 18 55,461
Available-for-sale investments AfHEZIRE 11,872
Deferred tax assets REFIBE E 23 1,525
Inventories T8 302,209
Accounts and bills receivables JE L BR T % pE I AR 178,698
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEMRIE e RHEAM
5 J& W k1A 46,380
ci_c% Cash and cash equivalents BHehBEeEEBY 129,381
E Accounts and bills payables FE 15 BR 3k % PE 5 R IE (67,701)
f Other payables and accruals HihENRERTEIEE B (193,933)
1= Tax payable & B 718 (4,057)
< Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings S ERAT R H B K (38,750)
E Deferred tax liabilities RIEHRIERE 23 (9.877)
E Total identifiable net assets at fair value AHNEEFEZATER 450,244
= Non-controlling interests on acquisitions Wz EERER (51,522)
2 Goodwill on acquisitions E i E A 2 17 1,073,696
®
Satisfied by: RN
— Cash -Re 626,074
— Issuance of shares - BT D 637,899
— Other receivables — H fih fE Uy Zx 18 23,750
— Other payables - Hfth pE {5 5B 184,695

1,472,418
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED) 38. X & 0 (&)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of ERAWEBHRB AR ZREREST
subsidiaries was as follows: m
2016
—FE-REF
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration BeRE (626,074) i
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriER e RReZEEY 129,381 ké
o
o~
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FAREEINRESREDN ’E
included in cash flows from investing activities RekB2EEMRLFE (496,693) =
£
Since the acquisitions, the subsidiaries contributed HK$320,457,000 BREEZ MBAEAREEZS i‘ﬁ
to the Group's revenue and HK$28,596,000 to the consolidated —ANFET+Z A=+ —BLEFERR %
profit for the year ended 31 December 2016. & B &7 BR & 3 58 75 %320,457,0007T %

N 47 4 i | 7 528,596,000 ©

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year 2016, WEHERZZTE—A"FFIEAE -
the revenue from operations of the Group and the profit of the REBEEZZE—R"F+_A=+—H
Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 would have been IEFEZAREELERARANEE
HK$600,573,000 and HK$41,635,000, respectively. 4R 6 A 2 Bl i & 7 #600,573,000

7T N 75 #541,635,0007T ©

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEKE QT

The details of disposal of subsidiaries engaged the discontinued REBEE_T—RF+_HA=+—H
operation during the year ended 31 December 2016 are included in FEFEERAHEREFFBLCEER
note 11 to the financial statements. ZHBRARZFEE REE LB

MR FEN -

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 40. & BH & REXRKM =
CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities METBFEENEGESR
Bank loans Corporate Bonds
RITER ATREH
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

At 1 January 2017 R=ZZFE—+tF—HF—H 6,889,891 774,997
Changes from financing cash flows BmERSRECE (219,789) 15,214
Exchange realignment [ 378,796 41,821

At 31 December 2017 R—_ZFE—+t&+=-_A=+—8H 7,048,898 832,032
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41.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

The Group provided guarantee in favour of one financial
institution for certain asset-backed securities issued by a joint
venture, Chongging Digital China HC Microfinance Co. Ltd.+
(EEFMMEABEERNDEEXEAR QA with an
aggregate amount of approximately HK$205,878,000 as at 31
December 2017 (2016: HK$283,497,000).

On 14 November 2017, A 15 5+ & # i% {7 B BR A 7] filed a
lawsuit with Haidian District People's Court in Beijing to
demand for the payment of an aggregate amount of
RMB5,548,000, comprising RMB4,627,000 in settlement for
overdue fees, RMB761,000 in default penalty relating to
equipment payments and RMB160,000 in default penalty
relating to construction work payments, together with
litigation costs by Digital China Rongxin Software Limited+
(F8 M BT BR S BB PR A &)) (one of the subsidiaries of
DCITS, a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“DC
Rongxin“), on the grounds that the contracting amounts
payable by DC Rongxin had been partially overdue and
outstanding.

4. HAREE

(a)

(b)

R-TE—+&+=_A=+—
H A&EBA—HEEDRHE
EEMMNEBEER/ ) BEE
KERARMR—H S i
BREZTETEEXR
BAZRE HLBHBE
205,878,0007T (= & — /X F ¢
7 #£283,497,0007T ) °

RZE—ttF+— A+
H KRBTE#BEOHERA
Almd R RE A RER
IR AN EE R =
HHEFRAR (BARE R
BEEMBARMMNERZ
MEAE 2z —)([wiEaE])
B ASE A R 2O MR S
AR BEREBRESIMNR
KA R #4,627,0007T © B IE 2R
R E L £ AR 761,000
T RERIRENE AR
#160,0007T * 2 FF A R %
5,548,0007T ' WAEFARE o



41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(o)

On 14 July 2017, KFBRH KM N BR QA filed a
lawsuit with the Shangdi Court of Haidian District People's
Court in Beijing to demand for the payment of an aggregate
amount of RMB3,105,000, comprising RMB2,349,000 in
procurement costs relating to purchase orders, RMB204,000 in
compensation for loss of profit otherwise available and
RMB552,000 in compensation for loss arising from fund
appropriation, together with litigation costs by Digital China
Systems Integration Services Limited* (£8 M £X 85 R 45 &£ B
AR 7 A IR 72 7)) (one of the subsidiaries of DCITS, a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“DCSIS"), on the
grounds that DCSIS had failed to honour payment of contract
amounts as stipulated.

While the outcomes of such litigations or other legal
procedures have yet to be determined, the management
believes that, any responsibility arising on the part of the
Group as a defendant in the aforesaid cases (b) and (c) will
not have any material adverse impact on the financial
conditions or operating results of the Group.

* The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their
Chinese registered names.
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41. HAREE (&)

(o)

R—_ZFT—+tF+A+WMA -
AESBMERETBROERAD A
Mt =g R E A RER £
Hh K BE B AR AR AL 0 BL I 2K
BEREKREERAAE (B
KARIEZEMENBE R A
wMNEEZHBEARZ —)
(BRG] R EHEZH
AERR AR BREHRER
BEHTEREBRAARE
2,349,0007T + &5 8 A 15 Fl &= 48
kAR #204,0007T ' BEEES
i BB &k A R# 5520007 @ #£
=+ A B #3,105,0007T + I 7 4
FAE o

AEBER i) R (oFF
REEMEEA - BEBA
RRTEZEFARREAER
BFNER A5SEEEE
BE MEENEAEEH
TEeHAKENMBARRK
REEBEBREATNZE -

. ZERBZEXALHDERZES
At ER R XA -
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42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 42, REHFEZH
(@) As lessor () fEAHIEA

AEERBLEHERE D
HHE I E Y2 (LB 75 #R 3R Y
iE15) B EMENBRERT
—E+F-HOBGRBES
ERBEPINRESR  ALF
e R EE RO E B
izl

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15 to the
financial statements) under operating lease arrangements,
with leases negotiated for terms of ranging from one to ten
years. The terms of the leases generally also require the
tenant to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions.

RZBE—+tF+=_A=+—
B REASEREEFE
FIZ Az R EME -
FHEKRER A RFERAE

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with
its tenants falling due as follows:

Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report

T
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T 7S T
Within one year —F R 227,542 118,031
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_FEFRF
(BiEEEME) 368,063 304,047
After five years FRFR 130,226 41,544
725,831 463,622
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42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 42, REBE LT H (F)
(CONTINUED)
(b) As lessee (b) EBEAEA

AEERBEELHERHME
EEETHRAENERR
B-MBEVMEREAEN
HERAFAABAZE+F-

The Group leases certain of its office properties and
warehouses under operating lease arrangements. Leases for
properties and warehouses are negotiated for terms ranging
from six months to ten years.

RZF-—LF+-A=+—

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total future minimum

lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling B RIEFFT A2 & w

due as follows: EHE ASEBEREBASH ké

ZARFZREBEENKET : S

T

«

2017 2016 o

—E—tHF AN ig

HK$'000 HK$'000 24

BET T BT T %

?;

Within one year —F R 168,924 141,860 -

In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_FEFERF

(BREERMF) 90,153 53,762
259,077 195,622

43. COMMITMENTS 43. AIE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note Br b SCBY sF420) FE i M A T E 22
42(b) above, the Group had the following capital commitments at HEON - ARG HIK - AEEEL LA

the end of the reporting period: NEARESE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Contracted, but not provided for: BERAEREE:
Land and buildings T REF 192,807 281,626
Capital contributions payable MEZEEERLFELTE
to joint ventures 41,412 60,273
Capital contributions payable MZEEERAREE
to associates 6,232 16,607
Capital contributions payable to MEZENHEE2RETE
available-for-sale investments 181,031 163,856
421,482 522,362
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. BEALIRSZ
(a) Transactions with related parties: () HEEALTZRS:
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed B U B 7% R 3R E Ab 5010 FT 2
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the NZZERD REBIN AN
following material transactions with related parties: SEBENUTEREBEALT
2R

2017 2016

—ZT—t#F —E-RF

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

Bt it BB TR BT

Transactions with joint ventures HEECEIRS
Sales of IT products to joint ventures  [A] & & 1b 2 §H & 21T
g9 (i) - 1,169
Provision of IT services to joint M& & dERE 2T
ventures P 75 (i) 5,117 9,896
Purchases of IT products from joint HAEEhEBEE 2T
ventures =g (iif) 117 -
Provision of IT services by joint BHEeZhERERME 2T
ventures AR 7% (ii) 953 3,050
Rental income from joint ventures Ha &R
HE WA (iv) 4,043 785
- Interest income on loans from joint HEEREWRRZ
g ventures BRALR KA (v) 20,895 53,412
oc
g Transactions with associates HBEE AR ZRS
~ Sales of IT products to associates Bk & A RISHE 21T
& = (i) - 33,624
2 Provision of IT services to associates [ H & A RIIE it 21T
E AR % (ii) 34,135 -
& Provision of IT services by associates  Fi B & A RIIR 21T
= Pk 75 (i) 322 -
F Rental income from associates 2 N RIER 2
S RE WA (iv) 6,382 1,698
=

Transactions with related companies SERFE R T 2R 5

(note (vi)) (Kt & (vi))
Sales of IT products to related MEEE A RHEE 2T

companies =4 0) 18,732 27,415
Provision of IT services to related M B E QAR 2T

companies R %5 (i) 326,499 232,504
Purchases of IT products from related FHREIE QBB E 2IT

companies =87 (i) 162,302 79,718
Provision of IT services by related REERAREZIT

companies R 75 (i) 43,017 135,428

Rental income from related companies F4 8838 2 &) W EHL 2
HE WA (iv) 57,885 38,198




44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Transactions with related parties: (Continued)
Notes:

(i) The sales were made with reference to the listed price and conditions
offered to the major customers of the Group.

(ii) The prices for the provision of IT services were determined at rates
mutually agreed between the Group and the corresponding related
parties.

(i) The purchases were made at prices mutually agreed between the Group
and the corresponding related parties with reference to the listed
price and conditions offered by the related parties to their major
customers.

(iv) The rental income was determined at rates mutually agreed between
the Group and the corresponding related parties with reference to the
market rental.

(v) The interest income is calculated with reference to market interest rates.

(vi) Digital China Group Co. Ltd. and its subsidiaries are the related
companies of the Group, as the Chairman of Digital China Group Co.,
Ltd, Mr. GUO Wei, is also the Chairman and key management
personnel of the Company.

OQutstanding transaction with related parties:

During the year, the Group had provided guarantees in favour
of a financial institution for certain asset-backed securities
issued by Chongging Digital China HC Microfinance Co. Ltd.*,
up to an aggregate amount of RMB174,000,000 (2016
RMB354,000,000). As at 31 December 2017, the value of the
asset-backed securities issued attributable to the aforesaid
guarantees amounted to approximately HK$205,878,000 (2016:
HK$283,497,000).

* The English name of the company is a direct transliteration of its
Chinese registered name.
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44, BEATXR S (E)

(a)

(b)

HEEALZXS : (&)
Kt -

()  HEWNEDEEAREALT
ERFRU Y TERIEL TS
GE

(ii) RAEITIRTS < B TIIRBEANE
EEARRIREA LB T B EM
EBE -

(i) ZEBEDSRAMEALR
HFETREP ZAILBREME
FAREA KB EAARRREA L
BT ERET

(v EERATZ2EHSESER
REEEFMBEEALES T
JE T & € °

M WEROFEKRARSEDBH
EEHH -

V) ENBREEROERARR
HIfB AR AASENEER
A RS EERSMNBBS
EROBERARZESRK I
RARBZERRBAREEA
8.

HEBATZRAETRRS
REAFEN AEBAERE
WINSTBERNEERS
NI Il v ealt=1 X
HETHETEELRFEF
ZIRFE BREEHNABARK
174,000,0007T (= & — /X £ -
A B #354,0000007T) © 7 =
E—t+t&#+-_A=+—8 "
L RBEFA R 2 BEZIFE
% %) 78 #205,878,0007C (— &
— 7N ¢ 7B 15283,497,0007T) °

. FRRZRAX BB EZEA T
MBERZFXEME -
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S
=
T
=
&
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Outstanding balances with related parties: (c)
(i) Details of the Group's trade balances with the joint

ventures and associates as at the end of the reporting

period are included in notes 27 and 31 to the financial

statements, respectively.

(i) Details of the loans to the joint ventures included in

the Group's prepayments,

deposits and other

receivables as at the end of the reporting period are
included in note 28 to the financial statements.

44, BEATXRH (E)

BB AT 2 EREHE

) RBEHPR AEEHE
BELERBERRZ
BB B0 BIE
TA L B 765 5K B R 27 e
310

(i) RBEHR -REED
ERHCEFRBEES
SEZANRE RS
Ko E At A SRR 2 7 4B
AL B 7% R MY AR
28 °

Compensation of key management personnel of the (d AEEEEEEBEAEZR
Group B :
2017 2016
—E—tHF A
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BE T T
Short term employee benefits i E 2R A 15,391 19,105
Post-employment benefits 1 1% 1% 18 7 437 125
Share-based compensation ARG 7 2 7 2 Bl & 166,379 29,231
Total compensation paid to TRHGEBREEABZ
key management personnel BN 4R 5T 182,207 48,461

Further details of directors'and the
in note 8 to the financial

emoluments are included
statements.

chief executives'

EREERTHRAEARENE 2
E—SHBEA M BHRE
B 5E8 o



45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

45, REHESZ2EMIA

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: HEWMT :

2017
Financial assets

—ET—+F
ETHEE

Loans and  Available-for-sale

RBEHR SR TAERZEK

receivables financial assets Total
BERK AHEEZ
FE W 5k 1E SHEEE # ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T BT T
Finance lease receivables & U gt & 0 & 5118 455,228 - 455,228
Available-for-sale AfHEZERE
investments = 3,900,528 3,900,528
Accounts and bills JE LT BR 5% % B U
receivables Egi 5,237,665 - 5,237,665
Financial assets included in £ & 7 T8 {5 5018
prepayments, deposits 12 & & E th FE IR
and other receivables HIBERZ2REE 1,824,328 - 1,824,328
Restricted bank balances 3[R il R 17 45 & 107,989 - 107,989
Cash and cash equivalents JR& KRB S EEY 3,784,296 - 3,784,296
11,409,506 3,900,528 15,310,034
Financial liabilities THEE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBHAATE

Z2emBe s

HK$'000

BT T

Accounts and bills payables FE R AR R IE N R & 3,217,547
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals BE R E s & 5818 &

BIREATZERARE 1,310,962

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings Bt SERTT R H Ath B 5K 7,880,930

12,409,439

20174 3R
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 45. REFE P Z2E€MI A
(CONTINUED) (#&)
2016 —E—REF
Financial assets THEE
Available-for-
Loans and sale financial
receivables assets Total
BExk AfHEZ
JE YR IE PREE #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

BT BT BT

Finance lease receivables & Y e & FH & RIE 714,129 - 714,129
Available-for-sale investments AEEZ’E - 3,808,654 3,808,654
Accounts and bills receivables JE AR 3 % I 4,003,615 - 4,003,615

Financial assets included in

BERENTE B2 R

prepayments, deposits and H fth U RIE A 2
other receivables ERMEE 1,694,649 - 1,694,649
Restricted bank balances 52 PR I 3R 17 45 #4 58,910 - 58,910
298 Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEEY 2,698,158 - 2,698,158
9,169,461 3,808,654 12,978,115
Financial liabilities THEE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report

BB KA E

ZemBaE

HK$'000

BT T

Accounts and bills payables JE T R 3k I FE 1 R AR 2,124,347
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals B & H b e RIE &

BRREATzE2MEE 1,309,630

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M B ER1T R E A B 7,664,888

11,098,865




46.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial
instruments not measured at fair value, other than certain unlisted
available-for-sale investments measured at cost included in non-
current assets, of which the range of reasonable fair value estimates
is so significant that the directors are of the opinion that fair value
cannot be measured reliably, and those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximating to their fair values largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments and that these
instruments are with floating interest-rates, are as follows:
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46. PP EEREBMIAZRD
FTEEER
BEsRIERDEE ZIEKATE
METHLEMAHRHEZERERS
BHNAVFEEGHEAHEER  EF
REERNFEBETEASETE ' MU
NMAREEE eSS — e T A
ZIREEHEANFEERE MZE
TEAZEFRUAIN  NEBE 2 I
UNAFEESEZCEMTAEZER
BHEAFEEY RWOT

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AT EE
2017 2016 2017 2016
—E—tHF ZE—RE ZE—tHF =ZE—REF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T 7S T T BET T 7S T T
Financial assets EREE
Accounts receivable JFE U BR 3R 23,428 131,528 26,229 132,939
Finance lease receivables JE W mh & T & FROE 113,493 327,865 117,894 336,013
136,921 459,393 144,123 468,952
Financial liabilities c@MAE
Interest bearing bank and M B8R 1T &
other borrowings HEmER 668,512 586,783 668,153 578,048

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair value:

EREEMBEZAFEENAZT
AERBRR ST (MERESFR
HE)EMRZG TZARZEHAA
R AT IERBRE ARG A
FEE:

20174 3§
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46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 46. XFEEREMIAZR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) FEEZER(E)
The fair values of the non-current portion of accounts receivable, JEWER R IERBI 258 - B ELE
finance lease receivables and fixed rate interest-bearing bank and HEFBELEEEXEZHBHETR
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected HERZAFEE HBFEARK
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments ReREETE  FTANTREESR
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group's BAEE IR - EER R & k2 H
own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other AnmsEFemIE RZ2F
borrowings as at 31 December 2017 was assessed to be —+tF+=ZA=+—8 ' x5BT
insignificant. HEIBRITREMERNELNR

9 RS o
Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the UWTERZE—tERZF—F
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative TZA=+—HBHeRmITEGHED
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2017 and 2016: EANAEBREMEE LS
ER e E
Sensitivity of
Valuation Significant fair value
technique unobservable input Range to the input
BEXTAHEE E=HAFEE
BREPPS W E = & = NS RE

Finance lease Discounted cash Discount rate

receivables flow method

KM EHENRE BRASREE UBRX

2017: 7% to 17.97%

50% (2016: 509%) increase
(2016: 7% to (decrease) in discount rate
14.21%) would result in decrease
(increase) in fair value by
HK$3,875,000
(HK$4,303,000) (2016:
HK$21,825,000
(HK$24,506,000))
T—+F 70 BEIREIE M ORL 2) 5000
£17.97% ZE—75F 1 500)
(ZE—RF: NEEESRD M)
7% 2% 14.21% ) 78 #3,875,0007T
(7% %4,303,0007T)
AN
78 #21,825,0007T
(7% #24,506,0007T ) )




46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 December 2017:

46. RFEEREMIAZR
FEEFH(E

31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

NFEESER

TRINRAEESBMTAEZ RFE

B EER:

URFEEGTEHEE -

R-ZEFE—+FF+—_HA=4+—H:

Fair value measurement using

AT EEHREA

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

BX

EEEWE EATBRE FTAHER
B ] E AWRAE WEE e

(&% —) (&8 =) (&8 =)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T

Listed equity investments BREAHEEZ
included in available-for-sale 3% & £ T # 2%

investments ®E 98,440 - - 98,440

As at 31 December 2016:

RZE—ANF+ZH=+—H "

Fair value measurement using

AF(EEHEER
Significant Significant
Quoted prices observable  unobservable
in active inputs inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ESUN
EEETE BEAABRE TAHEZ
B R E B =0 B = Bt
(F&—) (FH/=) (BEH&R=)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Listed equity investments BEATHEEZ
included in available-for-sale % & Ky b T # 25
investments ®E 172,455 - - 172,455

20174 3R
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46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (Continued)

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2017 and 2016.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurement
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for financial assets (2016: Nil).

Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
As at 31 December 2017

46.

AFEERESMIAZA
TEEER(A)
AEEBEEZR(E)
URAFEETENEE @ (1)
RZZE—+tFRZZF—X"F+=H
=+—H AEEVEEFUATF
BEAE0NAEE-

RAFEER SRHEENNSHR—
REF - sEBESBRA T EER
E MRS/ NTEEARE S
(ZE—RF &) -

URAFEEHEEFNEE :
R-ZEFE—+FF+—_A=+—H:

Fair value measurement using

AT EEHBHEA

Quoted prices

Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EEEWSE EATEE EAFTTH
B | E ANEE ZIWAEE e
(E8&—) (E8&/=) (B8 =)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Accounts receivable JE U BR 2K - 26,229 - 26,229
Finance lease receivables & Uy @k & 72 & 1A - - 117,894 117,894
- 26,229 117,894 144,123




46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: (Continued)

As at 31 December 2016:

31 December 2017 —_FE—tHF+-HA=+—H

46. RFEEREMIAZR

FEES& @)
ATV EES R (E)

HURFEERHENEE A (&)
RZE—NFF+-_HA=4+—H:

Fair value measurement using

AT EENEER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EEEME BERABE ZATAH
0 R (E INEER RIWAEE mat
(E&—) (E&o) (E&=)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Accounts receivable JE U5 B 3R = 132,939 = 132,939
Finance lease receivables FE U b & AR & SRR - - 336,013 336,013
- 132,939 336,013 468,952

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2017:

URFEERFHEE -

RZE—+FF+-_HA=4+—H:

Fair value measurement using

AT EEHREA

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

EEBMSE EATEE EAFTH
H R E INEE Z=INWAER e

(&% —) (& =) (& =)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T

Interest-bearing bank and M B8R 1T &

other borrowings HiBE R - 668,153 - 668,153

20174 3R
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46.

47.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (Continued)
As at 31 December 2016:

46.

AFEEERERMIAZA
FEESR(E)
NTPEESER(E)
URFEEKENEE (&
RZE—ANF+ZH=+—H :

Fair value measurement using

AT (E{E A E
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EEBMS FAUHBE EATAE
7 (B AMAEE ZHIWAEER wEr
/) EH=) EH=)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Interest-bearing bank and M B ER1T & E Ath
other borrowings BE® - 578,048 = 578,048
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 47. MK EBREEEERBE

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank borrowings and cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
capital expenditure and operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as accounts and bills receivables
and accounts and bills payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, market risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

AEEZTESRTABENEIR
TERERERREEFEY - %F
ERTANTIZAZRRA/AER L
BARAXREEREES - AKHE
BEEBAMERMEERAE  f
MEEBRTERES 2 BIERR
K W R B DA R A BR R I B R
% e

AEESRTAMELZ T ZRAR
AMEE R TSR R NS E
2 EERRERABERR EF
ERMMBREESBEARZEK
B BRBRERBAMMT
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 47. BBEABEEBERBE
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#&)
Interest rate risk ) 2= [ fa
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates AN &8 B P T B 2 T 3 ) 2R 4 B 3 fx
relates primarily to the Group's borrowings with floating interest FEEATEREBNEFEZE
rates. KA -
At 31 December 2017, the Group's interest-bearing borrowings of RZE—tF+=ZH=+—H =K
HK$4,912,858,000 (2016: HK$5,959,103,000) bore interest at floating & B 2 I BB A #4,912,858,000
rates. The Group believes that the exposure to the risk of changes in JL(Z = — /X F : 7 #5,959,103,000 &
market interest rates is minimal. T DEEBAERGE - NEEE ké
%EE%ZFE%?FIJT“@JH B & 8
o E
S
=
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the Fi&i‘zﬁﬁk Tﬁf%ﬂ_—\/_\ﬁj% g
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, Rl % 2 8 (i 2 At B BURF5 T2 ) ¥ o
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before 7N 5% B R B3 AT O ) G 387 B A %
tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings). ERZRB)NGRE - =
B
Increase/(decrease)
Increase/(decrease) in profit before tax
in basis points for the year
REEBRBLA
BEHEH i F 18 pn,
(P& 1K) (R 2)
HK$'000
BT T
31 December 2017 —T—+HF+_-_HA=1+—H
HK$ borrowings BB IR 100 (49,129)
HK$ borrowings BB IR (100) 49,129
31 December 2016 —E-RF+=ZA=+—H
HK$ borrowings 75 B R 100 (59,591)

HK$ borrowings B EEE R (100) 59,591
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Market risk
The Group trades in financial instruments including derivatives.

Market risk represents the risk that the fair values or future cash
flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in
market variables, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates.

Foreign currency risk

The Group's foreign currency exposures mainly arise from the
balances of current accounts and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings in currencies other than the units' functional currencies
as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.
minimise the impact of foreign exchange exposure, the Group has

In order to

entered into forward currency contracts with creditworthy banks to
manage its exchange rate exposure.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant of the Group's
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities).

47.

Increase/(decrease)

B i E b B2 H
(#8)

™ % & b
AEBEESmITA
/E\_o

EREE

BREITAET

5 2 15 R A ™ 35 8 BN 7 R K
SNEEBMER SR TAZRAFE
BIARKRRESRKDAELEZRA

G o
AA

A S R B
REBRAEZIINERBREZRR
BIEEMNABMNINEEREIINEE
ATEZAEREE R ERITREA
BN —_E—+tF+-_A=+—8H
M—E—RE+_A=+—HZ%
HeARERENERBRZFZE
AEBBHEA (3B 2 RITRI L — L
iR HIE A 4 B TR R R [ o

TRBTR SRR R ET

ffffff R T - A B B AT R
(MR HERERAEOAFEE
‘‘‘‘‘‘‘ %ﬂﬂAE%EKWAE@E

Increase/(decrease)
in profit before tax

in RMB rate for the year
AREERE XEERBANR
FOBRAK) R, G 2)
% HK$'000
Elasd BT T
31 December 2017 —E—+tH£+=-HA=+—H
If RMB weakens against US$ EARBHEETER (1) (8,992)
If RMB strengthens against US$ & A R ¥ 8 #H 2T B 1 8,992
31 December 2016 —F- RE+ZA=+—8
If RMB weakens against US$ B ARBHEEETER (1) (13,386)
If RMB strengthens against US$ & A R ¥ 48 4 3 o B2 5 1 13,386




47.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and
the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances, available-for-
sale financial investments and other receivables, arises from default
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Over 90% of the
Group's customers and operations are located in Mainland China.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by industry sector and
customer.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from accounts and bills receivables are disclosed in
note 27 to the financial statements.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 47. MK EREBEBEERBE
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Liquidity risk T ED 4 [ B
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring AEBRAERELEERBE S
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its ETHEEESEMRORER &L
financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., accounts and bills BEEREPReRMITRAHESHEE
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. (ZZDFEH&E'E KR W ERR) 2 B EH
ARKELEXHE 2 ARELERS
ME o
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of AEB 2z BERERERM SR
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank B A R E A A EUAF Zﬁﬁ%)@ﬂj
borrowings and other available sources of finances. In addition, HRECTEEEHEEFE 2 -
banking facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes. BN - REEERGIRITREE M
B2 R e
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities of the IATEHIARE AR EBIFEL
continuing operations as at the end of the reporting period, based EEB s eRAEINHB (BER
on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows: RIAVMEAR BRI RIAET &) -
2017
—E-t%
Less 3 to less
On than 3 than 12
demand months months 1 to 5 years 5 years Total
=z
B =ZEANUT +=@AR -2 #HBILF At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETrn BYETx B%Tn BTz E¥Tn
Interest-bearing bank and fit S 3R1T R E AL E R
other borrowings - 1,584,157 3956240  1,895202  1,176311 8,611,910
Accounts and bills payables ERRARENRE 1,150,555 1,761,811 305,181 - - 3217,547
Financial liabilities included in other /&1 & 7 K fth & (4 5038 &
payables and accruals BREATZEBAR 397,862 532,347 380,753 - - 1,310,962
1,548,417 3878315 4,642,174 1895202  1,176311 13,140,419
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 47. MERABEEBERBE
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (%)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B L B (4E)
2016
—E-RF
Less than 3 to less than
On demand 3 months 12 months 1 to 5 years 5 years Total
=%
08 Z@AUT t-EAR —ZRF BELEAE @t o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 i
[T — S — T — o — T — [T — ™~
BETT BETT BTt A¥TT BTt BETx =
o~
. =
Interest-bearing bank and other MERTREMER ‘(4
borrowings - 1320804 4158476 1988228 914234 8381742 Ei
Accounts and bills payables ERNETRENZR 1,983,970 134,753 5,624 - - 2124347 £
Financial liabilities included in other BEREMERNTER §
payables and accruals HREAGZEMEE 687877 171,623 450,130 - - 1309630 =
=
2671847 1,627,180 4614230 1988228 914234 11815719

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safequard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders' value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2016.

EXRER
AEBEAERZTEANERT
ERA R AR R 2(E A RAME
FZEALEUIFHEREREE
RERREE-

AEEERE A EBIARBIBLE
AR 2 B8 K B A ) R B e AR
HAE - REE R BB AENR
RRBEZBRE MBRRFEEELNK
BITHBOARFT A BE RS
AEBYEMAETHOIINERE
K-RBEZF—LFR-FT—RX
F+_A=+—BLEFER XA
AZEAEREBER BEREFY
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47.

48.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 47.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total capital plus net debt. The Group's policy is to
maintain the gearing ratio as low as possible. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, accounts and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, less cash and cash equivalents
and restricted bank balances. Capital represents equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

MEEBEEREERBE
(%)

EXEE (&)
AEBEREEABREZEEN
ZH R B EFRR ALE RN
BEFEINAE - AEEHEXK
EERENRBEERBLRER
FEEKE - BEFBEENMBRT
REMER BNERRXLENE
B Hth IR RTERE ARE
CRBACEEYRXBREIRITHE
e BRARNE R AIRREHE
meoRBMEHRRZEERABEMN
™

Group

RE
2017 2016

—E—tF —E—R
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M B R 17 & E fib B 73X 7,880,930 7,664,888
Accounts and bills payables JE 1 BR 3 % P S 2 4R 3,217,547 2,124,347
Other payables and accruals HibfER ZE N TERRE A 3,560,919 3,072,125
Less: Cash and cash equivalents IR RIREEEY (3.784,296) (2,698,158)
Restricted bank balances 2 PR Il 88 17 45 £ (107,989) (58,910)
Net debt BEFE 10,767,111 10,104,292
Equity attributable to equity holders B ARIRREEGER

of the parent 9,109,785 7,168,587
Total capital 48 & AN 9,109,785 7,168,587
Total capital and net debt REXINEEFE 19,876,896 17,272,879
Gearing ratio BEAGBX 549% 58%

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

48.

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with

the current year's presentation.

b & < 88

ETHBERFETFTUESH UM

BAREEZE®R -
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 49. N1 B B AR R &
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RS HAREN AR R R B B &
Company as the end of the reporting period is as follows: ZER
2017 2016
—FE—+tF —F—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
[
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE .
Property, plant and equipment M WE REE 285 110 S
Investments in subsidiaries RH B AR ZEE 1,939,081 1,281,593 -
&
S N o
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 1,939,366 1,281,703 T
=
P
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE e
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TE A5 FRIB  #2 & K H 4th f& Uk @
A 29,155 29,427 =
Due from subsidiaries JE W B B8 R B) 3k IE 4,209,951 3,649,920
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 54,984 203,183
Total current assets BRENE E 4,294,090 3,882,530
CURRENT LIABILITIES B EfE
Other payables and accruals HMEMAZRIELRERER 16,608 26,196
Due to subsidiaries JE 151 Bf /BB & & 5RIE 518,550 1,256,124
Interest-bearing bank borrowings By B R 1T E 3 97,525 217,000
Total current liabilities wRE A E 632,683 1,499,320
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 3,661,407 2,383,210
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERTDEE
LIABILITIES 5,600,773 3,664,913
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FknBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B B ER1TE - 193,750
Total non-current liabilities WIERBEE - 193,750
Net assets BEFE 5,600,773 3,471,163
EQUITY P =
Issued capital B ETRA 167,726 123,466
Reserves (note) & (i) 5,433,047 3,347,697

BX

otal equity o AR R .600, 471,
Total equi e = 4B R 5,600,773 3,471,163




312

Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 5 K

31 December 2017 — =

At

—+&+=A=+—H

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note:

A summary of the Company's reserve is as follows:

49.

Wit

ARRBZ FEHEBFLT

Employee

KR 7 BB AR R &R (BR)

Share share-based
premium Contributed Employee compensation Retained
account surplus  share trust reserve profits Total
LU 13 X 4+
B’ 17 EERE EEZ
HER AR E® MeREE KREEA #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BETT BETT BETIT BETFrT BETT
At 1 January 2016 RZZT—R"E—HF—H 2080480 623,689 (302,457) 30,305 2,455,038 4,887,055
Special dividend Rl AR B = = = - (3515317)  (3515317)
Profit for the year and total NEFZ i M R AN FE
comprehensive income for the 2 H W 258
year - - - - 1,223,764 1,223,764
Issue of new shares BT AR 697,786 = = = - 697,786
Exercise of share options 1715 BB AR e 16,568 = = (3.998) - 12,570
Share-based payment expenses for %% 7737 58 AR (0 2 BA B 19
shares issued at discount ZHEA 43,658 - - - - 43,658
Share issue expenses BTG B R (1,819) - - - - (1,819)
At 31 December 2016 and RZT—RF+=A
1 January 2017 =+t—HBK
:%—tf‘{—ﬂ —H 2,836,673 623,689 (302,457) 26,307 163,485 3,347,697
Loss for the year and total REEEBEBERERFESR
comprehensive loss for the year T &5 18 458 - - - - (59,715) (59,715)
Issue of new shares BT SRR 526,882 - - - - 526,882
Rights issue AR 1,308,264 - - - - 1,308,264
Share issue expenses BITRNHER (6.724) - - - - (6.724)
Share-based compensation AR 214 2 B & - - - 318,067 - 318,067
Vesting of shares under the ik 3 PR &l AR 1D 22 @ 5T &=
restricted share awards scheme ) &5 8 A% 19 - - 282,310 (282,310) - -
Contribution to employee share EEREESHK
trusts - - (1.424) - - (1.424)
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+t4F
+ — ﬂ E+7 H 4,665,095 623,689 (21,571) 62,064 103,770 5,433,047




49.

50.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a
corporate reorganisation in preparation for the listing of the
Company's shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, over
the nominal value of the Company's shares issued in exchange
therefor. Under the Companies Act of Bermuda (as amended) and
the Bye-Laws of the Company, the contributed surplus can be
distributed to the shareholders, provided that the Company will be
able to pay its liabilities as they fall due, and subsequent to the
distribution, the aggregate amount of its total liabilities as well as
the issued share capital and premium is less than the realisable
value of its assets.

The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair
value of options or RSUs granted under the share-based incentive
schemes which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for employee benefits in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options/RSUs are exercised/
transferred, or be transferred to retained profits should the related
options/RSUs expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 28 March 2018.

49,

50.
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Particulars of Properties

E1

Investment properties as at 31 December 2017: RZEBE—+tFEF+_A=+—H2ZEKEY
-
Attributable interest
Location Usage Tenure of the Group
1t B A& 5 AN £2 B FE 45 fE
Digital China Xi‘an Science and Office building Medium term lease 100%

Technology Park,

No. 20 Zhangba 4th Street,
Xi'an Gaoxin Technology
Development District,
Xi'an, Shaanxi Province,

The PRC

PR FEE PAKE fHA AR 49 100%
AemEEiMEXRER

ST\ P B 2055

MBI AL RE

Digital China Wuhan Science and Office building Medium term lease 100%
Technology Park,

North of Da Shu Road East,

East of Guang Gu Road,

Wuhan Donghu Technology

Development District,

Wuhan, Hubei Province,

The PRC

PRI A NN - B %Y 100%
B E T B8 ¥+ i 7 3 =

KAREBUAR

R &F R AL

AN S8 BUE B B

Digital China Nanjing Science and Office building Medium term lease 100%
Technology Innovation Park,

Qilin Street,

Jiangning District,

Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,

The PRC

REI#E NN hEATE A 100%
EARTIIER

BB B

)N 285 B B E
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Location Usage

ih 24 A&

Tenure

F 1

Particulars of Properties

EE A

Attributable interest

of the Group
AEEEMLES

Digital China Chongging Science and Office building
Technology Park,

No. 24 and 26, Science and

Technology Innovation Park,

Hong Hu Road West,

Yubei District,

Chongging Province,

The PRC

hEEEMRL R NN
5 78 3R 24 2 2657 Bt B ¥7 B

18 B B B B E

Digital China Kunshan Logistics Park,
No. 1 Shuang He Road,
Dian Shan Hu Town,

Logistics and storage

Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province,
The PRC

FETIEHSE

B2 L T R 1L A 8B

€ 0 3K 157
BN E LY RE

Ym R T

Digital China Shenyang Logistics Park, Logistics and storage
No. 2 Cangchudongyi Street,

Hunnan District,

Shenyang, Liaoning Province,

The PRC

hEEES

&S TR R A R R — 125K
BNEES ORG) EFEBEEEM

Ym KR T

Digital China Wuhan Logistic Park,
No. 61 Gaoxin 4th Street Road,
Donghu Technology Development District,

Logistics and storage

Wuhan, Hubei Province,

The PRC

AL A

% T BROH BT R T 5 =

= T P K 6155

BMNEBREE FREBEXEEN

Ym KR

Medium term lease

FEIE A

Medium term lease

FEIE A

Medium term lease

FEIE A

Medium term lease

FEIE A

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

20174 3
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Particulars of Properties

) % 3 1

Location

b

Usage
Az

Tenure

F 31

Attributable interest

of the Group
AEEEMGES

Digital China Jinan Logistics Park,
No. 1459-2 Keyuan Road,

Sun Town,

High-tech Industrial Development Zone,
Jinan, Shandong Province,

The PRC

REILERSE

B FE T = AT B A B [

AR BEEXE
TR B 1459-25%
BMNEBERSE FEEEXE

Digital China Technology Plaza,
No. 9 Shangdi Jiu Street,
Haidian District,

Beijing,

The PRC

LR
R

B ES

Beijing Digital China Building,
4-9(F. and 18/F,

No. 16 Suzhou Street,
Haidian District,

Beijing,

The PRC

LR

R & &R N A1 65%

3t R M B K E
4-9fZ K188

Logistics and storage

Ym KR e

Office building

!
i

Office building

!
i

Medium term lease

FEAE A

Medium term lease

FEAE A

Medium term lease

FEAE A

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%



Properties under development as at 31 December 2017:

The Group's

Property interest
REH
LJES & {5 #E &5
Digital China Nanjing Science 100%
and Technology Innovation
Park
N B S R B E 100%

Location

ith Bh

Digital China Qilin Street,

Science and Technology
Park, Jiangning District,

Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,

The PRC

hEDI#E
MRmIER

B B 1 8 1 O BB Y
153

Bl E

Completed properties held for sale as at 31 December 2017:

Particulars of Properties
Al Ay
=

W) % 5

RZE—+tF+_A=+—HZEEYD

Eg
Total GFA
attributable
to the Group's Expected
interest date of
('000 s.q.m.) Usage completion
BERAEEN
BERME BAHxET
(FRHK) AR iy
137 Office building 2021
137 PRAKEE 2021

RIE—tEtF+ - A=+—HZFHEH

ERENRIYE

Total GFA
attributable to the

The Group's Group's interest

Property interest Location (‘000 s.q.m.)

BERAKEEN

rEE EEMmME

LIES iR A (FF% 75 K)

Digital China Nanjing Science 100% Digital China Qilin Street Science and 30
and Technology Innovation Technology Park, Jiangning District,
Park Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, The PRC

14N 25 B R B E 1000 HEUI#SE 30

MRmIIE R

JE BBt 7 8 1 O BORS BH B Y 3

Usage

3 es

Office building

/NN

20174 3
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Five Year Financial Summary
T EPBEREE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling AEBEBEFREYRFEERHEEBE A
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from KEIZIMEER REEYEHE(NE
the published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as B)2%%& - EBE BERIFERERH

appropriate, is set out below. C NN
w
RESULTS XE&
Year ended
31 December Year ended Year ended Year ended  Nine months ended
2017 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
“E—tF —E-RE “Z-1fF —E-NF —T-=F
+=A=+-8 +=ZA=t-B +=A=t-A +=HA=+-BH +=A=+-H
LEE EFE F5E EEE ENEA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT BETT BETT BETT
REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS % & &2 & £ Ik A 13,246,571 12,251,359 10,630,672 12,156,231 8,355,200
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRCEEB 2 RBAER/
FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (H1]) (47,817) 137,713 670,879 599,985 (794,994)
Income tax expense MEHER (143,584) (148,743) (207,371) (89,904) (57,167)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD ~ HREE&EB s REE MEEFR/

FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (B#8) (191,401) (11,030) 463,508 510,081 (852,161)
Profit for the year/period from the FHEREEB I AEE/ HAEF
discontinued operation - 559,623 462,207 392,169 389,517
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD REE/HEER/(B8) (191,401) 548,593 925,715 902,250 (462,644)
Attributable to: SBR:
Equity holders of the parent BARRRER (413,006) 389314 661,676 700953 84,103
Non-controlling interests FERER 221,605 159,279 264,039 201,297 (546,747)
(191.401) 548,593 925,715 902,250 (462,644)
S o~ T Sz
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE -EEHFERER
INTERESTS

31 December
2017 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

—B-t% B AF ~F-8% —F-mE —F=%

+=A=t-B +=HA=+-H +=A=+t—-H +=H=+-H +=H=+—*H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETRT BETFT BETT BETT BETFT

TOTAL ASSETS BEE 27,915,561 23,716,121 37,486,363 33,707,772 30,099,973
TOTAL LIABILITIES “eE (15,120,687) (13,244,208) (26,192,046 (22,843,597) (21,053,585)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERES (3,685,089) (3,303,326) (2,421,750) (2,263,819) (1,320511)

9,109,785 7,168,587 8,872,567 8,600,356 7,725877
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Digital China Holdings Limited 2017 Annual Report

Company Information
NCIR-WE

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong law:

Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton (Hong Kong)
Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong

As to Bermuda law:
Appleby

AUDITOR
Ernst & Young

SHARE REGISTRARS

Bermuda

Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited
Canon's Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

Hong Kong

Tricor Abacus Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen's Road East
Hong Kong

PLACE OF LISTING OF SHARES AND STOCK

CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 00861

Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation
Taiwan Depository Receipts
Stock Code: 910861

WEBSITE

www.dcholdings.com.hk
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